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these settled in the valley of Owego Creek. The journey occu

pied thirty-seven days.*

In 1793, Enoch Slosson and his son Esbon, with their fami

lies, also from Stockbridge, settled at what was then and for

some time afterward known as Brown's Settlement. Esbon

came the year previous to make prepations for settlement. He

built the first frame house and kept the first inn and store in

town, in 1800. A portion of the house forms a part of the

hotel now kept by Edward B. Lincoln. Asa Bement Jr., one of

the sixty proprietors, settled in 1794.
" He was a man of sub

stantial worth of character, and contributed much, together with

the other settlers from Berkshire county, to give to the region

in which he settled, the good name and character it has ever

since
enjoyed."

The first settlers upon the west branch of Owego Creek

were Michael, Laban and Elisha Jenks, Jonas Muzzy,f Captain

*Their means of conveyance was two sleds drawn by yokes of oxen.

Their route was direct from their homes to the Hudson at Coxsackie,
thence through Durham, across the Catskills, through the old towns of

Harpersfield and Franklin to the Susquehanna, at the mouth of the Ou-

le-out, and down the Susquehanna to Oquaga. Thus the tedium of the

journey mostly through a wilderness and over a road not deserving the
name of highway was relieved only by the sight of log cabins at intervals

varying from ten to twenty miles. At Oquaga they crossed the river, tak

ing with them only such of the stores audmovables as were indispensable,
aud pursued their journey across the highlands which separate the Sus

quehanna and Chenango rivers, to avoid the circuitous route by the Great
Bend. They reached the Chenango about one mile above its mouth, but

for several days were unable to cross it, owing to the unsafe condition

of the ice. When the ice broke up canoes were procured and the whole

party, exceptMr. Wilson, embarked and proceeded towardsOwego, where

they, (except youug Dean and Norton, who parted company at Choconut
to make a permanent settlement there,) again joinedWilson,who remained
to care for the oxen and sleds, which he left for safe keeping, until they
could be conveniently sent for, with Gen. Stoddard, a short distance be

low, and proceeded to Owego by land. After enjoying the hospitalities of

Owego, which then numbered six families, they commenced the laborious
task of cutting a road from there, through the forest, to a point about three
miles above Newark Valley, where they arrived the first day of April.

The season being favorable, Mr. Wilson and his three companion^ made

the necessary preparations for making sugar, and notwithstanding the

limited facilities, were very successful. Their campwas established upon

the homestead of John Harmon, now deceased. Within three days after

their arrival three of the party started back for the goods left at Oquaga

and the teams and sleds left at Gen
Stoddard'

s^ The journey there and

back occupied eleven days, and on their return Mr. Wilson regaled them

with the sight of 150 pounds of sugar, as one of the fruits of his labors dur

ing their absence.
Wilson kept bachelor's hall until 1797, when he was joined byhismother

and sister, and having no one to share with him the fruits of his labor he

did not sow wheat the first year. The Messrs. Brownmade the first clear

ing for wheat, and on the new ground the yieldwas abundant ; twenty to

forty bushels per acre was an ordinary harvest. In December, 1799, Mr.

Wilsonmarried Electa Slosson, daughter of Enoch Slosson.

+ From the statement of Calvin Jenks of Berkshire we learn that Mr.

Muzzy was the first to settle on the West Branch. Mr. Muzzy was from

Spencer, Mass.
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Scott and Thos. Baird. Michael Jenks built a saw mill on the

West Branch, about 1803, and a grist mill on the same stream

in 1814. These were the first mills erected on that creek and

were located at Jenksville.

The first school was taught by DavidMaster, part of the time

in this town and part of the time in Berkshire.* The whole

wTas then included in the town of Union.

The record of the part taken by this town in the suppression
of the Rebellion is a very creditable one and will be referred to

with ju^t pride by the descendants of those who were residents

of the town during that eventful period. About 125 men were

furnished for the army, and the enlistments were made prin

cipally in the 50th Engineers and 109th and 137th regiments of

Infantry. Of this number about twenty-five were killed or died

from wounds and diseases contracted while in the service. Capt.

Oscar Williams was the first to enlist. He joined the 44th

Infantry, the celebrated "Elsworth's
Avengers,"

as private. He

was taken sick while in the field and returned home, where,
after regaining his health, he took an active part in raising a

new company, of which he was elected captain. It was desig
nated Co. G. of the 137th Infantry. He was instantly killed

at the battle of Gettysburg, July 3, 1863. The town raised

$5,000 by the issue of town bonds, and always filled its quotas

promptly. f
The First Congregational Church, of Newark Valley, was or

ganized Nov. 17, 1803,X by Rev. Seth Williston, with six mem

bers. It was the first church in Tioga county. The first house

of worship was erected in 1804 ; the present one, which will

seat 500 persons, was erected in 1868, at a cost of $13,000. The

first pastor was Rev. Jeremiah Osborn ; the present one is Rev.

Jay Clisbe. The Church property is valued at $15,000.

The Congregational Church of West Newark was organized

with twelve members, Sept. 16, 1823, by Rev. Zenas Riggs, its

first pastor. The house of worship, which will seat 250 per

sons, was erected in 1847, at a cost of $1,500, which is one-half

*Statement of D. Williams Patterson, the distinguished genealogist of

Newark Valley, who has kindly furnished us with much information
per

taining to this town and vicinity.

+This informationwas obtained by our agentwhile canvassing the town.

He exercised great care, but the correct figures may vary from
those here

given.

* French says, in his State Gazetteer, that it was organized in 1798, by

Rev. Seth Williston, a missionary from Connecticut. Our informant is

D. W. Patterson, to whom we have previously acknowledged our indebt

edness. . .

There is little doubt thatWilliston officiated in the capacity of mission

ary prior to 1803, as we are otherwise informed that he held the first re

ligious exercises in the barn of Wm. W. Ball.
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the present value of Church property. Previous to the erec

tion of the church edifice, meetings were held in the barn of

Wm. Richardson, until the erection of a commodious school

house, when that was used. The church was formed under the

Presbyterian form of government, but was changed to Congre

gational in 1842. The present number of members is twenty-

four ; the present pastor is Rev. Wm. Macnab.

The First M. E. Church of Newark Valley, was organized

Dec. 3, 1830, with eighteen members, by Rev. Moses Adams.

The house of worship was erected in 1832; and was rebuilt and

enlarged in 1857. It will seat 300 persons, and was erected

at a cost of $2,000. The present value of Church property is

$5,000. The present pastor is Earles S. Alexander; the num
ber of members,

234.*

The Reformed Methodist Church at Ketchumville, was or

ganized with nine members, in 1837, by Seneca Ketchum, at

the instigation of Ephraim M. Turner. The house of worship,

which will seat 250 persons, was erected in 1852, at a cost of

$1,000. There are fifty-five members. Rev. S. L. Dimmick is

the pastor.

The Alpha Church (M. E.) at Jenksville, was organized with
about twenty-five members, by Rev. Salisbury, the first

pastor, in 1852, in which year the house of worship, which will

seat 35Q persons, was erected at a cost of $1,500, which is the

present value of Church property. There are twenty-fivemem

bers. Rev. S. Lindsley is the pastor.f

The Newark Valley Baptist Church, at Newark Valley, was or
ganized with twenty-six members, Oct. 27, 1857, by Rev. L.

Ramsted. Meetings were held for a short time in the Congre

gational church, until about 1858 or '9, when a building was

procured and remodeled, and was used for religious services un

til the present edifice was built in 1869. It will seat 450 per

sons, and was erected at a cost of about $10,000. Rev. D. F.

Leach was the first pastor ; the present one is Rev. Russell H.

Spafford. There are 115 members. The Church property is

valued at $11,000.

NICHOLS was formed from Tioga, March 23, 1824. It

lies upon the south bank of the Susquehanna, near the center

of the south border of the County, and contains 19,850 acres,

* Two and one-half miles east, at what is known as East Settlement, is a

church, an offshoot of this, under the same pastoral care. The building is

worth about $2,000.

+ This church is a part of the Speedsville (Tompkins county) charge and

is under the same pastoral care.



NICHOLS. 191

of which, in 1865, according to the census of that year, 13,402,
were improved. It had a larger per centage of improved land

than any other town in the County. The surface is a broken

upland, which terminates in steep declivities upon the river.

The summits of the hills are broad and attain an elevation of

from 300 to 500 feet above the river. A productive gravelly
loam forms the soil of the valleys, and a moderately fertile

gravelly and clayey loam, underlaid by red sandstone, the hills.

The only important stream in the town is Wappasening
Creek, which enters the town from Pennsylvania at the village

ofWappasening and flows north into the Susquehanna. That

river forms the north and west boundaries of the town.

The population of the town in 1870 was 1.663. Of this num

ber 1,637 were natives and 26, foreigners; 1,645, white and 18,
colored.

During the year ending Sept. 30, 1871, the town contained

twelve school districts and employed the same number of

teachers. The number of children of school age was 527; the

number attending school, 421; the average attendance, 219 ;

the amount expended for school purposes, $4,477; and the

value of school houses and sites, $6,320.

,

Nichols,* (p. v.) situated near the center of the north border,
on the south bank of the Susquehanna, near the mouth of

Wappasening Creek, contains two churches, (Presbyterian and

the "Free Meeting
House,"

which is occupied by the Method

ists,) a fine school, five general stores, one drug store, one

hardware store, one boot and shoe store, two hotels, two wagon

shops, one blacksmith shop, one cooper shop, one shoe shop
and a grist and saw mill. It is about two miles distant from

Smithsboro station on the Erie R. R., and is nine miles below

Owego. Its population in 1870 was 281. f
* Nichols was formerly known as

"Rushville,"

which name was given it

by Dr. Gamaliel H. Barstow, in honor of Dr. Rush, of Philadelphia; but
when it was ascertained that there was another village of the same name

in the State, (Yates county) its name was changed to that it now bears in

honor of Col. Nichols, the patentee of Nichols Patent. In return for the

compliment Col. Nichols directed his agent, Judge Emanuel Coryell, to
give $200 toward the erection of some public building, and this sum was

applied to the erection of the
"
Free Meetiug

House,"
the one now occu

pied by the Methodists and which was the first church built in the village.

A meetiug was held Feb. 20, 1829, at the house of Peter Joslin, and a Free

Church was organized. The following trustees were appointed, viz. :

Emanuel Coryell, Nehemiah Piatt, Gamaliel H. Barstow, Peter Joslin,
Jonathan Hunt, Wright Dunham, Daniel Furgeson, John Petts, John

Cassel, Sylvester Knapp, Ezra Canfield, Edwin Ripley, Cyrus Field, Justus
Brown and James Thurston. The church was built in 1829-30, byHezekiah

Dunham, contractor.

+ Of the inhabitants of Nichols in 1870, 275 were natives and 6, foreign

ers ; 280, white and 1, colored.
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Hoopers Valley, (p. v.) named in honor of Robert Lettice

Hooper, patentee of Hooper's Patent, is situated on the south

bank of the Susquehanna, opposite Smithsboro, on the Erie R.

R., with which it is connected by a bridge crossing the Susque

hanna. It contains one wagon shop, two blacksmith shops and

about twenty houses.

East Nichols (p. o.) is located in the south-east corner, six

miles south of Owego.

Wappasening is a hamlet situated on Wappasening Creek,
near the State line, about one and one-half miles above Nichols

village, and contains a blacksmith shop, a saw mill, a grist mill,

a turning shop, twenty houses and about seventy-five inhab

itants.

Caneield Corners is situated in the north-east part, on the

east bank of the Susquehanna.

The first settlement in the town was made by John and

Frederick Evelin, (the descendants of the family now spell the

name Eveland,) A Vangorder and two sons (Leonard and Ben

jamin) and a man named Sullivan, all of whom lived near Can-

field Corners.* The families of Ebenezer Ellis, Pelatiah Pierce

and Stephen Mills settled in the town at a very early day, as

early as 1787, and probably prior to that time, as Daniel Pierce
and Daniel Mills, sons of Pelatiah Pierce and Stephen Mills,
were born in the town, the former in 1787 and the latter in

1788. Alex. Ellis, of Barton, son of Ebenezer Ellis, was born
in Barton, in October, 1788, to which town Messrs. Ellis and

Mills soon removed. Geo. Walker purchased the premises of

Mr. Ellis and occupied them. James Cole settled here about

the same time as those previously mentioned, on the farm

where Emanuel Coryell subsequently resided, and when Judge

Coryell and Robert Lettice Hooper visited the valley on their

exploring and surveying tour, they were entertained at his

house. The settlers in the town thus far claimed but a

possessory interest in the land they occupied, having, as yet,

received no title from the patentees. Judge Emanuel Coryell

came, with his family, from Coryell's Ferry, on the Delaware,
N. J., in 1791.f Families by the name of Jones, (Isaiah) Bass

* Statement of JohnW. Lanning, (son of DanielLanning, one of the first
permanent settlers,) who was born in this town and is now nearly eighty
years of age.

French says Ebenezer Ellis, Pelatiah Pierce, Stephen Mills and James

Cole made the first settlement in 1787.

+ Judge Coryell had been in the valley of the Susquehanna, at this and
other points above, two or three years previous, in company with Robert

Lettice Hooper, exploring and surveying lands, in which the latter had an
interest as patentee. He became the agent of Mr. Hooper and of those
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and Emmons lived at an early day upon the Moughantowano
Flats, and the latter is credited with having raised the first crop
of wheat in the town. Caleb Wright occupied the farm upon

which the village of, Nichols now stands at an early day, and
Stephen Dodd resided next below him. Major Jonathan Piatt
and his father, also named Jonathan, came with their families
from Bedford, Westchester county, in 1793, and settled upon

what was known for many years as their homestead. The elder
Mr. Piatt died two or three years afterwards from the effects of

an injury received while preparing a field for wheat. His son,
the Major, held among other offices of trust, that of sheriff, for
several years. At his house the first town meeting was held.
Col. Richard Sackett was a contemporary pioneer with Major
Piatt. Miles Forman, a Revolutionary soldier and pensioner,
well known at an early day as sheriff Forman, also came from
Westchester county in 1794-5. Major John Smyth, a Revo

lutionary soldier, came from Monroe county, Penn., in 1794.
He was accompanied by his sons General John, Gilbert and
Nathan Smyth. Gilbert became a resident of Barton. John,
after his marriage with the daughter of Benjamin Goodwin, of
Tompkins county, in 1797, became a resident of Ithaca, and

who subsequently acquired the title to the patents originally vested in
that gentleman.

He served in the Commissary Department during the Revolutionary
war, and was granted a pension of $240 per annum, under the act of 1832.
His journey, with his family, to Nichols was made by crossing-

directly
from the Delaware to Wilkesbarre, and thence ascending the river in a

Durham boat, by the aid of men employed at the latter place. The jour
ney upon the river occupied two weeks.

Owing to the reasonable prices at which the lands for which he was

agent were held, and the liberal inducements offered those who were seek
ing homes in the west, this section of the county was more rapidly settled
than others, and even than the Boston Ten Townships, where the lands
were held at prices which were deemed unwarranted.

Mr. Coryell served, for many years, with rare ability and dignity, as
First Judge of the Court of Common Pleas of the widely-extended countv
of Tioga ; and was, for several years, elected Member of Assembly from
this county, in which position he wielded an extensive influence, and bv
his affability, acquired a strong personal popularity. He was the first Su
pervisor of the town. Says C. P. Avery, in The Saint Nicholas:
"

Hie house was the center of good cheer for the vicinity in which he lived, and, bred
among gentlemen of the old school, who were models of hospitalityhe knew well how
to chirr the coming and briirhten the heart ot the parting guest.

From early youth he Buffered from a physical Infirmity, which interfered much with
hi? walking, and caused him great inconvenience, yet his natural flow of good spirits

and his usefulness were not materially affected by it; a constitutional cheerful

ness saved him from anything like gloomy and morose feelings. With great kindness of
heart and a hand open to charity, he was at Ibe same time tenacious of his pergonal

honor and prompt to resent an intentional insult or injury, by whomsoever and under
whatsoever circumstances it might be offered.
l * * * Hip political views, like all his other principles of action were openly and

freely avowed, and, as an ardent admirer of General Hamilton and of the school of policv
and doctrines of which he was recognized at the time as the exponent, Mr. Corvuli,
with characteristic frankness, was not lukewarm in identifying himself the

politicians and statesmen of that
party."

Mr. Coryell died in Janury, 1835, at the age of 82.
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owned a tract of land upon which a portion of that village

stands. Nathan, who was noted for his practical benevolence,
died on the farm on which he resided for sixty-three years pre

vious to that event, May 15, 1857. The following statement

made by him previous to his death, describing the manner in

which the early settlers lived, was furnished us by his nephew,
Hon. Washington Smith. He says :

"

Many of the settlers brought plenty of clothing with them. As that

was used up domestic manufacture was the popular doctrine of the Valley
wool, flax and deer skins being the rata material for the manufacture of

clothes for male and female.
' '

Buckskin was much worn ; some men dressed in buckskin from head

to foot. As for food, there was an abundance of deer, and the river

afforded shad and other fish plentifully; corn and wheat were soon raised

in sufficient quantities to supply the inhabitants. But the difficulty of get

ting the grain to a mill was such that .much of it was prepared for food by
pounding it in Indian mortars. Wheat was sometimes boiled and eatwith

milk. Soon there were two or three tub mills built, one at Shepard's

and one at Owego. Caleb Wright built the first mill in what is now the

town of Isiehols. The Indian mortars were generally constructed in the

top of hardwood stumps, and the grain cracked by means of a stone pestle
made for the purpose and attached to a bent sapling as a

sweep."

Lewis Brown, from Westchester county, Benjamin
Louns-

bury, Ziba Evans, Jonathan Hunt, Richard Sarles and Asahel

Prichard, a soldier of the Revolution, were early settlers. Messrs.

Prichard and Sarles afterward removed to Owego, where they
died at advanced ages. Daniel Shoemaker, a Revolutionary
hero, and native of Ulster county, came here from Monroe

county, Penn., in 1801 or '2 and settled upon the Maughan-

towano plain, on land purchased by him of Robert L. Hooper,
in 1792, and which is now occupied by H. W- Hooper, his
grandson. Jonathan Pettis, Joseph and John Annibal, Joseph

Morey and David Briggs, of Briggs settlement, Wm. Thatcher,
Daniel Laning and John Russell were early settlers. The latter

served in the war of the Revolution, and moved from Litch

field, Conn., in 1801, to Orwell, Bradford Co., Penn., relying
upon the title of the State from which he emigrated, and, find

ing it invalidated, removed to this town the year following,
and subsequently to Windham, Renn. Isaac Sharp, an early
settler in this town, served with distinguished bravery during
the Revolution. An incident which appears in The Saint Nich

olas, for March, 1854, will serve to illustrate the devotion with

which he entered into that struggle.

"
Upon one occasion, at an early period of the war, the Colonel of his

regiment desired a detachment of picked men for an expedition then

planned and which required men of nerve and prowess. Among other

volunteers for the enterprise, Sharp stepped forward, although destitute

of shoes. The officer in immediate command drew the attention of the
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superior officer to the condition of his feet, remarking that they required
men with shoes. Sharp promptly convinced them, in his own ready way,
that his feet, although unprotected, were as sound as his courage."

Judge Gamaliel H. Barstow emigrated to this town from

Sharon, Conn., in 1812. "No gentleman within the limits of

the
County,"

says C. P. Avery, "has shared more largely in
public confidence, and none whose political influence at home
and throughout the State, has been more marked and dis
tinguished."

In 1815 he was elected Member of Assembly and
filled the position three successive years. In 1 818 hewas elected

State Senator from the Western District, which then comprised

nearly half the territory of the State, and in the same year was

appointed First Judge of the Court of Common Pleas of his

county. In 1823 he wa3 again elected to the Assembly. He

was Treasurer of the State of New York in 1825. In*1826 he

was elected to the Assembly, and in 1830 he was elected to Con

gress, serving one term. In 1838 he was made Treasurer. He

filled other minor offices with marked ability; and his whole

political career is pronounced singularly free from corruption.

The first frame house erected in the village of Nichols was built

by him. He died at Nichols, in April, 1865, aged eighty years.

The first birth in the town was that of Daniel Pierce in 1787.

C. P. Avery, in speaking of the early occupancy of the town

by Lidians, says :

"For many years after this town.was first settled, many Indian families
lived upon the plain, near themouth of the Wappasening. That portion

of this town and the river flats generally, have furnished many articles of

Indian handicraft and use, which have been brought to light by excava
tions and the plough, as well as by the washings of the streams. The

Maughantowano plain was a favorite corn-ground of the natives, and

while it continues still unimpaired in its aboriginal distinction, it is of no
little fertility and historic value, in the vestiges of our Indian predecessors,
which are thrown upon its surface from time to time, and have already en

riched many cabinets. From events of stirring interest, which have there
occurred,* * * it is emphatically 'storied

ground.'"

The first grist and saw mill built in the County was erected

in this town, by Caleb Wright ; and the first steam saw mill in

the County was also built in this town, by George Kirby, in
1833 or '4.

Asbury M. E. Church, located on the river road in the north

west part of the town, was organized in 1817, with four mem
bers,*

by Rev. John Griffin, its first pastor. The church edi

fice, which will seat 250 persons, was erected in 1822, at a cost

of $2,000, or one-half its present value. It was the first church

*The four original members were Elijah Shoemaker and Phebe, his

wife, and Daniel McDowell Shoemaker and Anna, his wife.
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built between Owego and Elmira. Rev. George Comfort is the

present pastor. The number of members is thirty-eight.

The M. E. Church, located at Nichols village, was organized

in 1829. The Society worships in the "Free Meeting
House,"

(of which previous mention has been made,) which was re

paired and rededicated by it in 1872. The original cost of the

building was $2,000. It will seat 400 persons. Although re

paired and occupied by the Methodists it is still a free (?)
church "open to all orthodox

denominations."

The present

number of members is 149 ; the present pastor, Rev. George

Comfort. The Church property is valued at $8,000.

The First Presbyterian Church of Nichols was organized with

thirteen members, in 1859, and their house of worship, which

will seat300 persons was erected in 1865, at a cost of $3,000.

Rev. G. M. Life was the first pastor; Rev. A. McMaster is the

present one. There are eighty-five members. The Church

property is valued at $10,000.

OWEGO was organized Feb. 16,1791. Spencer was erected

from it Feb. 28, 1806. It is the south-east corner town in the

County. It is the largest town in the County, and covers an

area of 53,650i acres, of which, in 1865, according to the cen

sus of that year, 34,985J, were improved. The surface consists

mostly of uplands, which are cut in two by the Susquehanna,
and broken by the valleys of small streams. Their summits

are broad and rolling, and rise from 300 to 500 feet above the

river. The river intervale presents, in some places, an un

broken flat of more than a mile in width. The declivities bor

dering on the streams are generally very steep. The soil in the

valleys is a deep, rich, gravelly loam; upon the hills it con

sists "of a less productive gravelly loam, underlaid by hardpan.
The principal streams are Susquehanna River and Owego,
Apalachin and Nanticoke creeks. The Susquehanna flows

west through the central part; Owego Creek flows south to the

Susquehanna, through a broad and beautiful valley, its two

branches uniting in the north-west part, and forms the west

boundary of the town north of its recipient; Apalachin Creek

flowTs north, through the south-east part, to the Susquehanna ;

and Nanticoke Creek, which rises in the north part, flows south

through the center, to the Susquehanna. Numerous small

streams are tributary to these.

Traces of valuable minerals have been found in the town,

but they have not been sufficiently developed to determine

whether they exi$t in sufficient quantity to render them profit-

1 i able. On the farm of Henry McCormick, about one mile south

\ of Owego village, have been found traces of gold, zinc, lead and
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silver. A company has been formed and drilling is now in

progress to determine the value of the underlying strata. One

and three-fourths miles south of the village of Apalachin is a

salt well, from which flows about forty barrels of brine per day.

The N. Y. & Erie E. R. extends through the town, along the
north bank of the Susquehanna. The Southern Central R. R.

enters the town on the north line and extends along the valley
of Owego Creek to Owego. The Cayuga Division of the D. L.

& W. R. R. enters the town at Owego.

In 1870 the town had a population of 9,442. Of this num

ber 8,622 were natives and 820, foreigner^; 9,250, white and

192, colored.

During the year ending Sept. 30, 1871, the town contained

37 school districts and employed 50 teachers. The number of

children of school age was 3,180; the number attending school,
2,285 ; the average attendance, 1,283 ; the amount expended

for school purposes, $22,267 ; and the value of school houses

and sites, $23,175.

Owego,* (p. v.) the County Seat,f is finely situated at the
confluence of Susquehanna River and Owego Creek. The

former stream flows through the southern part of the village,

and the latter forms its western boundary. It was incorporated

April 4, 1827. The population of the village in 1870 was 4,756.J
It contains seven churches, (Episcopal, (St. Paul's) Presbyterian,
Congregational, Baptist, M. E., African M. E. (Bethel) and

Catholic) six graded public schools, six hotels, two bootman-

ufactoriesJ the Bristol Iron Works,f Erie R. R. Bridge shop,

*Owego is named from the creek at whose mouth it is located, and

means, says Wilkinson,
"
swift or swift

river.'"

Further mention is made

of this creek on page 157.

On Guy Johnson's map of the Frontiers of the Northern Colonies, in

1768, it is spelled Owegy.

+A description of the County buildings will be found on page 159.

$The population included 4,174 natives and 582, foreigners ; 4,594, whites

and 162, colored.

The charter of incorporation of the Owego Academy bears date of

April 17, 1828. The trustees of the academywere, James Pumpelly, Aaron

Putnam, Joseph Castle, Anson Camp, Eleazer Dana, Charles Pumpelly,
Joel S. Paige, Latham A. Burrows, Gurdon Hewitt, Jonathan Piatt, B.

Leonard, Jno. It. Drake and Amos Martin. Aug. 1, 1829, Thomas Far

rington was elected a trustee to fill the vacancy occasioned by the resigna

tion of Joseph Castle. Aug. 18, 1869, the academy was merged in the

Union Schools of Owego, as the Academical Department of the Union

School District of Owego.

II This business is conducted by L. 1ST. Chamberlin and J. H. Clapp & Co.

The former commenced about twenty years ago, and the latter in 1868.

The business uses *37,000 capital, gives employment to forty-eight persons

and produces 23,600 pairs of boots per annumvalued at about $100,000.

IT The Bristol Iron Works (Hon. W. H. Bristol, Chas. F. Johnson Jr.,

Edwin Ellis and Geo. W. Bristol, proprietors,) were established in 1863.

1,2
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four large tanneries, three planing mills, the Southern Central

R. R. shops, (now in process of erection) three saw mills, two sash,

door and blind factories, one foundry, one steam grist mill, one

flouring mill, operated by water, two carriage
factories,*

Hay
wood & Toomb s marble factory, one silver ware manufactory,

one soap and candle factory, one piano factory, one spoke fac

tory, a half-mile trotting course, four weekly newspapers,!

(Owego Gazette, Owego Times, Tioga County Record and Ahwaga

Chief) three banks.J (two National and one private) one express
office (U. S.) and two telegraph offices, both of which belong to
theWestern UnionfTelegraph Co. The village is lighted by
gas, but has no general water supply. Its streets are generally well

shaded, paved and provided with clean and substantial walks.

It is the commercial center of a large and productive agricul

tural region. Its eligible location and railroad facilities con

stitute it one of the most important villages in the southern

tier of counties. It is an important station on the Erie and

Southern Central railroads, and the southern terminus of the

D. L. & W. R. R. Owego Creek is crossed by two bridges within
the limits of the village, and the Susquehanna, by one.||

All kinds 'of machinery and agricultural implements are manufactured,

but a specialty is made of the "Champion Grain
Drill,"

of which about

400 are made per annum. About six stationary steam engines are manu

factured in the same length of time. This company have the contract for

manufacturing "Haywood & Tomb's Marble Derrick and
Polisher,"

of

which they make from 65 to 100 per annum. A capital of $60,000 is used in

the business ; and sixty-five men are employed.

*Moore & Ross commenced the manufacture of carriages and sleighs

April 1, 1859. Hill & Barry commenced the same business, but confined

principally to light work, Aug. 26, 1863. In May, 1866, Mr. Hill sold his

interest to Scott Harris, when the firm became Harris & Barry. Jan. 1,
1868, Mr. Barry purchased Mr.

Harris'

interest, and since then has con

ducted the business alone.

The business uses a capital of 850,000, and gives employment to 38 men.

The value of annual manufactures is about $40,000.

+A history of the press appears on pages 160-2.

%The Tioga National Bank was organized in 1865. The officers are T.

C. Piatt, President; F. E. Piatt, Cashier; E. W. Stone, Teller.
Piatt &

Jones'
Bank (private,) was organized Sept. 1, 1868, as the Piatt,

Jones & Co. 'a Bank. H. R. Wells retired from the firm July 1, 1872.
The First National Bank was organized in 1864. Capital $100,000. The

officers are Lyman Truman, President ; John B. Brush, Cashier ; C. A.

Thompson, Teller.

Messrs. Bayette Bros, of Richford, have purchased a three story brick

building on Main street, in this village, and will soon remove their cigar

manufactory there. They have hitherto employed 25 men, but, when

established in their new quarters, will largely increase that number.

IIThe Owego Bridge Co. was incorporated in 1827 or '28. The first stock

was issued May 7, 1828. The first bridge in the village, the one crossing the

Susquehanna, was finished and opened to the public Jan. 1, 1828. It was

carried away by floods, March 15, 1868, and was replaced by the present

one, which was opened for use in November, 1868. The cost of the pres

ent bridge was $54,550.01. The superstructure is 920 feet long. The.road
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Glen Mary, situated on Owego Creek, was for several years

the residence of N. P. Willis. It was here that his matchless

Rural Letters were written.

Apalachin (p. v.) is situated on the left bank of the Susque

hanna, eight miles east of Owego and about one and one-half

miles south of Campville station on the opposite side of the

river. It contains two hotels, four general stores, one drug
store, two shoe shops, two grist and two saw mills, one rake

factory, two wagon shopg, two blacksmith shops, three churches,
(Presbyterian, Baptist and Wesleyan Methodist) one harness

shop and one meat market. In 1870 it had a population of

300*

Flemhstgville, (p. v.) situated in the north-west part, on

the Southern Central R. R. and near the junction of the east

and west branches of Owego Creek, is four and one-half miles

north of Owego, and contains one church, (Methodist) two

hotels, a cooper shop, a blacksmith shop, and in 1870, had a

population of 91, all of whom were natives. f The village de

rives its name from David Fleming.

Campville, (p. v.) situated on the right bank of the Susque

hanna, seven miles east of Owego, is a station on the Erie R.

R. and contains one church, (Methodist) a hotel, store, grist
mill, plaster mill, blacksmith shop, saw mill and about twenty
houses. The village was named from Asa Camp.

Oaskill Corners,;]; (p. o.) situated on Little Nanticoke

Creek, about five miles north-east of Owego, a little north of the

center of the town, contains one store, two saw mills, a cheese

factory and creamery, two blacksmith shops, a wagon shop, a

bed is 32 feet above low watermark. It consists of nine spans. The offi

cers are Wm. Pumpelly, President; F. L. Jones, Secretary and Treasurer;
and Wm. Pumpelly, Geo. J. Pumpelly, A. P. Storrs, Thomas C. Piatt and
F. L. Jones, Directors.

The following are the rates of toll :

One vehicle drawn by four animals 50 cents.
" " "

two
"

20
"

" " ' "
one animal 15

"

"
animal and rider 10

"

"
footman 3

"

Although the charter allows them to charge this fare both ways it ,is demanded only
one way.

*Of this number 295 were natives and 5, foreigners; 299, white and 1,
colored.

+The number includes 87 white, and 4 colored personB.

%Named from Joseph Gaskill, who moved into the town from Rich

mond, Cheshire county, N. H., his native place, March 20, 1789, and to

Gasjkill Corners, about 1824. He was born in 1780, and died June 19, 1866.

The factory was built by a stock company at au expense of over $5,000.

The milk from 300 to 500 cows is used.
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carpenter and turning shop (now being built) and about twenty
houses.

South Owego (p. o.) is located on the Owego & Montrose

turnpike, near the Pennsylvania line, about seven and one-half

miles south-east of Owego. The South Owego M. E. Church is

located about one mile north of the postoffice.

G-iBSON Coeners is a hamlet in the west part, about four

and three-fourths miles south of Owego, containing a school

house, a blacksmith shop and half a dozen houses.

South Apalachin is situated in the south-east part, on

Apalachin Creek. Efforts are being made to establish a post-

office
here.*

The first settlements In the town, it is believed, were made
on the site of Owego village, in 1786,f by Wm. and Robert

McMaster, Wm. Taylor, John ISTealy andWm.Wood, who came

from the east by way of Otsego Lake and the Susquehanna,
made a clearing and sowed grain on an Indian improvement,
embraced in the West Half-Township purchased a few years

previous by James McMaster and John McQuigg, the original
patentees. This purchase, says Wilkinson, was made previous
to that of the Boston company and was embraced within its

limits, but as it was conducted legally and had the advantage

of priority that company relinquished any claim they might

have been supposed to possess by reason of the provisions of their
title, which extended their patent to the west branch of Owego

Creek. In 1787 Amos Draper, an Indian agent and trader,
moved his family to the site of Owego to a house built by him
the previous year, while residing temporarily at Smithboro, to
which place he came from theWyoming country, in 1786. The

house erected by him was the first one in the town. The fol

lowing year (1788) McMaster and McQuigg, the patentees of

the West Half-Township, moved their families to the site of

Owego. They came from New England. Other early settlers

were Yates, who came from Mass. in 1791, and settled at

*D. R. Garrison's steam saw mill, located on Apalachin Creek, about
three-fourths of a mile from the Pennsylvania line, is capable of sawing
about 7,000 feet of lumber per day.

The Owego Upper Leather Tannery (Samuel Archibald, prop.,) is lo
cated at the south end of the bridge crossing the Susquehanna in the vil
lage of Owego. It contains 75 vats and 3 leaches, gives employment to ten

men, consumes annually about 1,000 cords of bark and is capable of tan

ning from 8,000 to 10,000 hides per year.

Sherwood, Cornell & Co.'s steam sawmill, located in the north-east part,
was erected in 1871. It contains one circular saw four and one-'half feet in

diameter, and is capable of cutting 30,000 feet of lumber per day.

i-Wilkinson fixes this date in 1785, and Spafford in 1787 ; but French and

StephenDexter, who was one of the oldest residents of the county, agree
upon this mean.
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the mouth of Apalacjiin Creek; Caleb and Simeon Nichols,
Isaac Harris and Abel and John Bills, all of whom settled in

1792; Hicks Horton, who settled about the same time; Henry
Billings, who came in 1798-9; Asa and Sylvester Camp, in
1800. The Nichols were from R. I., and settled near Apalachin.

Both wer,e Revolutionary soldiers. Wm. Nichols, son of Simeon,
says when they came there were but two houses at Owego.

There were two tribes of Indians living at the mouth of Owego

Creek, one on each side of the creek. The nearest grist mill

was atWilkesbarre; and when they first came they constructed

a canoe from a tree, and with it went to mill, the trip occupy

ing fourteen days. Hicks Horton was from R. I. and settled

about two miles below Campville soon after theMessrs. Nichols

came. Isaac Harris, also from R. I., located about one and one-

half miles east of Apalachin. John Bills and his nephew, Abel

Bills, came from New Lebanon, Columbia Co., and were the

first settlers at Apalachin. Henry Billings settled atApalachin,
and kept the first tavern there. Asa Camp moved here from

the town of Vestal, Broome county, about 1792, having moved

into that town from Chatham, Columbia county, in 1787. He

located first near Apalachin, on what is known as the
" Catlin

farm,"

and in 1800 he crossed the river and settled at Camp
ville, where he built the first hotel at that place, which was

kept by his son Roswell Camp, who is still residing in the town,

aged eighty-eight years. Campville was named from Asa Camp,
who kept the first post office there. Col. David Pixley
came, with his wife and. three children (David, Amos and Mary)
from Stockbridge, Mass., at an early

day*
and settled about one

mile west of Owego, in the town of Tioga, on a beautiful plateau

of 3,000 acres, which was known at an early day as
" Campbell's

Location."
In 1802 he disposed of this property to Judge Noah

and Eliakin Goodrich, and removed to Owego, where he con

tinued to reside until his death in 1807. Col. Pixley was one

of the leading proprietors of the Boston Purchase and was one

of the commissioners appointed by the Boston Company_ to
treat with the Indians. He was a man of enterprise and estim

able repute, and did much to properly mold the character of

his associates. Previous to his settlement he visited the country

on one or more tours of exploration. He was an active parti

cipant in the Revolutionary struggle and early evinced his devo

tion to the cause of liberty by accepting a commission in the

Colonial army, issued July 1, 1775, by order of the Congress of

the United Colonies, and bearing the bold and characteristic

signature of John Hancock, President. Col. Pixley
familiar-

* C. P. Avery, in Tlie Saint Nicholas, fixes the date as 1791.
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ized himself with the Indian language and.became popular with

and doubtless exercised a strong and salutary influence
over the

tribes who settled in and visited this locality.
"Mrs.

Pixley,"

says Wilkinson,
'.'
was eminently pious, and made her house a

home for strangers, and especially for the missionaries and min

isters of that early
day."

"
The following inscription was copied from a monument in the [Owego]

village grave yard.
"

'In memory of Col. David Pixley, who departed this life Aug 25,
1807, in the 67th year of his age. He was an officer of the revolution at

the siege of Quebec in 1775, under Gen. Montgomery, was the first settler
of Owego in 1790, and continued its father and friend until his

death.' ".*

The date of Col. Pixley's settlement, if reference is made to

the village of Owego, as seems quite apparent, and the assertion
that he was the first settler in either the village or town, the
latter of which, it will be remembered, at that date included

the purchase on which he located, are palpably incorrect.

Reuben Holbrook and David Barney were early settlers in

this town. The former was a Revolutionary soldier; the lat

ter built the first house upon Apalachin Creek. Capt. Elisha

Ely, from Say.brook, Conn., another Revolutionary hero, settled
at Owego in 1799. Many of his descendants still reside there.

He died in 1801. Joseph G-askill, to whom reference has pre

viously been made,f settled here in 1789. Daniel Ferguson,
who died near Flemingvilie many years since, was an early
settler in that locality. During the early progress of the Revo

lutionary war, in which, though quite a young man, he was a

soldier, he was captured on the Dt laware, by the Indians, and
detained on the site of Owego village during the winter and for

a large portion of *the year. He was adopted into an Indian

family who occupied a bark lodge near where Paige street in

tersects River street. Upon his settlement in the town he was

able to designate its precise locality, from its proximity to the

rounded Indian burial mound, upon or near the homestead

premises of the late Eleazar Dana, which retained its peculiar

shape long after the village was settled. Although he ad

mitted the considerate kindness of his captors, their mode of

life possessed little charm for him ; and while on a hunting ex

pedition on the Delaware in company with the Indian by whom
he was adopted, he escaped by an ingenious stratagem during
the night, and made his way to Port Jervis, Orange county,
Avhere his friends resided previous to his capture.

Jesse McQuigg, one of the sons of the pioneer, John

McQuigg, was accustomed to relate that the Iroquois, exclusive

*Barber's Historical Collections of New York, p. 551.

+ See page 196-E.
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of the Mohawks, who had removed to Canada, when on their

way to attend the council held at Tioga Point, shortly previous
to the defeat of Gen. St. Clair in the Miami country, in Sep
tember, 1791, to conciliate the Iroquois and dissuade them

from participating against us in the war then threatening our
exposed north-western frontier, and represented on the part of

our government by the distinguished Indian negotiator,

Thomas Pickering, and Robert Morris, son of the talented and

able financier of the Revolutionary crisis, and on the part of

the Indians, among others, by Farmer's Brother and the gifted

orator, Red Jacket, disembarked near his father's house, and
prepared and eat their breakfast upon the open plain. They
extended, so numerous were they, from the house of his father

to that of James McMaster. Several hundred natives of both

sexes attended this council from the head waters of the Susque

hanna and its tributaries. They presented an imposing display
as they approached the site of the village of Owego, in bark

canoes, arranged in compact order and moving with regularity
and uniformity. "In stature they were above the medium

size, and with their head-dresses, glittering broaches and flow

ing blankets, they presented a spectacle, not novel at that pe

riod, but after this lapse of time, invested, in its contempla

tion, with a romantic interest, like that which attaches to a

legend rather than to actual
history."

Emanuel Duel, a Revolutionary soldier, settled, with his

family, in the north part of the village, in
1790.* A family by

the name of Talheimer, from the Mohawk, settled here at an

early day, and was followed by several other families of Dutch

and Irish extraction. Judge Stephen Mack became a resident

of Owego village in 1799. As the pioneer printer in Tioga

county, f his history, as
well'

as thatof Stephen B.Leonard, who

early engaged in the same profession, is intimately connected

with that of this town. Judge Mack held for many years the

position of Justice of the Peace, and, at a later day that of First
Judge of the Court of Common Pleas of Broome County. " In

* At an early period in the settlement of Owego, when no flour could be

obtained at any point less distant than Wilkesbarre, Mr. Duel started in

his boat for that place to obtain a supply, leaving his family with but

slender means of subsistence. The unexpected prolongation of his stay

rendered their situation critical ; but at this juncture the timely assist

ance of an Indian, called by the whites, Captain Cornelius, (who entered

the house, and perceiving their situation, departed and returned in a few

hours with a supply of venison,) relieved them from want for many days.

He also shared with them his "corn
flour"

which had heen prepared in

the usual Indian mode, by the maize-pounder.
This Indian was shot down about the time of the holding of the council.

The cause assigned is jealousy of his friendship for the whites. The

name by which he was designated by his own people was Kanaukwis.

+ See pages 71 and 160.
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all his official positions," says C. P. Avery, he "brought to the

discharge of his duties unimpeached integrity of character,

and strong native powers of discrimination, improved by a good

education."

His social qualities evinced no less marked ex

cellence. Stephen B. Leonard came to Owego, when young, in

company with his father, a Revolutionary soldier, and a native

of Berkshire county, Mass., in 1806, having previously lived in
New York, his place of birth, and began at the age of fourteen

to learn the printing business, in the office of Judge Mack.

At the expiration of his term of apprenticeship he visited New

York and Albany and remained two years at the latter place to

perfect himself in his business. He returned to Owego and in

1813 purchased The American Farmer from Judge Mack, and
changed the name of the paper to The Owego Gazette, which he

continued to publish for about twenty-two consecutive years,

though during much of that time he was associated with J. B.

Shurtleff, to whom he subsequently sold the paper.* He was a

Representative in Congress from 1835 to 1837, and from 1839

to 1841. He performed the arduous duties devolving upon him
in that capacity with fidelity and ability. He still, after a life

of active usefulness, resides in Owego, having reached the ripe

old age of eighty years.

In 1791 there were six families living on the site of Owego

village, the number having doubled since 1788.

Wm. Williamson made the first settlement at Flemingvilie in

1820. He came from Scipio, Cayuga county, and has resided on
the farm on which he located till the present time. He is 73

years of age. At the time of his settlement the country in his

vicinity was a wilderness, and his nearest neighbor was three

miles distant. John Giles, who came in 1832, was the first doc
tor that lived at Apalachin. He was drowned while crossing
the, river to visit a patient, by stepping into an air-hole in the

ice.

The first white child born in the town was Electa Draper,
daughter of Amos Draper, the pioneer and Indian agent. She

became the wife of Stephen Williams Jr., and moved to Newark

Valley, where she died. She was born June 19, 1788. The first

school was taught by Kelly, in 1792 ; the first store and

hotel were kept by Wm. Bates, at Owego, on the lot where the

Ahwaga now stands; the first post office was located on the

bank of the river, above the Ahwaga House, and was kept by
Stephen Mack, who was postmaster at different times for several

years; the first grist mitl was built by Col. Pixley on Ow^go

Creek, in 1793, previous to which time and until the erection

* See page 160.
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of Fitch's mill, four miles above Binghamton, in 1790, the early
settlers in this locality were obliged to go to Wilkesbarre, Penn.,
with their grain, by means of canoes on the Susquehanna, a

journey which usually occupied about two weeks; the first

saw mill was built by Amos Stafford ; the first tannery was

started by Lemuel Brown.

Speaking of Owego in 1813, Spafford, in his Gazetteer ofNew York, says,
"The lands are held in fee, and the inhabitants manufacture their own

clothing in their own houses, from the growth of their own
farms."

For many years the postoffice at Owego was one of the four

distributing offices of the State. The growth of that village

was greatly enhanced by the salt, plaster, lumber and wheat

shipped for the Pennsylvania and Maryland markets. A very
destructive fire occurred Sept. 7, 1849, in Owego, by which sev

enty-five dwellings were consumed.

The first religious services were conducted by Rev. S. Willis

ton, the pioneer preacher in the Susquehanna Valley.

The First Free Will Baptist Church of Owego, located at South

Apalachin, was organized with fourteen members, in October,

1816, by Rev. John Gould, its first pastor. The first Church

edifice was erected in 1844, and was burned in 1859 ; the present

one, which will seat 200 persons, in 1865, at a cost of $1,500.

Rev. Hiram S. Ball is the present pastor ; the number of mem

bers is fifty-five. The Church property is valued at $3,500.*

The First Presbyterian Church, of Owego, was organized with

eleven members, July 24, 1817, by Revs. Hezekiah May, Jere

miah Osborne and William Wisner, the former being its first

pastor. The first house of worship was erected in 1820; and

the present one which will seat 700 persons, in 1854, at a cost

of $13,000. The Society numbers about 400, and is under the

pastoral care of Rev. Samuel T. Clarke. The Church property
is valued at $25,000.

The First Baptist Church, of Owego, was organizedwith thirty
members, (twelve males and eighteen females.) Aug. 2, 1831.

The first house of worship was erected in 1835 ; the present

one which will seat 700 persons, in 1858, at a cost of $4,000. It

was greatly enlarged and improved in 1870. The first pastor

was Rev. Samuel Ford ; the present one is Rev. W. H. King.

There are 787 members. The value of Church property is

$70,000.

St. Paul's Church (Protestant Episcopal,) was organized in

1'834, and its house of worship was erected in 1839. It will seat

*The Church was originally organized at Little Meadows, in the town of

Apalachin, Penn., (then the town of Choconut, Penn.,) the Society em

bracing two neighborhoods, one at Little Meadows and the other at South

Apalachin, where meetings were held alternately.
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350 persons. The building is located on the south side ofMain

street, near McMaster street, in the village of Owego. Rev.

John Bailey was the first pastor; Rev. J. H. Kidder is the

present one. There are about 120 communicants connected

with the Society.

St. Patrick's Church (Catholic) was organized with twelve

members, in 1840. Their house of worship, located on Main

street, in the village of Owego, was erected in 1840, at a cost of

$1,200, and was enlarged in 1860. It will seat 500 persons. Rev.

Father O'Riley was the first pastor'; Rev. J. Rogers is the pres
ent one. There are 2,000 members. The Church property is

valued at $20,000. Connected with it are a free school and the

Convent of the Sisters of Mercy.

The Congregational Church was organized with forty-six mem

bers, Feb. 19, 1850. Their house of worship is located on Park

street in the village of Owego. It was finished Feb. 10, 1852,
and cost $5,000. "it will seat 500 persons. The first pastor was

Rev. S. C. Wilcox; the present one is Dwight W. Marsh. The

number of members is 227. The value of Church property is

$20,000. The church is out of debt.

The First Wesleyan Methodist Church, at Apalachin, was

organized with thirteen members, by Rev. Matthew Dearstine,
the first pastor, Feb. 25, 1850. Their house of worship was

erected in 1871, at a cost of about $1,500, and was dedicated

Dec. 11th of that year. It will seat 200 persons. The Society
numbers forty-eight members. The pulpit is vacant in conse

quence of the death of their pastor in February, 1872. The

Church property is valued at $2,000.

The Presbyterian Church, at Apalachin, was organized with

five members in 1855, through the efforts of Mrs. Margaret

Camp and Rev. O. N. Benton,* its first pastor. The church

edifice was erected in the spring of 1856, at a cost of $2,600,
and will seat 250 persons. There are twenty-five members ; but

the pulpit is vacant at present. The Church property is valued

at $3,000.

The M. E. Church of South Owego, was organized May 20,

1856, though a class was formed in 1830. Their house of wor

ship was erected in 1856, at a cost of $1,200, and will seat 200

persons. Rev. Joseph Whitham was the first pastor after the

erection of the church edifice, though Rev. John Griffin was

the first to preach to them prior to that time. The pulpit is

*Mr. Benton was chaplain of the 51st Regt. N. Y. Vol. Infty. during the

war of the Rebellion, and was killed at the battle of Newbern, 1ST. C,
March 14, 1864. His remains are interred at Owego.
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now supplied by Rev. W. Keatley, of Little Meadows, Penn.
The number of members is about thirty-five. The Church

property is valued at $3,000.*

The Free Will Baptist Church of Apalachin was organized in

1869, by Rev. H. S. Ball, its first pastor. The church edifice is

now in process of erection and will cost $3,000 and seat 250

persons. The Society numbers thirty-six. Rev. John Swank

is the pastor.

The M. E. Church of Owego erected its first house of worship
in 1822, and the,present one, which is located in the village of

Owego, in 1871-2, at a cost of $42,000. It will seat 1,100 per

sons. The date of its organization and the name of its first

pastor are unknown, the record being lost. The church was

dedicated by Revs. Jesse T. Peck (now Bishop Peck) and B. I.

Ives. Its 384 members are under the pastoral care of Rev.

William Bixby. The Church property is valued at $50,000.

MICHFOMD was formed from Berkshire, as Arlington,
April 18, 1831, and its name changed April 9, 1832.f It lies

in the extreme north-east corner of the County, and is bounded

on the north by Cortland and Tompkins counties, on the east

by Broome county, on the west by Tompkins county, and on

the south by the town of Berkshire. It covers an area of

18,457i acres, of which, in 1865, according to the census of that

year, 10,462, were improved. The surface is broken and very
hilly. Its hills are the highest in the County, being estimated.

at 1,400 to 1,600 feet above tide. The roads, where practicable,
follow the valleys. It is watered by the east and west branches

of Owego Creek (both of which flow south, the former through

the center of the town, and the latter separates it from Tonip-

* The first trustees were Ezra Tallmadge, Caleb Lamb, Clark Beecher,
Russel D. Gifford, Smith Gould, H. B. Gifford andWm. G. Knights.

Rural Cemetery Association of South Owego, was organized in 1864.

The grounds are located about one-fourth mile south of the church and

contain ninety square rods. They are regularly laid out and beautifully
shaded with spruce and maple trees. The first officers of the Association

were Ezra Tallmadge, President; Chester Graves, Treasurer ; andMilton

Slawson, Clerk.

+ The first town meeting was held at the house of Simeon M. Crandall,
Tuesday, March 6, 1832, and the following named officers were elected :

Wm. Dunham, Supervisor ; John C. Stedman, Town Clerk; Wm. Belden,
George P. Simmons and Jesse Moore, Assessors ; Lorrain Curtis, Hubbard
F. Wells and Heman Daniels, Commissioners of Highways ; Jacob

Bur-

gett, Elijah Powell and Tower Whiton, Commissioners of Common

Schools; Simeon R. Griffin, IsraelWells and Edward W. Surdam, School

Inspectors; Nathaniel Johnson and Wm. G. Raymond, Overseers of
the'

Poor; Obediah L. Livermore, Collector; Hiram N. Tyler and Henry Tal-

mage. Constables; Seth B. Torrey, Sealer of Weights andMeasures; Piatt

F. Grow, Eri Osborn and David C. Garrison, Justices of the Peace.
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kins county,) and several small tributaries to them. The soil

in the valleys is generally fertile and the hills are
susceptible of

cultivation to their summits. The town is covered to a con

siderable extent with forests and lumbering is carried on to a

limited extent.

The old Catskill turnpike extends through the town in a

westerly direction. This road is much traveled.

The Southern Central R. R. extends through the town along
the valley of the east branch of Owego

Creek.*

In 1870 the town had a population of 1,434. Of this num

ber 1,403 were natives and 31, foreigners; 1,415, white and 19,
colored.

During the year ending Sept. 30, 1871, the town contained

nine school districts and employed ten teachers. The number

of children of school age was 516 ; the number attending

school, 433 ; the average, attendance, 225; the amount ex

pended for school purposes, $3,324; and the value of school

houses and sites, $6,004.

Richford (p. o.) is located south of the Center on the east

branch of Owego Creek and on the S. C. R. R., and contains
one church, (Congregational,) a school house, a hotel, store,

grocery, drug store, billiard saloon, cigar manufactory,! tin

shop, shoe shop, two blacksmith shops, one harness shop, a

wagon repair shop, a saw mill, J an express office, (U. S.) and 150

inhabitants. This is the only postoffice in the town.

Valley Lodge No. 463, 1. O. of G. T. located here was insti

tuted Dec. 11, 1867, with 23 members. The present (June 1,

1872,) number of members is 78.

East Richfobd is a hamlet east of the Center. There is a

Free Will Baptist Church here.

* The town gave bonds to the amount of $45,000 in aid of this road. The
bonds are issued in denominations of $100 and $500 and bear 7 per cent an
nual interest. They are exempt from taxation ten years from date of

issue. They mature at the times and in the amounts specified below.
Bonds due in 1875, $3,000; in '76, $3,000; in '77, $4,500; in '78, $5,000; in

'79, $5,000; in '80, $6,000; in '81, $6,000; in '82, $6,000; in '83, $6,500.

i-The cigar manufactory of Bayette Bros, was established in 1847, by
their father, who commenced business on a small scale, employing but few
outside of his own family. The business now requires $25,000 capital and

gives employment to twenty-five persons, who manufacture annually
about one and one-half million cigars. The Bayette Bros, have purchased
a building in Owego with a view to removing their establishment to that

village. See page 196-D.

%The Richford Steam Mills, located here, (H. S. &C. W. Finch, proprie
tors,) have a circular saw five feet in diameter, which is operatedby a fifty
horse power engine, give employment to about fifteen persons, and are cap
able of sawing 3,000,000 feet of lumber annually. A large quantity of lath

is also made.
*
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West Richfobd is a hamlet in the north-west part, near the
west branch of Owego Creek. There is a Christian Church
here.

At the point where the Catskill turnpike intersects the west

branch of Owego Creek is the neighborhood known for miles

around, since the early settlement of the country, as
" Padlock,"

for the reason that the early settlers in that localitv were so sus

picious of each other that they secured all their buildings with
padlocks.*

In the north-west corner of the town is a neighborhood

known as "De Maraudeville Hollow," named from the first set

tlers, from which the inhabitants can reach the center by public
highway only by passing into Tompkins or Cortland coun

ties.

The date of the first settlement is unknown, but it is believed
to be about the beginning of the present century. Among
those who settled at an early day were Evan Harris, who

located at the village of Richford, on the lot upon which the
Congregational church stands ; Samuel Smith, Samuel Gleason,
Nathaniel Johnson, Stevens, Jeremiah Campbell, Caleb
and Jesse Gleason, Ezekiel Rich and William Dunham, many
of whom came from the adjoining town of Berkshire. Samuel
Smith and Samuel Gleason are said to have been the first
settlers.

"One of the communications from the Susquehanna to the
'council

fire'
of the Iroquois at Onondaga, was located upon

the east branch of Owego Creek * * * The trail followed
the bank of the creek to a point not far from its source, where
it divided into two branches, one passing over by a short cut to

a tributary of the Tioughnioga, and up the latter to its head
waters in Onondaga ; the other crossed to the headwaters of

what is now called Fall Creek, and thence to the head of Cayuga
Lake. These trails were observable to the early surveyors "of
the

'
milii ary

tract,'

and explorers for several years."f
The first marriage was contracted by Ezekiel Dewey and

Lucy Johnson, in 1817.

_

This town took a noble part in aiding to suppress the Rebel

lion. She furnished 118 men, who enlisted from and were cred

ited to the town; and fourteen, who went from other towns.

Of the enlisted men 11 went with Capt. Catlin; 31 with Capt.

Powell, who was the only commissioned officer

from''

the town

and who raised a company in the early part of the war ; 1

with Capt, Hyde; 20, with Capt. Williams of Newark
Vtu"

9,
iiiey :

* Statement of S. M. Allen, a resident in the town for fifty years.

+ Tlic Saint Nicholas.
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and 36 with other companies. In the draft of 1863, thirty-three

were drawn. Three of these entered the army as drafted men ;

thirteen paid $300 commutation; one sent a substitute; and

one enlisted, but subsequently deserted and went to Canada.

The town raised $2,800 for bounties. Her quotas were always

promptly filled, and although her representatives passed through
some of the hardest fought battles of the war, the loss was light

compared with other
localities.*

It is a fact worthy of honorable mention, and one, perhaps,

without parallel in the history of the war, that from the family
of a widow lady named Lacy, (who subsequently became Mrs.

Deacon Hart of Richford,) consisting of nine sons and one

son-in-law, the latter and seven of the former enlisted, (the

remaining two were not old enough.) Three joined the 3d, and

two 137th Infantry, and two, in company with the three who

joined the 3d Infantry and subsequently re-enlisted, the 50th

Engineers. The son-in-law entered the 109th Infantry. All

served their time faithfully and returned home without having
sustained the least injury from the weapons of war.f

The First Congregational Church of Richford, at Richford vil

lage, was organized with forty-one members, Jan. 14, 1823, by
Rev. Seth Burt, its first pastor, as a Presbyterian church, and

was changed to Congregational in 1827, though it retained its

connection with the Presbytery until 1868. Their first church

edifice was erected in 1823, mostly by contributions of labor by
the people living in the neighborhood. The present house was

erected in 1854, and will seat 300 persons. There are seventy-

eight members. Their pastor is Rev. A. L. Green. The

Church property is valued at $2,500. Mrs. Rich is the only
one of the original members now living.

The Christian Church of West Richford was organized with

thirty members, in 1851, by Elder Wm. Grimes, its first pastor;
and until the erection of the house of worship in 1861, meet
ings were held in the school house, the woods and barns. It

was first organized as a branch of the South Harford (Cortland

county) church. The church edifice cost $1,000, and will seat

300 persons. There has been no regular pastor since 1867;
and, owing to the death and removal of some of the leading
members the Society has gradually become disorganized.

The First Free Will Baptist Church, at East Richford, was or
ganized as a branch of the Dryden Free Will Baptist Church by
Simeon P. Willsey and others, in 1863, and as a separate

church, with seven members, by Rev. J. N. Hills, in 1864.

* From statement of J. H. Deming, Supervisor.

+ From statement of Grant W. Barnes of Richford.
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Their house of worship, which was erected in 1868, at a cost of

$1,000, will seat 300 persons. There are thirtymembers. The

first pastor was Rev. S. B. Culver; the present one is Rev. Oscar

D. Moore. The Church property is valued at $1,500.

SPENCER was formed from Owego, Feb. 28, 1806.* Can

dor in this county and Caroline, Danby and Newfield in Tomp
kins county were erected from it Feb. 22, 181 1 . Cayuta in Schuy
ler county was erected from it March 20, 1824. It lies in the

north-west corner of the county, and covers an area of 29.1361

acres, of which, in 1865, according to the census of that year,

16,3131, were improved. The surface is an upland, broken by
the valleys of several small streams. The ridges extend in a gen

eral north and south direction. Their declivities are generally

steep and their summits broad and broken. The north-west

portion forms the watershed between Susquehanna River and

Cayuga Lake. Catatunk, or Catetanl Creek, as it was called at

an early day, flows east through the center of the town and cuts

these ridges at nearly right angles, forming a deep and narrow

valley. This is the principal stream, though it is supplemented

by numerous small tributaries. The soil in the valleys is a

gravelly loam, and upon the hills it is a hard shaly loam.

The Ithaca & Athens R. R. enters the town on the north

'line, near the north-west corner, and extends through the north
west part to a point a little west of Spencer village, where it

turns to the west and leaves the town on the west line, a little

south of the center.

In 1870 the town had a population of 1,863, of whom 1,819

were natives and 44, foreigners ; 1,832, white and 31, colored.

During the year ending Sept. 30, 1871, the town contained

thirteen school districts and employed the same number of

teachers. The number of children of school age was 627 ; the

number attending school, 536; the average attendance, 279 ;

the amount expended for school purposes, $3,539 ; and the value

of school houses and sites, $2,972.

Spejstcek, (p. v.) located west of the center, on Catatunk

Creek, is a station on the I. & A. R. R., and is on the line of

*The first town meeting was held at the house of Jacobus Shenichs,

Tuesday, April 1, 1806, and the following named officers were elected
:

Joel Smith, Supervisor; Jacobus Ferris, Town Clerk; Edmund Hobart,

Daniel H. Bacon and Levi Slater, Assessors; Moses Read, Benjamin Jen

nings and Joseph Barker, Commissioners of Highways ; Lewis
Beers and

Samuel Westbrook, Overseers of the Poor ; Isaiah Chambers, Collector;

John Shoemaker, Nathan Beers, Wm. Cunan, John Murphy and. Isaiah

Chambers, Constables; JohnF. Bacon, John McQuigg, John Mulks and

Jacob Swartwood, PoundMasters ; John I. Speed, John English,
Joseph L.

Horton, Jacob Herrington, Alex. Ennis and Lewis Beardsley, Hence

Viewers.
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the U. & E. R. R* It contains three churches, (Baptist, Con

gregational and M. E.,) one Union school, one steam saw and

grist mill, one sash and blind factory, eight stores, four black

smith shops, two wagon shops, two cabinet shops, one hotel, a

livery stable, two milliner shops, one dental and two doctor's

offices, an undertaking establishment, photographing establish

ment, three shoe shops, two tailor shops, a meat market, a paint

shop, a water-power saw mill,f two harness shops and
about 100

dwellings and. 500 inhabitants. It was named from Judge

Spencer of New York.

Spencer Camp Ground is located in a very pleasant grove, near

the village, and but a few rods from the depot on the I. & A.

R. R. It has been used for this purpose several years, and the

accommodations are ample and good.

Spencer Springs, (p. o.) located in the north-east part, is

named from and noted for the springs located here, which make

it a popular place of resort during the summer months. The

water is impregnated with iron and sulphur and possesses val

uable medicinal properties. There is a hotel here with ample

accommodations for visitors, and surrounded by picturesque

scenery. It is three and one-half miles north-east of Spencer

village.

North Spencer, (p. o.) located in the north-west part, on

the I. & A. R. R., about three and one-half miles north of

Spencer, contains one church, (Union) a school house, a store
and about fifteen dwellings and seventy-five inhabitants.

Cowells Corners (named from Joshua Cowell, an early

settler,) is a hamlet located on Catatunk Creek, about one and.

one-fourth miles east of Spencer, and contains a school house,
a shoe shop, two cooper shops, nine dwellings and about thirty-

three inhabitants.

There are several industrial and mechanical enterprises in

various parts of the town, removed from the business centers.!

*The Utica & Elmira R. R., now in process of construction, will pass

through this town, near the center, from east to west, following the valley
of Catatunk Creek. Grading for it was recently commenced in this town.

f Thewater-power by which this mill is operated is said to be the best

in the town. The mill is located in the north part of the village and saws

about 100,000 feet of lumber per annum. John Hallock is the proprietor.

John A.
Nichols'

steam saw mill, located one mile south-west of

Spencer village, is operated by a forty-horse-power eagine, gives employ
ment to twelve persons and is capable of sawing 1,000 feet of lumber per

hour. Connected with it is a lath mill, which manufactures large quanti

ties of lath and pickets.

A. Seeley & Bro.'s steam saw, lath and shingle mill, is operated by a

forty-horse-power engine, gives employment to ten persons, and saws

about 9,000 feet of lumber, a large quantity of lath and some shingles per
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The first settlement was made in 1795, by the families of

Benj. Drake and John Barker. Mr. Drake settled on the site

of the village of Spencer, which he owned. He erected the first

frame building there, which was afterwards known as the "Purdy
house."

He commenced in this wilderness in a very primitive

way. It is interestingly stated by Gen. George Fisher thatMr.

Drake "dug out a
trough,"

one end of which he occupied as a

sleeping apartment and the other as a kitchen. One daywhile
he was working some distance off his rude habitation caught fire

and was entirely consumed a loss he doubtless mourned sin

cerely. Phineas Spaulding,* Joseph Barker and Edmund Ho-

day. This company contemplate erecting a grist mill the present year

(1872) which will contain three or four runs of stones.

Bangs & Bro. 's saw mill, planer and lath and cider mill, located on

Catatunk Creek, gives employment to four persons and manufactures an

nually one million feet of lumber, one-halfmillion feet of lath, 500 cords of

wood and about 1,500 barrels of cider, and planes 300,000 feet of lumber.

The Dean saw mill, owned by John D. Vannatta, and located on Dean

Creek, in the south-west part of the town, is a smallwater-power mill and

manufactures about 15,000 feet of lumber annually.

Sabin's saw mill, in the north part, on a branch of Catatunk Creek, is a

small water-power mill. The water-power is not constant; hence the

quantity manufactured varies with the varying supply
of water.

Signer's saw mill, in the north part, on a branch of CatatunkCreek, con

tains an upright and a circular saw, which are operated by
water-

power, and manufactures about 300,000 feet of pine and hemlock lum

ber and a considerable quantity of lath per annum.

The saw mill owned by J. VanMarter and J. S. Smith, located on the

south branch of Catatunk Creek, about five miles south-east of Spencer

village, contains three circular saws which are
operated bywater, and saws

about 400,000 feet of lumber per annum. The proprietors intend convert

ing it into a steam mill this season.

Hug &
Mowers'

saw mill, located in the north-west part, gives employ

ment to fifteen men and annually manufactures about one
million feet of

lumber and a large quantity of stove wood from the slabs. The lumber is

shipped principally to Ithaca.

Dodge's grist and sawmill, located at the foot of ''Huggtown Pond, con

tains three runs of stones, does a large amount of custom grinding and is

capable of sawing one million feet of lumber
per annum. It is now ope

rated by water-power, but the proprietors intend to convert
it into a steam

power mill this season.

Hulburt's saw mill, located atDryBrook, in the north-west part, is cap

able of sawing a large quantity of lumber, though it is in
operation but a

small portion of the time.

The Cook saw mill, located on the Catatunk Creek, is operated by
water

and is capable of doing a large amount of business, but is not run to its

fullest capacity. It saws from 50,000 to 100,000 feet of lumber per annum.

James C. Emery's saw mill, located near Spencer Springs, saws about

300,000 feet of lumber annually.

*While hunting one day Mr. Spaulding shot apanther in a tree and
broke

its under jaw. When it reached the ground it was attacked by his dog,

but was not so much disabled as to be unable to defend itself from its at

tack. Seeing that his dog was likely to come to grief
Mr. Spaulding went

to its assistance and was in turn attacked by the panther. He jammed

the butt end of his gun into its mouth and before the panther
could disen

gage itself he cut its throat.

At another time during the early settlement of the town,
Mr. spauiaing,

in company with Levi English, another early settler,
followed a bear track

1j3
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bart, it is believed settled the same year, soon after
Mr. Drake.

Spaulding was from New Hampshire and located in the north

part of the town. Joseph Barker came from Wyoming, Penn.,
and settled on the site of Spencer village. He taught the first

school in his own house. He filled the office of Justice of the

Peace for twenty-eight years. He raised a large family of child

ren, most of whom are now dead. Edmund Hobart located a

short distance north of Spencer village where Benj. Hull now

lives. Rodney Hobart emigrated from Conn, and took up his

residence at Spencer village in 1796.

John and George K. Hall, brothers, came from Westchester

county in 1798, and settled where John McQuigg now lives.

Theymoved their families here in 1806. John McQuigg,*

McLane and Case settled in the town previous to
1800,*

and those named are believed to be all who settled previous to

the present century.

made in the snow which fell the previous night. The course pursued by
the bear lay across the site of the village of Spenoer, and they followed it

about three miles, when they treed the bear. Mr. Spaulding shot at it five
times but failed to bring it down, and as he had but one ball left they con

cluded to cut down the tree, which they did. When the tree fell the bear

was attacked by three dogs the hunters had with them. One of the dogs

was killed and the other two driven off, when Mr. English went to their

assistance with an ax. He in turn became the object of attack and was

pressed so closely that he jumped over the fallen tree, andwas immediate

ly followed by the bear. Whichever side of the logEnglish felt constrained

to occupy temporarily the unpleasant proximity of the bearon the same soon

rendered the opposite side most inviting ; and the bear, doubtless relying
upon the superior judgment of English, invariably manifested the same

partiality as was apparent in the latter, for he changed his position to op

posite sides of the log as often as did English, and exhibited his prefer

ence with so much alacrity that the latter found it impossible to apprise it

of his evident antipathy for its companionship in the wayhewished. Eng
lish jumped over the log and back again several times all the while im

ploring Spaulding to fire which the latter had been preparing to do with

all possible haste. The former, however, was in too imminent peril, or

was too solicitous for the welfare of the bear, to accurately note the lapse

of time, and the length necessary to load a gun seemed to him exceeding

ly great. In due time Mr. Spaulding put an end to his intense anxiety by
delivering a well directed shot through the head of the bear, which killed

it.

*The following, copied from a paper printed at the time the inoident oc

curred, in 1803, explains itself.
"

LOST
CHILD."

" DistressingEvent.On Saturday last the eldest son of John M. McQuigg of the
town of Owego, [which then included the town of Spencer,] a hoy about seven years

old,wnt into the woods to hunt the cows and has not been heard of since, notwith

standing the vigilance and exertions of the inhabitants generally throughout the coun

try, who have been collected together in parties, and who have been in continual pur

suit of him. It is supposed that a dog belonging to Mr. McQuigg followed the buy and
still remains with him. What a heart-rending thought ! a little infant only seven years

old wandering through the wilderness to be devoured by beasts of prey or perish of

hunger I We understand that not less than 400 people are this day in pursuit of him.

From their exertions we hope he may yet be found to console his afflicted parents and

relatione.

"
Sincewriting the above we have had the pleasure to learn that the boy was found in

perfect health, with his faithful dog, about six or seven miles from
home."
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Wm. Hugg and his. son, William, came from Connecticut, in
18Q0, and settled on the west branch of Catatunk Creek, two
and one-half miles north of Spencer village. Mr. Hugg brought
his family and effects all the way on a single sled drawn by an
ox team. Game was plentiful and beasts of prey were too nu

merous for the peace of mind of the early settlers. The howl

of the wolf might be heard every night for twenty years after

the first settlements were made. Mr. Hugg recollects to have

seen as many as seventeen deer in one herd. Isaac Hugg came

in 1801 and located near Wm.Hugg. DavidMcQuigg, an early
settler, purchased 100 acres of land of Benj. Drake, the pioneer

settler, at $5 per acre, and paid the whole amount with venison

and furs.

George Watson, from Canaan, Litchfield county, Conn., came
in 1804, and settled on the north limit of Spencer village, on

land called the "Watson
tract,"

named from his father, a Revo

lutionary soldier. Mr. Watson married the daughter of Joseph

Barker, one of the pioneers. He had fourteen children, ten of

whom are now living. He died at the age of eighty-eight, not

having known sickness until that which resulted in his death.

Judge Henry Miller and Andrew Purdy came in company
from ^Vestch ester county in 1805. The former was a member

of the Court of Common Pleas of his county and both were

highly esteemed. Elizabeth Miller, the widow of Judge Miller,
is still a resident of the town, having reached the ripe old age

of ninety-nine. Caleb Valentine and John and Leonard Jones

came also from Westchester county the same year and settled

on the Catatunk, in the east part of the town. They were the

first settlers in that locality. Richard Ferris and his son Daniel

came from the same county the following year and settled on

the Catatunk, east of Spencer village. Thomas Mosher, from
Westchester county, became a resident in 1805.

Benjamin Cowell came with his family from Connecticut in

1807 and settled near North Spencer. He met with a painful

death from the accidental discharge of his gun, which he car

ried, as was his custom, while looking after the cows.

Gen. George Fisher came from New York in 1810 and set

tled on the site of Spencer village when, he says, there was only
one house there, and no road. He has taken a lively interest
in the progress of the village and surrounding country, and

still lives at the venerable age of ninety to enjoy the fruits of

his early ardous labors. His brother, Thomas, preceded him in

his settlement one year. Solomon Mead settled about the same

year as Gen. Fisher, near '"Huggtown
Pond."

His son John

Mead, who came with him, still resides where they first located.

Hartman Lotze, from Saulsbury, Litchfield county, Conn., came
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about 1811. He still resides here and is eighty-three years of

age. Joshua H. Ferris came about 1812. His father, Judge

Joshua Ferris, who was a gentleman of intelligence and worth,

a member of the Court of Common Pleas, a land agent and ac

curate surveyor, became a resident about 1800. Micah Penin,
from Conn., came about 1817 and settled four miles north of

Spencer village. Joseph Cole came about the same time. Na

than Martin and three of his sons settled about one and one-

half miles north of Spencer village in 1817. Ira Martin,
another son, joined them the following year. Alvin Benton

settled in the north-west part of the town in 1819. Cyrus

Woodford settled on the Catatunk about two and one-halfmiles

east of Spencer village about 1822 ; and S. D. Bliven became a

resident at Spencer village in 1829. A Mr. Cramer, who was

an early settler, and built a log-house near the stream which

was afterwards called Cramer Creek, was one day at the house

of Benj. Drake, the pioneer. The latter had killed a deer and

gave Cramer a portion to take home, which he started to do after

dark, carrying a pine torch to light his way. He had not gone

far before he heard wolves following him. He hurried on, but

they came so near that he was obliged to climb a stump. He

swung his torch to frighten them, but they pressed him so close

that he threw his meat as far as he could, and while the raven

ous ferocity of the wolves was thus temporarily appeased he got
down from the stump and by making good use of his legs ar

rived home safe. Thomas Andrews was an early settler at

North Spencer.

The first birth was that ofDeborah, daughter ofBenj. Drake ;

the first death was that of Prescott Hobart, who was buried on

the farm now owned and occupied by James B. Hull& Son and

who was re-interred in the village (Spencer) cemetery. The

first wheat raised in the town was on this same farm ; and the

first clover which grew there, on the farm now owned by Jas.
Nelson.'

The latter grew from seed dropped by a horse hitched
thereon the previous year by a man from Owego. The first

marriage was contracted by John B. Underwood and Polly
Spaulding. The first inn was kept by Andrew Purdy ; and the

first store by Samuel Doolittle. The first grist mill was built by
Benj. Drake; and the first saw mill, by Edmund Hobart, on the
site of Cook's saw mill.

Spencer village was the county seat of Tioga county from

1812 to 1821. Tioga county then included Chemung county.

At the burning of the Court house the last named year the

county seat was removed to Owego.
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The first religious meeting was held by and at the house of

P. Spaulding, and the first religious association (Baptist) was

organized by Elder David Jayne.

The Union Church, at North Spencer, was organized with

thirty members in 1870, and its church edifice, which will seat

275 persons, was erected the same year, at a cost of 81,500. It

has no regular pastor, its pulpit being supplied from Spencer

village. The Church property is valued at $1,700.

TIOGA*
was formed from Union, (Broome Co.,) March

14, 1800. Berkshire was taken off Feb. 12, 1808, a part of

Union, April 2, 1810, and Barton and Nichols, March 23, 1824.

It is an interior town, the only one in the county which is not

partially bounded by territory lying outside the county. It lies

upon the north bank of the Susquehanna, which separates it

from Nichols. Its eastern boundary is formed by Owego Creek,
its northern, by the towns of Candor and Spencer, and its

western, by the town of Barton. It covers an area of 33,344

acrea, of which, in 1865, according to the census of that year,

20,940f, were improved. Its surface consists principally of up

lands,which terminate in bluffs along the river intervale. Its

streams are Catatunk and Pipe creeks, and numerous small

streams tributary to them and the Susquehanna. Catatunk

Creek enters the town on the north line, near the east border,
and flowing in a south-east direction, discharges its waters into

Owego Creek, near the center of the east border; Pipe

Creek enters the town on the west line, near the north-west cor

ner, and flowing in a south-east direction, empties into the Sus

quehanna, near Tioga Center. The soil is a fine dark loam in

the valleys and gravelly upon the hills.

The N. Y. and Erie and Southern Central railroads extend

through the south part of the town, along the valley of the

Susquehanna, and the Cayuga Division of the Delaware, Lacka

wanna & Western R. R. crosses the north-east corner, following
the course of Catatunk Creek.

In 1870 the town had a population of 3,272, of whom 2,995

were natives and 277, foreigners; 2,244, white and 28, colored.

During the year ending Sept, 30, 1871, the town contained

twenty school districts and employed twenty-one teachers. The

number of children of school age was 930; the number attend

ing school, 848 ; the average attendance, 422; the amount ex

pended for school purposes, 85,504; and the value of school

houses and sites 87,741.

* For definition and origin of name see p. 155.
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Smithboro (p. o.) is located near the south-west corner on

the bank of the Susquehanna, which is crossed at this point by
a bridge. It is on the N. Y. & Erie and Southern Central rail

roads and is distant nine and three-fourths miles west from

Owego. It contains one church, (Methodist) three hotels, four

stores, two groceries, one drug store, two wagon shops, two

blacksmith shops, two harness shops, a shoe shop, a
creamery,*

and, in 1870, had 304 inhabitants.f

Tioga Center (p. v.) is located about the center of the south

border, near the mouth of Pipe Creek, and is a station on the

N. Y. & Erie and S. C. railroads. It is distant five and one-

fourth miles west of Owego and four and one-half, east of

Smithboro. It contains two churches, (Baptist andMethodist,
the latter is now being built,) one hotel, tannery,;}; shoe shop,

three stores, a grist mill, three saw mills, (one of which is

operated by water and two by steam,) a blacksmith shop,

about thirty buildings and had, in 1870, 304 inhabitants. ||

Halsey Valley (p. v.) is located in the north-west part, on

the line of Barton, and contains two churches, (Christian and

Methodist,) two general stores, a grocery, a saw mill,^[ black

smith shop, wagon shop, two cooper shops, a shoe shop, about

thirty dwellings and had, in 1870, 103
inhabitants.**

Straits Corners is a hamlet located near the north line, on
a branch of Pipe Creek, and contains a grocery, saw mill and a

few dwellings.! f

* Smithboro creamery was built in 1866 by Ketchum, Smith & Co., and
is now owned by Joseph Winters. It is capable of using the milk from

200 cows, though it is at present reoeiving it from only 75. It produces

from 12,000 to 13,000 lbs. of butter per annum.

+ The number of inhabitants comprised 277 natives and 27 foreigners ;
and were all white.

% Quirn's tannery was erected in 1871, the old one built by Wm. Ransom

having been burned. It gives employment to 45 men and annually tans
175,000 calf-skins, all of which are imported.

Hoff & Thayer's steam saw mill was built in 1867, by the present own

ers. Smith's steam saw mill was built in 1851, by R. & J. G. Smith and

was operated by water until May, 1872, when steam was introduced as the
motor. It saws one million feet of lumber annually.

|| The number of inhabitants comprised 268 natives and 36 foreigners;
300 whites and 4 colored persons.

ITTaylor's steam sawmill was built for a shingle mill in 1868, and in 1871

was remodeled and machinery adapted to a saw mill introduced. It saws

5,000 feet of lumber per day.

** All its inhabitants were natives and all except one were whites.

Wit was named after David Strait, the first and present postmaster. The
postoffice was established here in 1853 and two mails are received per
weekTuesdays and Saturdays.

Among other manufacturing establishments in this town are:
Giles'

steam saw mill, which is located on the line of Barton, and manufactures
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Settlements were commenced in this town as early as 1785.

Enos Canfield, according to the statement of his son, Amos,
came about that year and settled in the south part, on the farm

on which Amos Canfield is now living. The latter was born

in the town. He says there were but few settlers scattered

along the river when his father came. Samuel and William

Ransom, Primer and Andrew Alden came up the Susque

hanna from WyomingValley the same year and settled on Pipe

Creek. Wm. Ransom and Andrew Alden located near the

mouth, of that creek, on the site of the village of Tioga Center.
Wm. Ransom subsequently married the daughter of James

Brooks, (Rachel) who came with his family two years later, and
raised a family of nine children, some of whom are still living
on the old homestead. Col. Wm. Ransom, son of the pioneer

by the same name, was born in April, 1801, and still resides at

Tioga Center. Col. David Pixley from Massachusetts and Ab

ner Turner from New Hampshire came in 1791, both having
previously visited the country on one or more exploring tours.

Col. Pixley moved to Owego in 1802, as is stated in the history
of that town. Mr. Turner settled near the east line, upon the

homestead where he afterwards lived and died. Joel Farnham

settled in the east part in 1794-5. Jeremiah White from Wyo

ming settled at a very early day on the river, a short distance

below Owego, on premises subsequently occupied by Abel

Stafford, Elizur Wright and, in 1803, by Samuel Giles. Hugh

E. Fiddis was an early settler adjacent to Joel Farnham. John

Hill from Waterford, Berkshire county, Mass., a Revolutionary
soldier, settled near the river bank, below Mr. White, in 1792.

Wm. Taylor, who accompanied James McMaster to Owego in

1785, settled subsequently a little lower down the river. Na

thaniel Catlin, one of the survivors of the sanguinary battle

of Minisink, purchased Mr. Taylor's farm in 1800. Daniel

Mersereau from Staten Island settled here the latter

year on property purchased from Cornelius Taylor, who came

shortly previous from Plymouth, in the Wyoming Valley. He

continued his residence there until his death. Judge Noah

andEliakim Goodrich from Glastenbury, Conn., settled on prop
erty purchased of Col. David Pixley in 1802, on the latter's re
moval to Owego. Both died in the town at advanced ages. John

lumber and shingles. The first mill on this site was built in 1854, by Wm.

W. Giles. It was burned in 1864 and rebuilt the same year. In 1871 the

boilers exploded and did damage which'required eleven weeks to repair.

Grove Steam Mill, located two miles east of Halsey Valley, was built by
its present owner, L. B. Ferbush, in 1871. It saws about 7,000 feet of lum

ber per day and 500,000 shingles annually.

Beaver Meadows steam saw mill, located about four miles from Tioga

Center, was erected in 1870 on the site of a watermill, and is owned by
Nichols & Ross. It is capable of sawing 1,000 feet of lumber per hour.
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Smith was an early settler in this town. Jas. Schoonover settled

further down the river in 1794 and left numerous descendants

in the county. Families by the name of Taylor and Hunger-

ford settled in the same locality. Francis Gragg, Nathaniel

Goodspeed, Lodowick Light, Jesse Ziba and Amos Miller, (the
last four from Westchester county,) families named Fountain

and Lyon, (who settled at the Ferry, a short distance above

Smithboro,) and Ezra Smith, (who settled at Smithboro, and
from whom that village was named,) were all early settlers.

Mr. Smith held letters patent from the State, covering a large

tract of land in that vicinity, and, in company with Mr. Light,
and others, moved from Westchester county in 1791. Beniah

Mundy, who located in the south part, was one of the first to

settle in this town. He came about 1787.

Asa Severn from Tompkins county was an early settler in the

north-west part of the town, when it was a wilderness. He

erected a log house and made a clearing. Stephen Rider from

Blenheim, Schoharie County, settled in the south part of the

town in April, 1816. At the time he came, Mr. Rider says the

town along the river was settled to some extent, but the north

part was a wilderness, without roads, and infested by wild beasts
which frequently preyed upon the sheep belonging to the set

tlers. Peter Lott settled with his family atHalsey Valley about

1801, and he and his daughter were accustomed to walk to Fac

toryville, a distance of fourteen miles, to attend church.

Upon the brow of the cliff on the west bank of Owego

Creek in this town was an Indian burying ground, which, from
the remains found there, appears to have been extensively used.

Many Indian graves were also found near the bank of the river

a short distance below Cassel's Cove. The remains here were

found in the usual posture, surrounded by the customary im

plements of the chase and ornaments such as were usually de

posited with the body which they had contributed to support

and adorn in life.

About forty years since, the east part of the town, at the west
end of the

" Glen
Mary,"

owned by George J. Pumpelly, a large
brass kettle, filled with articles of various kinds, of ancient
appearance andmanufacture, was disclosed by the plow. Among
the contents was a copper tea kettle, which inclosed a pewter

vessel filled with untrimmed rifle balls, just as they came from

the mould. Other articles were an old-fashioned and peculiarly
shaped hammer: a parcel of pewter plates of two sizes, the

smaller ones showing no marks of use, being bright and un-

dimmed by corrosion, and bearing the impress of the word

" London "; and a peculiarly shaped iron or steel instrument,
six or eight inches in length, pointed and like the head of an



TIOGA. 196-^3

arrow or spear, except that it had a single barb about two inches

long, on one side only, and at its other end was a socket, appar

ently intended for a handle. Other articles of similar value

were inclosed by the kettle, and are supposed to have been

presents made to the Iroquois by the English agents during our
Colonial history to cement the bonds of friendship between

them, and to have been deposited where found by some member
of that tribe on the approach of Gen. Sullivan's army, to pre

vent their falling into the hands of the invaders. Death or the

fortunes of war, or forgetfulness of the precise spotwhere they
were secreted may have prevented a resumption of the posses

sion on the retirement of the army.

The Christian Church at Halsey Valley was organized in

1847, and erected a house of worship in 1856. It cost $1,200,
and will seat 200 persons. The Society now numbers seventy
members. Its first pastor was Rev. A. J. Welton ; the present

one is Rev. Alfred Saxton. The church property is valued at

$1,600.

Tioga Center Baptist Church was organized in 1849, by mem
bers from North Barton and Owego, and its church edifice,

which will seat 250 persons, was erected in 1850, at a cost of

82,000. Rev. Nathaniel Ripley was the first pastor ; Rev. Geo.

Brown is the present one. There are fifty members, and the

Church property is valued at $3,000.

The Christian Church at Straits Corners was organized with

seventeen members in 1850, by Rev. B. R. Hurd, its first pastor.

Its house of worship will seat 200 persons. It was erected in

1855, at a cost of 8950. The present number of members is

twenty. The present pastor is Rev. Alfred Saxton. The

Church property is valued at 82,000.

The M. E. Church was organized with thirty-six members in

November, in 1870, and its house of worship, which is located

in the north part of the town and will seat 300 persons, was

erected the same year, at a cost of $3,000. Its first pastor was

Rev. Eckert ; its present one is Rev. S. B. Keeney. The

number of members remains the same as at its organization.

The value of Church property is $3,050.

The M. E. Church at Halsey Valley erected its house of wor

ship, which will seat 400 persons, in 1854. The pulpit is filled

by Rev. J. B. Santee of Barton. There are twenty members.

The Church property is valued at $2,500.

The M. E. Church at Smithboro erected its house of worship

in 1867. It will seat 250 persons. Services are conducted by
Rev. J. B. Santee of Barton. The Church property is valued at

$5,000.
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BROOME COUNTY

BUSINESS DIRECTORY.

EXPLANATIONS TO DIRECTORY.

Directory Is arranged as follows : 1. Name of individual or firm. 2. Post office ad

dress in parenthesis. 3. Business or occupation.

A Star (*) placed before a name, indicates an advertiser in this work. For such ad

vertisement see Index.

Figures placed after the occupation offarmers, indicate the nftmber of acres of land

owned or leased by the parties.

Names set in CAPITALS indicate subscribers to this work.

The word Street is implied as regards directory for the City of Binghamton and

villages.

For additions and corrections see Errata, following tiie Intro

duction.
; s

(Post Office Addresses in Parentheses.)

Adams,, Amos, (Castle Creek,) lot 198, far
mer 270.

Adams, Asa 2d, (Whitney's Point,) lot 243,
farmer leases of Aea K>, 400.

Alderman, Tallcot, (Castle Creek,) lot 164,
farmer 85.

Alexander, Levi, (Chenango Forks,) lot 52,
carpenter and farmer 50.

Alexander, Rufus, (Chenango Forks,) lot
52, farmer 60.

Allen, John, (Whitney's Point,) sawyer and
farmer.

Allen, John N., (Whitney's Point,) lot 70,
farmer 80.

Atwater, Chester, (Whitney's Point.) lot 48,
assessor and farmer 184.

Bacon, Manly, (Chenango Forks,) lot 240,
farmer leases of Violetta Rummer, 46.

Barr, James, (Chenango Forks,) lot 62, far
mer leases 194.

Beach, Abel W., (Whitney's Point,) lot 281,
justice of the peace and farmer 107.

BEACH, ASA, (Whitney's Point,) (with

Franklin,) lot 47, farmer 230.
Beach, Charles B., (Whitney's Point,) (with

Franklin,) farmer.

BEACH, FRANKLIN, (Whitney's Point,)
(with Asa,) lot 47, farmer 230.

Beach, John M., (Whitney's Point,) lot 281,
farmer 147.

BEACH,WILLIAM, (Whitney's Point,) lot
47, farmer 160.

Beals, Wm. H., (Whitney's Point,) lot 244,
farmer 280.

Bedell, Ira, (Whitney's Point,) lot 239, far
mer 124.

Blair, Eli, (Chenango Forks,) lot 159, far
mer 150.

Bliss, Bart, (Chenango Forks,) lot 201, con
stable and farmer 100.

Bliss, Perry, (Chenango Forks,) lot 40, far-

[
mer 105.

Bolster, Giles, (Castle Creek,) lot 165, car
penter and farmer 80.

oughton, David, (Triangle,) lot 35, justice
of the peace and farmer 115.

Boughton, George, (Triangle,) lot 37, far
mer leases of John W. Rich, 50.

Brazee,Betsy Ann Mrs., (ChenangoForks,)
lot 163, farmer 80.

Brewer, Milton, (Whitney's Point,) lot 49,
farmer 85.
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Brockett, Willis, (Triangle,) lot 21, farmer
60.

Brown, Parley M., (Whitney's Point,) lot
73, farmer 190.

Bughardt, Chas. M., (Whitney's Point,) lot
361, farmer 135.

Burroughs, Benj., (Chenango Forks,) egg
and produce dealer, and fanner.

BURROUGHS, BENJAMIN J., (Chenango

Forks,) (Porter & Burroughs.)
Burroughs, Harvey L., (Chenango Forks,)

lot 239, farmer 227.

Caton, Hugh, (Whitney's Point,) lot 70, far
mer leases 315.

Clark, Elijah M., (Castle Creek,) lot 238,
drover and farmer 150.

Cole, John, (Chenango Forks,) lot 200,butch-

er and farmer 100.

Combs, Rnfus, (Chenango Forks,) lot 64,
farmer 100.

Cook, Chester, (Whitney's Point,) lot 322,
carpenter and farmer 10.

Cook, Squire D., (Chenango Forks,) lot 63,
farmer 135.

Copeland, Lorenzo D., (Chenango Forks,)
carriage maker.

Courtney, Henry,(Whitney's Point,) lot 320,
farmer leases of Chester Atwater, 114.

Coy, Cyrus J. (Whitney's Point,) lot 237,
farmer 240.

Crowell, Alfred, (Castle Creek,) lot 204,
farmer leases of Philo Landers, 75.

Crowell, Hamilton L., (Chenango Forks,)
(Harrington & Crowell.)

Cunningham, Asa, (Chenango Forks,) lot
202, farmer 40.

Davis, Walter W. (Whitney's Point,) lot
244, farmer 94.

Decker, A. B., (Chenango Forks,) lot 198,
farmer leases of Lyman Lyon, 196.

Dickinson, Frances M., (Whitney's Point,)
lot 361, farmer 39.

Dickinson, Henry B.,(Whitney's Point,) lot
322, farmer 50.

Dunham, Alex. M. Mrs., (Whitney's Point,)
lot 2S4, farmer 64.

Dunham, Elias, (Glen Aubrey,) lot 205, far
mer 50.

Dunham, Hiram, (Whitney's Point,) lot

282, farmer 150.

Dunham, Leonard W., (Castle Creek,) lot
167, farmer 55.

Dunham, Nelson, (Castle Creek,) lot 157,
butcher, drover and farmer 100.

Eldridge, Benedict, (Whitney's Point,) lot
280, farmer 100.

Eldridge, Geo. W., (Whitney's Point,) lot
242, farmer 100.

Eldridge, John B., (Whitney's Point,) lot
321, farmer 120.

Ellerson, Hamilton, (Whitney's Point,) lot
360, farmer 120.

Ellerson, Ruth Mrs., (Whitney's Point,)
lot 360, farmer 40.

ELLIOTT, JOSEPH, (Chenango Forks,)
lot 66, farmer 100.

English, David, (Whitney's Point,) lot 48,
farmer leases of Nathaniel Newell, 314.

English. Jonathan, (Chenango Forks,) lot

49, farmer 100.

English, Mary Mrs., (Chenango Forks,) lot

39, farmer 50.

Ferguson, O. Clark, (Whitney's Point,) lot

202, farmer 100.

Filkins, George, (Chenango Forks,) far

mer.

Filkins, Jane Miss, (Chenango Forks,) toll
collector

Foote, John M., (Whitney's Point,) lot 284,
farmer 72.

Foote, Wm., (Castlo Creek,) lot 204, car
penter and farmer 131.

Ford, Nathan, (Whitney's Point,) lot 319,
farmer 175.

Fuller, Orlando C, (Whitney's Point,) lot

49, farmer 215.

Galloway, G. W., (Castle Creek,) lot 165,
farmer 120.

Gaylord, Aaron, (Castle Creek,) lot 165,
farmer 150.

Gaylord, Calvin H., (Whitney's Point,) lot

283, farmer 71.

Gaylord, Chas., (Whitney's Point,) lot 244,
farmer 80.

Gaylord, Elias, (Whitney's Point,) lot 244,
farmer 180.

Gaylord, Osborne, (Whitney's.Point,) lot

282, farmer 280.

Graves, Edward, (Castle Creek,) lot 204,
farmer 190.

Gray, Albert, (Chenango Forks,) lot 199,
farmer 58.

Gray, Ambrose, (Castle Creek,) lot 157, far
mer 200.

Gray, Harriet Mrs., (Castle Creek,) lot 164,
farmer 73.

Gray, Harvey, (Castle Creek,) lot 196, far
mer 120.

Gray, Hiram, (Whitney's Point,) lot 278,
farmer 10.

Gray, John, (Chenango Forks,) lot 200, far
mer 95,

Gray, Richard, (Chenango Forks,) lot 158,
farmer 130.

Green, Luke E., (Chenango Forks,) lot 40,
farmer 165.

Guernsey, Milo M., (Whitney's Point,) lot
361, sawyer and farmer 12.

Hagaman, John, (Chenango Forks,) (with

Maurice^ farmer, in Fenton, 72.
Hagaman, Maurice, (Chenango Forks,)

(with John,) farmer, in Fenton, 72.
Hagaman, M. & Son, (Chenango Forks,)

general merchants.

HALL, DAVID, (Chenango Forks,) lot 160,
farmer 260.

HANES, ROBERT T (Chenango Forks,)
horse shoeing and carriage ironing.

Hanes, Willhelmus M., (Chenango Forks,)
blacksmith.

Harrington & Crowell, (Chenango Forks,)
(Hamilton L. Crowell and Franklin

Harrington,) groceries, crockery and

hardware.

Harrington, Franklin, (Chenango Forks,)
(Harrington & Crowell.)

HARRINGTON, RUSSELL, (Whitney's

Point,) lot 320, farmer 300.

HARRINGTON, SALPHRONIUS H., A.
R,, M.p., (Chenango Forks,) druggist,

HA

physician and surgeon, and farmer 10.

TFIELD, WM., (Chenango Forks,) lot
201, farmer 230.

Hayes, Augustin, (Castle Creek,) lot 204,
farmer 50.

Hayes & Beach, (Whitney's Point,) (Elias
Hayes and Reach,) lot 279, farmer
70.

Carrington & Porter,
DlSre ln flrst-claM cook and

Parlor Stoves, Tinware, Ac.
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Hayes, Elias, (Whitney's Point,) (Hayes &
Beach.)

Hayes, Harriet Mrs., (Castle Creek,) lot

164, farmer 70.

Hayes, Jacob, (Castle Creek,) lot 164, far
mer 135.

Heath, Wm.,(Whitney's Point,) lot279, far
mer 15.

HAYWOOD, THOMAS Rev., (Chenango

Forks,) lot 67, pastor of Congregation
al Church.

Hill, John A., (Chenango Forks,) propri
etor of Tioughnioga House.

Hoadley, George, (Chenango Forks,) gene
ral merchant.

Hoag, John, (Triangle,) lot 38, farmer leas
es 140.

Holder, William, (Chenango Forks,) lot 67,
constable and carpenter.

Holland, Elijah D (Chenango Forks,) lot

240, farmer 74.

Holland, Elmira Mrs., (Whitney's Point,)
lot 362, farmer 25.

Holland, John, (Chenango Forks,) lot 162,
farmer leases of Lot Brown, 60.

Holland, Silas W., (Chenango Forks,) lot

241, fanner 100.

Holmes, Wm. H. (Castle Creek,) lot 195,
farmer 153.

Howard, Henry & Son, (Castle Creek,)
(Ira,) lot 166. farmer 70.

Howard Ira, (Castle Creek,) (Henry How

ard & Son.)
Hulslander, Samuel, (Whitney's Point,) lot

283, farmer leases of Edwin F. Hyde,
150.

Hurlbut, Chas. (Chenango Forks,) lot 203,
farmer leases ofHarry Lyon, 250.

Hurlbut, Chauucy L.,(Whitney's Point,) lot

74, farmer 420.

Hurlbut, Homer, (Chenango Forks,) lot 50,
farmer leases of Ch-iuncy L., 120.

Hyde, Chas. Jr., (Whitney's Point,) lot 277,
farmer 86.

Hyde, Chas. Sen., (Whitney's Point,) lot

283, farmer 220.

Hyde, Geo. (Whitney's Point,) lot 277, far
mer 260.

Jackson, William, (Chenango Forks,) lot

67, a^ent for patent medicines and toll

collector.

Johnson, Theodore, (Chenango Forks,) lot

54, farmer leases of Simon, 130.

King, Harry, (Chenango Forks,) lot 202,
assessor and farmer 70.

KINYON, JOHN W. (Chenango Forks,)
town assessor, hardware, crockery and
tin ware.

Kinyon, Jonathan, (Whitney's Point,) lot

73, farmer 136.

Kinyon, Milo, (Chenango Forks,) lot 54,
farmer leases 226.

Kinyon, Nathaniel Sen., (ChenangoForks,)
lot 49, farmer 70.

Kinyon, Thurston, (Chenango Forks,) lot

40. farmer 93.

Kirby, Wm., (Whitney's Point,) lot 361,
farmer 72.

Knapp, Asa, (Chenango Forks,) lot 163, far
mer 140.

Knapp. E. C, (Chenango Forks,) lot 199,
farmer leases 147.

Knapp, John, (Whitney's Point,) lot 332,
farmer 75.

Knapp, Richard, (Chenango Forks,) far

mer 20.

Knapp, Warren, (Chenango Forks,) lot 199,
farmer 147.

Lakey, Thomas R., (Chenango Forks,)
grocer.

Lamb, Darius N., (Castle Creek,) lot 166,
farmer 125.

Leach, Parley Mrs., (Whitney's Point,) lot

280, farmer 200.

Lincoln, Jed. D., (Chenango Forks,) lot 162,
farmer leases of H. L. Burroughs, 125.

LIVERMORE, BURR, (Chenango Forks,)
lot 67, boot and shoe maker.

Lord, Lyman, (Chenango Forks,) shoe

maker.

Lowell.Daniel, (Chenango Forks,) general
merchant.

Lull, Daniel, (Whitney's Point,) lot 238, far
mer leases of Asa Beach, 140.

Madison, Lewis, (Chenango Forks.) lot 281,
farmer leases ofMrs. Chester Eldridge,
100.

Marsh, Henry and Sarah, estate of, (Trian

gle,) lot 21, 110 acres.

Masten, James R., (Chenango Forks,) lot

62, farmer 108.

Meade, Alexander, (Whitney's Point,) lot

69, farmer 100.

Merrill, Almeron P. Rev., (Castle Creek,)
lot 238, Baptist clergyman and farmer

130.

Mix, Geo., (Chenango Forks,) lot 162, far
mer 100.

Morse, John S., (Triangle,) lot 36, farmer
150.

Murphy, Thos., (Whitney's Point,) lot 236,
farmer 70.

Murphy. Wm., (Whitney's Point,) lot 236,
farmer 60.

Murray, James, (Whitney's Point,) lot 360,
farmer 110.

Myrick, John, (Castle Creek,) lot 166, far

mer 50.

Newman, Isaac, (Whitney's Point,) lot 48,
farmer 250.

Ockerman, John W., (Chenango Forks,)
lot 65, farmer 100.

Owen, Daniel, (Chenango Forks,) lot 64, far
mer 72.

Page, Enoa, (Whitney's Point,) lot 320, far

mer 120.

Palmer, Jenkins, (Chenango Forks,) black
smith and, in Fenton, farmer 90.

Parsons. Alvah, (Chenango Forks,) (with

Benjamin B.,) farmer.

Parsons, Benjamin B., (Chenango Forks,)
(with Alvah,) farmer.

Parsons, Chauncy, (Chenango Forks,) lot

160, farmer 150.

Parsons, Horace W., (Whitney's Point,)
lot 359, farmer 330.

Parsons, Joseph S (Whitney's Point,) lot

860, supervisor, lumberman and farmer

250.

PEASE, ALONZO, (Whitney's Point.)

(Wm. Pease & Son,) lot 361, justice of

the peace and farmer 17.

Pease. Newell, (Whitney's Point,) lot 318,
farmer 200.

PEASE, WM., (Whitney's Point,) (\\m.

Pease A Son,) lot 822, farmer 149.

PEASE, WM. & SON. (Whitney's Point,)

(Alonzo,) lumbermen.

Iso Agents for HERRING'S SAFES, BINGHAMTON, N. Y. See

l advertisement on Map.
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Phelps, Baruch, (Triangle,) lot 87, carpen
ter and farmer 70.

Phelps, Orsemus, (Whitney's Point,) lot

284, farmer 55.

Phelps, Seth, (Triangle,) lot 21, farmer 80.
PORTER & BURROUGHS, (Chenango

Forks.) (Erastus B. Porter and Benja

min J. Burroughs,) produce commis

sion merchants and grocers.

PORTER, ERASTUS B., (Chenango

Forks,) (Porter & Burroughs.)
Porter, James H., (Chenango Forks,) mer

chant tailor.

Potter, Eugene, (Chenango Forks,) lot 49,
farmer 100.

Prince, David, (Chenango Forks,) lot 40,
farmer 106.

Prince, Samuel, (Chenango Forks,) lot 89,
farmer 76.

Puffer, Moses, (Castle Creek,) lot 164, far
mer 40 and leases 73.

Purdy, William E., (Chenango Forks,) lot

62, road commissioner and farmer 50.

Read, Thomas P., (ChenangoForks,) lot 50,
farmer leases of Niles Kinyon, 160.

Relyea, Selah O., (Chenango Forks,) lot 200,
farmer 70.

Remmelee, John J., (Whitney's Point,)
local M. E. preacher.

Reynolds, Peter, (Chenango Forks,) lot 53,
farmer 85.

Rich, John W., (Triangle,) farmer leases

450.

Rich, John W. Mrs., (Triangle,) lot 37, far
mer 150.

Rogers, Charles, (Whitney's Point,) lot 88,
farmer 134.

Rogers, George, (Chenango Forks,) lot 67,
farmer 200.

ROGERS, HENRY A., (Chenango Forks,)
postmaster and prop, of refreshment

room.

Rogers, John, (Chenango Forks,) (with

Simeon B.,) lot 67, farmer 75.
ROGERS JOHN B., (Chenango Forks,) (J.

B. Rogers & Co.,) (Rogers & Wheeler.)
ROGERS, J. B. & CO., (Chenango Forks,)
,.
dealers in and shippers of all kinds of

r:vproduce .

Rogers, Simeon B., (Chenango Forks,)
(with John,) lot 67, farmer 75.

Root, Myron S. (Whitney's Point,) lot 281,
farmer 100.

Rummer, Henry, (Castle Creek,) lot 196,
sawyer and farmer 30.

Shandley, Michael, (Whitney's Point.) lot

236, marble cutter and farmer 60.

Shattuck, David, (Chenango Forks,) lot 54,
farmer 140.

Sherwood, Isaac, (Chenango Forks,) lot 51,
farmer leases of Simon Strickland, 125.

Shevalier, Solomon, (Whitney's Point,) lot
236, farmer 74.

Shipman, Lawson, fWhitney's Point,) lot

320, justice of the peace and farmer 93,
Smith, Darius M., (Whitney's Point,) lot

284, farmer 70.

Smith, John, (Chenango Forks,) lot 53, far
mer 50.

Sparling, Henry, (Whitney's Point,) farmer
3.

Spendley, Zina A., (Chenango Forks,) alio.
physician.

Stickney, Franklin, (Whitney's Point,) lot

48, bridge builder and farmer 100.

Stiles, Simeon, (Whitney's Point,) lot 244,
farmer 100.

Stoddard, Angeline, (widow,) (Chenango

Forks,) lot -67, agent for sewing ma

chines and musical instruments.

Stoddard, Ebenezer, (Chenango Forks,) lot

162, farmer 25.

STODDARD, ISAAC T., (Chenango Forks,)
town clerk, notary public, general in

surance agent, &c.

Stoddard, Thomas, (Chenango Forks,) gro
cer and farmer 10.

Stoughton, Garritt V. H., (Whitney's

Point,) (G. V. H. Stoughton & Son,) lot
279, farmer 50.

Stoughton, Geo., (Whitney's Point,) (G. 7.
H. Stoughton & Son.)

Stoughton, G. V. H. & Son, (Whitney's

Point,) (Garritt V. H. and Geo.,) lot
279, farmer 150.

Stoughton, John, (Whitney's Point,) lot

279, farmer 78.

Stowell, Isaac R., (Triangle,) lot 21, farmer
leases ofAsa D. Leonard, 150.

Stowell, Oscar, (Castle Creek,) lot 166,
poor master and farmer 100.

Stowell, Sherman, (Triangle,) lot 22, car
penter and farmer 35.

Strickland, Uriah, (Chenango Forks,) lot 53,
carpenter and farmer 140.

SWEETLAND, ALVAN, (Triangle,) lot 22,
farmer 200. ;

Terwilliger, Harman B., (Triangle,) lot 21,
farmer 88.

Terwilliger, Harmon 8., (Chenango Forks,)
lot 62, farmer 50.

Terwilliger. Nelson, (Chenango Forks,) lot
85, farmer 95.

Terwilliger, William, (Whitney's Point,)
lot 74, farmer leases 140.

Thompson, Anson B., (Chenango Forks,)
lot 160, farmer 40.

Thurston, Ransom, (Whitney's Point,) lot
310, farmer 80.

Thurston, Thomas, (Chenango Forks,) lot
61, farmer 50.

Torry, A. Rev., (Chenango Forks,) lot 6,
farmer 285.

Walter, A. B., (Whitney's Point,) lot 384,
farmer 218.

Walter, Philo G., (Whitney's Point,) lot
358, farmer 121.

Weller, James E., (Chenango Forks,) lot
67, harness maker.

Wentworth, David F., (Whitney's Point,)
lot 320, farmer 15.

Westover, Dorus, (Whitney's Point,) lot

71, constable and farmer 187.

Whaley, Thomas, (Chenango Forks,) lot

67, farmer 10.

Wheeler, Cyrus, (Chenango Forks,) lot 67,
saw and grist mills.

White,'

Henry M., (Castle Creek,) lot 237,
sawyer, school teacher and farmer 60.

Wooster, James K., (Whitney's Point,)
(wit/i Moses,) lot 318, farmer 136.

Wooster, Moses, (Whitney's Point,) (with
James K.,) lot 318, farmer 136.

Wright, Reuben W., (Castle Creek,) lot

196, farmer leases of John Foote, 20.
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BINGHAMTON. (Town.)
(Post Office Addresses in Parentheses.)

ForDirectory ofSinghamton City, see Index to Business

Directory.

Abbreviations.B. P., Bingham's Patent; H. T., Hornby Tract: S. T., Sidney
Tract; C. P., Cooper's Patent; S. Ts., Sidney Township.

Aldrich, Henry, (Hawleyton,) lot 19, far
mer.

Aldrlch, Solomon, (Binghamton,) lot 3,
builder aud farmer 200.

Andrews, Peleg, (Binghamton,) carpenter,
Main.

Andrus, E. F., (Binghamton,) insurance

airent.

ARNOLD, C. V. Rev., (Hawleyton,) pastor
of M. E. Church.

Bacon, J. J., (Binghamton,) lot 3, farmer
20.

Badger, F. F., (Binghamton,) farmer 7,
Main.

Bailey, Oliver, (Binghamton,) lot 32, B. P.,
farmer 150.

Baird. Lewis, (Binghamton,) lot 17, B. P.,
farmer leases 121.

Baird, Lorenzo, (Binghamton,) lot 17, B.
P., carpenter and farmer 2.

BAKER, H. N., (Binghamton,) lot 2, in
ventor of

printing telegraph, electric

lamp, magnets and electric machines,
silver plater, gilder and farmer 78.

Balcom, George, (Hawleyton,) teacher.

Barnum, Zenus Jr., (Binghamton,) lot 27,
B. P., farmer 92.

Beach, David, (Binghamton,) lot 206, far
mer 85.

Beaty, Napoleon, (Port Dickinson,) miller.

Bedell, Ira, (Binghamton,) lot 198, farmer
7.

BEDELL, MARCUS, (Binghamton,) lot

80, C. P., farmer 32^.

Bedell, Seneca, (Binghamton,) lot 198, far
mer 5.

BEEBE, J. E., (Binghamton,) lot 10, B. P.,
farmer 166.

Bevier, C, (Port Dickinson,) broommanuf.

and carpenter.

Blair, Franklin, (Binghamton,) lot 198, far
mer 6.

Blanding, P. M. Mrs., (Hawleyton,) school
teacher.

Blanding, William, (Hawleyton,) lot 19,
cheese maker.

Bouren, Andrew, (Hawleyton,) lot 65, C.

P., pump and block maker and farmer

150.

Bowley, Henry, (Binghamton,) lot 180, far
mer 80.

Bradley, Dan. E., (Hawleyton,) lot 58, C.

P., .farmer 50.

Brady, Bartholomew, (Hawleyton,) lot 55,
C. P., farmer 50.

Brady, Michael, (Hawleyton,) lot 63, far
mer 50.

Bronson, Samuel, (Binghamton,) lot 12,
B. P., farmer 1.

Broome Co. Alms House, (Binghamton,)
lot 28, B. P., farm 130, M. B. Payne,
keeper.

Brown, L. H,, (Binghamton,) gardener and
farmer.

Brown, Levi J., (Binghamton,) lot 29, B.
P ., farmer leases 100.

BROWN, P. M., (Binghamton,) farmer 40.

Brown, Sallie Mrs., (Binghamton,) lot 3,
B. P., farmer 70.

Bump, Roswell, (Binghamton,) lot 2, B.

P., gardener, dealer in plants and far

mer 16.

Burbank, Geo. W., (Binghamton,) lot 33,
B. P., farmer 75.

Burlingame, Pardon T., (Binghamton,) lot

5, H. T., farmer 55.

Bush, S. W., (Binghamton,) chaplain of

New York State Inebriate Asylum.

Butler, Lewis, (Hawleyton,) lot 36, C. P.,
farmer leases 25.

Cadden, Philip, (Hawleyton,) prop, of

Union Hotel and farmer 243.

CADDIN, MICHAEL, (Hawleyton,) lot 57,
C. P., farmer leases 142.

Cafferty, Josiah, (Binghamton,) lot 3,
farmer.

Callan, Christie, (Hawleyton,) lot 19, far
mer 100.

Carman, Cornelius, (Binghamton,) lot 8,
S. Tsy farmer 50.

CARMAN, ISAAC W., (Binghamton,) lot

5, farmer 30 and leases of Thomas R.

Carman, 55.

CARMAN, JOSEPH, (Port Dickinson,)
lot 31, town assessor, milk dealer, gar
dener and farmer 270.

Carman, Stephen, (Binghamton,) lot 5,
farmer 200.

Carman, S. N., (Port Dickinson,) lot 31,
clerk for McKinney & Phelps and far

mer 15Q.

Carman, Thomas V., (Binghamton,) lot 36,
C. P., farmer leases 25.

CARR, A. L., (Binghamton,) (T. E. Carr

& Co.)
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CARR, T. E. & CO., (Binghamton,) (A. L.
Carr,) butchers, residence Clinton St.,

CARVER, JAMES, (Binghamton,) lot 12,
B. P., farmer 805 ; Mr. Carver has sev
eral farms for sale in the vicinity of

Binghamton, those wishing to pur

chase will do well to call.

Cary, Sturges, (Binglamton,) retired far
mer 30.

Cash, Stephen, (Binghamton,) lot 82, B. P.,
stone mason and farmer 5%.

Castle, George, (Binghamton,) lot 21, far
mer 200.

Champlin, P., (PortDickinson,) lot 6, B. P.,
painter.

Chapins, R. C, (Binghamton,) lot 17, B. P.,
farmer.

Chapman, John, (Hawleyton,) lot 24, far
mer 100.

Chase, Franklin N., (Binghamton,) lot 32,
B. P., painter and farmer 6.

Clapp, C. S. (Binghamton,) lot 11, B. P.,
farmer 136.

CLARK, CHAS, A., (Binghamton,) lot 2,
carpenter aud builder.

Clark, Otis, (Binghamton,) lot 3, farmer
leases 7.

CLINE, DANFORD B., (Hawleyton,) lot 68,
C. P., farmer leases of P. J. S. Coon,
111.

Cline, D. N. ^Hawleyton,) lot 71, C. P., car
penter and farmer 38.

Cline, Daniel N. (Hawleyton,) lot 71, C. P.,
farmer 40.

Cline. James L., (Hawleyton,) lot 54, C. P.,
farmer 200.

Cline, Wm. M., (Hawleyton,) lot 54, C. P.,
farmer.

COCKS, DAVID, (Binghamton,) lot 32, B.

P., gardener and farmer 37.

Congdon, Ezra, (Port Dickinson,) miller.

Congdon, Joel G., (Binghamton,) lot 201,
farmer 50.

CONKLIN, ELIAS, (Port Dickinson,) canal
collector and (with Wm. M. Temple,)
wagon ironing and jobbing.

CONKLIN, E. W., (Binghamton,) lot 31, B.

P., drover, jobber in seeds &c. and far

mer 152.

Conklin, Horace, (Binghamton,) lot 32, B.

P., farmer 50.

Connerty, Thomas, (Hawleyton,) lot 61, C.

P., farmer 163.

Coon, Asa, (Hawleyton,) lot 20, farmer 130.

Coon, DatuB J. W., (Hawleyton,) lot 59, C.

P., farmer 100.

COON, PETER J. S., (Hawleyton,) lot 19,
justice of the peace, notary public, car

penter and farmer 246.

COONRAD, WILLIAM A., (Binghamton,)
farmer 1.

Curran, James, (Binghamton,) shoe maker.

Curtis, Watson,(Binghamton,) lot 201,milk
dealer and farmer 142.

Cutler, J. W. (Binghamton,) lot 30, B. P.,
ice dealer and farmer 270.

Cutler, Philander,(Biijghamton,) (wilhWm.)
lot 31, B. P., ice dealer.

Cutler. P. E., (Binghamton,) lot 32, B. P.,
ic dcslcr.

Cutler. Wm., (Binghamton,) (with Philan

der,) lot 31, B. P., ice dealer.

Danforth, William, (Binghamton,) lot 3,
toll gate keeper and farmer 67.

Davis, Abram A., (Binahamton,) lot 200,
farmer 100.

Davis, Cornelius, (Binghamton,) (with Jas.

Q.,) farmer leases 100.

Davis, Isaac A., (Binghamton,) lot 179,
farmer 100.

Davis, James Q., (Binghamton,) (with Cor

nelius,) farmer leases 100.

Dean. Levi F., (Binghamton,) bridge build
er and gardener, Main.

Denison, B. A., (Binghamton,) farmer 6.

Dewey, Augustus T., (Binghamton,) lot 10,
S. Ts., town assessor and farmer 136.

DICKINSON, EDGAR, (Port Dickinson,)
(Dickinson & Hunt.)

DICKINSON & HUNT, (Port Dickinson,)
(Edgar Dickinson and Amos C. Hunt,)
manufs. of all kinds of whips.

Dickson, Luke, (Binghamton,) lot 3, B. P.,
farmer 30.

Didrick, Daniel, (Binghamton,) lot 199, far
mer 200.

Dings, John A., (Binghamton,) lot 8, far
mer 16.

Disbrow, Samuel, (Hawleyton,) lot 77, C.
P., farmer 20.

Dodge, D. G. Dr., (Binghamton,) supt. of
New York State Inebriate Asylum.

Dolan, Bernard, (Binghamton,) lot 15, C.
P., farmer 84.

DOONEN, CHARLES, (Hawleyton,) lot 36,
C. P., farmer 125.

Drake, Cornelius, (Binghamton,) lot 36,
C. P., farmer 50.

Drake, Elijah, (Hawleyton,) lot 51, farmer
80.

DRAKE, MORGAN, (Hawleyton,) lot 19,
farmer 103.

Drake, William T., (Hawleyton,) lot 51, C.
P., farmer 50.

Dutcher, George, (Binghamton,) engineer.

Edgcomb, Samuel A., (Binghamton,) lot 7,
farmer 144.

Edgcomb, Thomas, (Binghamton,) lot 30,
C. P., farmer 70.

Edgcomb, William H., (Binghamton,) lot

30, C. P., farmer 117.

Ellis, Levi, (Binghamton,) lot 14, farmer
105.

ELY, JOSEPH E. Hon., (Binghamton,)
farmer 80.

Ely, Marietta B. Mrs., (Binghamton,)
Sunny Side, farmer 70.

EVANS, ELIZABETH A. Mhs., (Bing
hamton,) lot 10, B. P., farmer 40.

Eyeretts, R., (Hawleyton,) lot 77, C. P.,
farmer 20.

FAIRCHILD, HENRYW., (Binghamton,)
gardener and farmer 7, Main.

Fairchild, Wm., (Binghamton,) gardener.
Finney, I. A., (Binghamton,} farmer 12,

Clinton St.

Finney, Richard, (Binghamton,) carpenter,
Clinton St.

FLEMING, LEONARD, (Binghamton,)
lot 11, B. P., farmer lease's 136.

Folmsbee, James, (Binghamton,) lot 1,8.

Ts., farmer 2.
Fonsby, James, (Binghamton,) lot 3, far

mer 2>.

Fosburgh, Henry, (Hawleyton,) lot 52, C.
P., farmer 4.

Carrington & Porter,
Dealers in first-class Cook and

Parlor Stoves, Tinware, &c.
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Fosburgh, Luman, (Hawleyton,) lot 52, C.
P., farmer 24.

FRANK, CHARLES, (Binghamton,) lot

32, B. P., farmer leases of H. F. Bron

son, 20.

French, Oliver, (Binghamton,) lot 15, far
mer 62.

GAFFNEY, JOHN, (Binghamton,) lot 23,
C. P., farmer 50.

Gaffney, Martin, (Binghamton,) lot 32, B.

P., farmer leases of Lewis Seymore,
120.

Gage, Asa, (Hawleyton,) lot 55, C. P., far
mer 60.

Gage, Asa, (Hawleyton,) carpenter.

Gage, Benjamin 8., (Hawleyton,) retired

farmer.

GAGE, EDWARD H., (Hawleyton,) lot 19,
sawyer.

Gage, Isaac G., (Hawleyton,) lot 20 , farmer.

Gage, Jesse, (Hawleyton,) lot 20, farmer
200.

Gage, Moses, (Binghamton,) lot 29, C. P.,
farmer 90.

GAGE, STEPHEN, (Hawleyton,) lot 63, C.

P., farmer leases of E. A. Meeker, 57.

GAGE, THEODORE H., (Hawleyton,) lot

19, postmaster, hop raiser and farmer

120.

Gahagan, Thomas, (Hawleyton,) lot 24,
farmer 150.

GAIGE, ANSEL H. (Binghamton,) lot 32,
B. P., gardener, fruit raiser and farmer
5.

Gale, A. C. (Binghamton,) lot 32, B. P.,
mechanic and farmer 3.

Gale, John, (Binghamton,) lot 15, C. P.,
farmer 53.

GARRISON, WARREN, (Binghamton,) lot
2, farmer.

Germon, Wm., (Port Dickinson,) carpen-

John, (Hawleyton,) lot 56, 0. P.,
farms estate of P. Giblin, 100.

Graves, Wm., (Binghamton,) lot 34, B. P.,
farmer 20.

Green, Charles, (Binghamton,) lot 2, B. P.,
gardener.

GREEN,WILLIAM, (Port Dickinson,) far
mer.

HALLSTEAD, W. B., (Binghamton,) over
seer of D. L. & W. R. Binghamton

Bridge.

HAMILTON, AUGUSTUS, (Binghamton,)
lot 11, C. P., farmer 200.

Harder, Jacob, (Binghamton,) lot 198, far
mer 12.

Harding, A. W., (Hawleyton,) lot 20, black
smith and farmer 26.

Harmon, O., (Binghamton,) surveyor and

carpenter, Brown.

HASKINS, HENRY, (Binghamton,) gar

dener, fruit dealer and farmer 30.

Hauver, Wm. A. Mrs. (Binghamton,) lot 27,
B. P., farmer 62.

Hemstrought, Leonard, (Binghamton,) far
mer leases 80.

Hoadley, Jerry N., (Binghamton,) lot 32, B.

P., farmer 12.

Holmes, Frederick A., (Binghamton,) lot 9,
B. P., farmer 90.

Holmes, Seth, (Binghamton,) (Ogden &

Holmes.)

Holmes W. S., (Binghamton,) lot 2, B. P.,
gardener.

HOLT, J. N.,(PortDickinson,) butcher and
farmer 36.

Holt, Walter M., (Binghamton,) lot 3, B.
P., butcher.

Hooper, A., (Binghamton,) lot 33, B. P.,
farmer 52.

House, Royal E. Prof. (Binghamton.) in

ventor of printing telegraph and far
mer 92.

Howard, Samuel, (Binghamton,) lot 17, B.
P., farmer 200.

Howell,Walter, (Binghamton,) lot 8, 8. Ts.,
farmer leases 109.

Hulbert, Newton M., (Binghamton,) lot 32,
B. P., farmer 40.

Humphrey, Joseph, (Binghamton,) lot 3,
farmer 53 and leases of John Lock-

wood, 90.

HUNT, AMOS C, (Port Dickinson,)
(Dickinson & Hunt.)

Hurlbut, LeRoy, (Binghamton,) lot 32, B.

P., farmer 30.

Jarvis, Wm. A., (Binghamton,) lot 14, C.

P., farmer 63.

Jaycox, Ebenezer, (Hawleyton,) lot 20,
farmer 25.

Jaycox, Henry L., (Hawleyton,) lot 19, far
mer 50.

Jaycox, Henry W., (Hawleyton,) lot 20,

apiarian, hop raiser and farmer 50.

JEWELL, G. A., (Port Dickinson,) (C. P.

Jewell & Son,) postmaster, town clerk

and agent for Peloubt, Pelton & Co's

standard organs.

JEWELL, C. P. & SON, (Port Dickinson,)
(G. A.,) dry goods, groceries, boots,
shoes, &c, also props, of National

Hotel.

JONES, M. L., (Port Dickinson,) school

teacher and clerk for canal collector.

Keator, George N., (Hawleyton,) prop, of

Six Mile House.

Kelley, Wm. H., (Binghamton,) captain of

whaling vessel.

Kent, A. F., (Port Dickinson,) milk ped
dler.

KIRBY, HENRY M., (Binghamton,) far

mer leases of Mrs. Charlotte Moeller,
200.

Langdon, Calvin, (Port Dickinson,) lot 6,
B. P., farmer 7.

Lawrence, Benjamin, (Binghamton,) (Law

rence & Waldron.)
Lawrence &Waldron, (Binghamton,) (Ben

jamin Lawrence and Jacob V. A. Wal

dron,) lot 10, S. Ts., lumber manufs.

and dealers, and farmers 280.

Layton, Smith, (Binghamton,) lot 8, far

mer leases ofO. H. Chalker, 22.

Lee, Edwin, (Port Dickinson,) boatman.

Lee, Josiah, (Port Dickinson, ^peculator.

Livermore, I. B., (Binghamton,) lot 32, B.

P., farmer 35.

Lockland, Thomas, (Binghamton,) lot 8, S.

Ts., farmer 165.

Matthews, A. C, (Binghamton,) farmer 35.

Matthews, E. F., (Binghamton,) farmer 70.

McCarty, Patrick, (Binghamton,) lot 2, B.

P., farmer.
McCloud, Ralph, (Binghamton,) lot 30, C.

| P., farmer leases 100.

lso Agents for HERRING'S SAFES, BINGHAMTON, N. Y. See

advertisement on Map.



204 BROOME COUNTY BUSINESS DIRECTORY.

IF YOU WANT YOUR MONEY'S WORTH, BUY OF

ROYAL * RENNIE,
(SUCCESSORS TO GEO. M. HARRIS,)

DEALERS IN

HARDWARE,
AND

House Furnishing Goods.
Nails, Iron, Bent Stuff, Belt

ing, and all kinds of

Tin Ware, &c, &c.
ROOFING AND JOBBING

Promptly done and Satisfaction Guaran
teed.

No. 38 COURT STREET,

Binghamtoii, IV. Y.
ROBT. F. ROYAL. | W. I.

Oliver W. Sears,

Book & News
DEPOT,

STREET,

56 COURT 56

Binghamton.

Books, Stationery
AND

News Room,

A Full Line of

WALL PAPER.

JFIJYESTATIOJYEftT

A Specialty.

Headquarters for !Base

Sail and Croquet

Goods.
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C, (Binghamton,) (Mills &

C, (Binghamton,) mason,

MoGRAW, D,

McGraw.)
Mclvor, Wm.

Main.

McKeeby, George, (Binghamton,) farmer

leases 25.

McKeeby, MarthaMrs., (Binghamton,) far
mer 25.

MEAKER, ANDREW, (Hawleyton,) lot 70,
C. P., farmer 6 and leases 63.

Meeker, Alpheus, (Hawleyton,) lot 71, C.

P., farmer 80.

Meeker, Andrew, (Hawleyton,) lot 77, C.

P., farmer 50.

MEEKER, CHARLES J., (Binghamton,)
C. P., farmer 128.

MEEKER, ELI S., (Hawleyton,) lot 19,

carpenter, lumber manuf. and farmer

64.

MEEKER, LORENZO D., (Hawleyton,)
lot 20, farmer 75.

MEEKER, SAMUEL, (Hawleyton,) lot 70,
P P farmGr 63

MERRILL, H. (Binghamton,) lot 2,
farmer leases of I. L. Bartlett, 110.

Milk, Benjamin B., (Hawleyton,) lot 20,
wool carder and farmer 50.

Milk, David, (Hawleyton,) lot 24, farmer
50.

*MILLS & MoGRAW, (Binghamton,)
(M. H.Mills andD. C.McGraw,) props.

River Side Gardens, half a mile east of
water works, producers and dealers in

choice flowers and vegetable seeds,

also greenhouse plants, ornamental

shrubbery and trees, fruit trees and

small fruits.

MILLS, M. H., (Binghamton,) {Mills &

McGraw.)
Moore, Charles F., (Binghamton,) lot 17,

B. P., farmer 1 and leases of John

Moore, 200.

Morey, Giles, (Binghamton,) lot 8, S. Ts.,
farmer 100.

Morris, John, (Binghamton,) lot 8, S. Ts.,
stone quarry and farmer 15.

MOSES, JOHN, (Hawleyton,) lot 19, saw
yer and farmer 103%..

Mosher, Henry, (Hawleyton.)wagonmaker.

Murphy, Michael, (Binghamton,) farmer 40.

Nash, A. B., (PortDickinson,) carpenter.

Nash, D., (Port Dickinson,) lot 6, B. P.,
carpenter.

NATIONAL HOTEL, (Port Dickinson,)
C. P. Jewell & Son, props.

New York State Inebriate Asylum, (Bing
hamton,) Dr. D. G, Dodge, supt. ; Car

rol Hyde, secretary; S. W. Bush, chap
lain.

NORTON, ELIHTJ, (Binghamton,) stock

dealer and builder.

O'BRIEN, JAMES, (Binghamton,) canal

grocery.

Ogden, Charles, (Binghamton,) overseer of

Port Dickinson PaperMill.

Ogden, Henry B., (Binghamton,) (Ogden &

Holmes.) ,

Ogden & Holmes, (Binghamton,) (Henry B.

Ogden and Seth Holmes,)brick manufs.

Olds, Erastus H., (Binghamton,) lot 27, B.

P., farmer leases 62. .,..
Ostrander, Jared, (Hawleyton,) lot 20, far

mer leases of Lorenzo D. Meeker, 75.

Page, Henry, (Binghamton,) lot 33, B. P.,
farmer 35.

Parker, Uriah, (Binghamton,) lot 32, B. P.,
farmer 40.

Parsons, Charles N., (Hawleyton,) lot 19,
farmer.

Parsons, Samuel W., (Hawleyton,) lot 19,
farmer 75.

Payne, A. R., (Binghamton,) supt. Susque-
hanna Valley Home.

Payne, A. R. Mrs., (Binghamton,) matron
Susquehanna Valley Home.

Payne, JohnF., (Binghamton,) lot 12, B. P.,
farmer 20.

Payne, L. J., (Binghamton,) agent and far

mer 9.

PAYNE, M. B., (Binghamton,) lot 28, B. P.,
keeper ofBroome Co. Alms House.

Place, Andrew, (Binghamton,) lot 3, farmer
50.

PLATT, ANDREW, (Hawleyton,) (with

Henry,) lot 37, C. P., farmer leases of

"FVfLiirr Picrop fi^5

PLATT, HENRY, (Hawleyton,) (with An

drew,) lot 37, C. P., farmer leases of
Frank Pierce, 63.

PRENTICE, ELIAS, (Hawleyton,) lot 19,
teamster and farmer 5.

PRENTICE, HARVEY L., (Hawleyton,)
lot 19, farmer 11&.

Prentice, Wm. M., (Binghamton,) lot 8,
farmer 53.

Presson, Joseph G., (Binghamton,) lot 12,
C. P., farmer 74.

Richards, Ezra, (Binghamton,) farmer 175.

Rider, L., (Binghamton,) teamster and far
mer 25.

?RIVER SIDE GARDENS, (Binghamton,)
half a mile east of water works, Mills

& McGraw, props., producers and

dealers in choice flowers and vegetable

seeds, also greenhouse plants, orna

mental shrubbery and trees, fruit trees
and small fruits. .

ROBERTS, E. W., (Port Dickinson,) lot 6,
farmer and (with Wm. H. and John

W.,) owns trout pond.

ROBERTS, JOHN "W., (Port Dickinson,)
(with Wm. H. and E. W.,) owns trout

pond.

ROBERTS, WM. H., (Port Dickinson,)
lot 6, farmer 2} and (with E. W. and

John W.,) owns trout pond.

ROCKWELL, M. C, (Binghamton,) direc
tor of Washington and Asylum Street

Rail Road and farmer 42.

Ronk, C, (Binghamton,) lot 13, C. P., far
mer 75.

Rose, L. A., (Binghamton,) carpenter.

Rosencrance, Charles, (Binghamton,) lot

28, 0. P., farmer leases 50.

Rowley, Nathaniel, (Hawleyton,) lot 39,
farmer 200.

Rowley, Timothy T., (Hawleyton,) lot 20,
farmer 110.

Rozell, Joshua, (Binghamton,) lot 181, far

mer 150.
,

Rulofson, John W., (Hawleyton,) lot 77, C.

P., farmer 70. .,.,-, ^

Sanford, Dudley, (Hawleyton,) (with Fred

erick,) lot 53, farmer 200.

Sanford, Frederick, (Hawleyton,) lot 53,
(with Dudley,) farmer 200.
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Saulsbury, George, (Hawleyton,) lot 67. C.
P., farmer leases ofWesley Cline, 15.

Scoville, Henry, (Port Dickinson,) lot 3, B.
P., farmer.

Settle, Andrew, (Binghamton,) mason,
Main.

Shear, Jacob D., (Binghamton,) lot 198,
carpenter and farmer 33.

Sherman, David, (Hawleyton,) lot 19, far
mer 27.

Sherwood, George, (Binghamton,) lot 1, S.
Ts., farmer 118.

Shippey, Daniel, (Binghamton,) lot 15, far
mer 98.

SMITH, ERASTUS W., (Binghamton,) lot
35, B. P., farmer 130.

Smith, Wm., (Binghamton,) lot 8, S. Ts.,
farmer leases of Mrs. Jane Sester, 115.

Smithers, Michael, (Binghamton,) shoe

maker, foot ofClinton.

Soule. Caleb N., (Hawleyton,) lot 58, C.
P., farmer 60.

Spafford, Charles, (Hawleytom,) lot 70, C.
P., farmer 28.

SPRAGUE, CHARLES R., (Binghamton,)
lot 27, B. P., milk dealer and farmer

140.

STAGE, CHAUNCEY T., (Binghamton,)
gardener and dealer in vegetables,

plants, trees &c, Cary.

Stephens, Daniel, (Binghamton,) lot 27, C.

P., farmer 105.

Stephens, John, (Biughamton,) lot 12, 8.

Ts., farmer 2.

Sternbergh, E., (Binghamton,) lot 4, far
mer 50.

Stever, H., (PortDickinson,) stage driver.

Stiger, Joseph, (Binghamton,) lot 10, B. P.,
farmer leases 40.

Stone, Archibald, (Binghamton,) lot 3, S.

T., farmer 25.
STONE. FREDERICK W., (Binghamton,)

lot 2, commissioner of highways and

farmer 3%.

STONE, W. S., (Binghamton,) lot 3, S.-T.,
farmer 200, leases of Archibald Stone,
25 and of Jas. Munsel, 140.

Stow, E. S., (PortDickinson,) whipmanuf.

Stow, George, (Port Dickinson,) lot 3, B.

P., stock dealer and farmer 250.

Stow, Nelson, (Port Dickinson,) real estate
dealer.

Strait, Samuel, (Hawleyton,) lot 19, shingle
manuf.

Stringham, Smith, (Port Dickinson,) shoe
maker.

Stroughtenburg, Oscar, (Binghamton,) car
penter.

Susquehanna Valley Home, (Binghamton,)
A. R. Payne, supt. ; Mrs. A. R. Payne,
matron.

Swan, George P., (Binghamton,) farmer 17.

TAMKINS, JAMES, (Binghamton,) lot 2,
carpenter and joiner.

Taylor, Allen, (Binghamton,) cooper and
farmer.

TEMPLE, WM. M., (Port Dickinson,)
(with Elias Conklin,) wagon ironing
and jobbing.

Thompson, W. A., (Binghamton,) lot 12,
B. P., farmer 200.

TIERS, JOHN, (Binghamton,) wagon

maker and repairer, and justice of the

peace.

Townsend, George, (Binghamton,) lot 181,
farmer 10.

Tripp, Abial, (Hawleyton,) lot 64, C. P.,
.(with James H.,) farmer 100.

TRIPP, JAMES H.. (Hawleyton,) lot 64,
C. P., (withAbial,) farmer 100.

Tripp, Solomon, (Hawleyton,) lot 62, C. P.,
farmer 41.

TRUESDELL, EMORY, (Binghamton,)
real estate dealer and farmer 50.

Unkenholz, Frederick, (Binghamton,) lot

17, B. P., farmer leases 60.
Van Valkenburg, James, (Binghamton,) lot

32, B. P., farmer 75.

VAN WAGONER, EDWARD, (Bingham

ton,) groceries, provisions &c, foot of

Clinton.

Van Wagoner, Wm., (Binghamton,) farmer
3, end Clinton.

VERGASON, HIRAM K., (Hawleytot,) lot

19, millwright, lumber manuf. and far

mer 73.

Wagner, Philip, (Binghamton,) lot 3, far
mer 84.

Wagoner,Andrew,(Binghamton,) teamster.

Waldron, Jacob, V. A., (Binghamton,)
(Lawrence& Waldron.)

Warner, J. D., (Binghamton,) farmer 1.

Webb, David, (Hawleyton,) lot 19, farmer

Wells, John J. (Binghamton,) lot 32, B. P.,
gardener and farmer 10.

Whalen, Michael, (Binghamton,) lot 8, far
mer 25.

Whitaker, Sylvester S., (Binghamton,) lot

5, H. T., milk dealer and farmer 270>.

WHITFORD, CHESTER G., (Bingham

ton,) grocer and harness maker at

Ashery Corners, 2)4 miles north-west

of city.

Whitmore, James, (Binghamton,) butcher,
foot of Clinton.

Whitney, Henry J. , (Binghamton ,) gymnast.

WHITNEY, RUFUS P.. (Binghamton,) lot

83, B. P., farmer leases 100.
Whitney,, Washington, (Binghamton,) lot

33, B. P., farmer 100.

WHITNEY, WILLIAM, (Binghamton,) lot

13, town supervisor and farmer 120.

WDDERMAN, M. H., (Binghamton,) lot 2,
B. P., farmer leasos of John A. Collier,
100.

Wilbur, Abram T., (Hawleyton,) lot 67, C.

P., farmer 50.

Wilbur, Hiram L., (Hawleyton,) lot 60, C.
P., farmer leases 152.

Wilbur, Joseph, (Hawleyton,) lot 75, C. P.,
farmer 85.

Wilcox, P. Rev. (Port Dickinson,) pastor
M. E. Church.

Williams, J. O., (Hawleyton,) blacksmith.
Wilson, Daniel, (Binghamton,) milk dealer

and farmer 17 .

Wilson,Wm. Y., (Binghamton,) cartman.
Woolsey, Edgar, (Binghamton,) lot 4, paint

er and farmer 70.

Wright, Erastus, (Binghamton,) lot 8, far
mer 70.

Yagar, Adam, (Binghamton,) farmer 4.
Youngs,Wm., (Binghamton,) boatman.
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oi:H2:Kr^:Krc3r-o.

(Post Office Addresses in Parentheses.)

Abbreviations.G. D. B. P., Grand Division of the Boston Purchase ; S. D. B. P.,
Small Division of the Boston Purchase.

Aitchison, John, (Binghamton,) lot 121, S.
D. B. P., farmer 100.

Aitchison, Thos., (Binghamton,) lot 121, S.
D. B. P., (with John,) farmer 100.

Aitchison, Thos. W., (Binghamton,) lot
162, S. D. B. P., farmer 50.

Alderman, Bradley J., (Castle Creek,) lot

117, G. D. B. P., farmer 90.
'

Alderman, Israel P., (Castle Creek,) lot 77,
G. D. B. P., lumberman and farmer 152.

ALLEN, LEWIS, (Castle Creek,) (Judd &

Allen.)
ALLEN, SOLOMON P., (Castle Creek,)

alio, physician and surgeon.

Bacon, Almira Mrs., (Chenango Bridge,)
lot 35, 8. D. B. P., tailoress.

Bacon, Norman, (Port Crane,) lot 9, S. D.
B. P., constable and peddler.

Bacon, Willard, (Glen Castle,) lot 4, G. D.
B. P., farmer 14.

Barton, Bradford, (Castle Creek,) lot 118,
G. D. B. P., farmer 16.

Barton, Edward B., (Castle Creek,) prop.
Temperance Hotel.

BISHOP, HENRY T (Kattelville,) lot 40,
S. D. B. P., (with SamuelE.,) farmer.

BISHOP, SAMUEL H., (Kattelville,) lot

40, S. D. B. P., farmer 68.
Black, Ransom, (Binghamton,) lot 23, S.

D. B. P., stock broker and wool dealer.
Blair, A. Edson, (Castle Creek,) lot 123, G.

D. B. P., town assessor and farmer 155.

Blair, Willis A., (Castle Creek,) lot 44, G.
D. B. P., carpenter and farmer 60.

Booth, Larry D., (Chenango Bridge,) lot 16,
S.tD. B. P., wagon maker and farmer

53.

Booth, Sylvester, (Glen Castle,) lot 104, S.
D. B. P., cooper and farmer 60.

Bowen, Geo. S., (Castle Creek,) lot 124,
G. D. B. P., carpenter and farmer 16.

Bowen. Julius D., (Castle Creek,) lot 124,
G. D. B. P., (with Geo. S..) farmer 16.

Brigham, Nathan W., (Castle Creek,) lot

76, G. D. B. P., farmer 150.

Bristol, James, (Castle Creek,) (J. Bristol
& Son,) postmaster.

Bristol, J. & Son, (Castle Creek,) (James

and Wm. E.,) general merchants and

lumber dealers.

Bristol, Wm. H., (Castle Creek,) (J. Bristol
& Son,) farmer 50.

BROOKS, ALFRED, (Castle Creek,) lot 75,
G. D. B. P., farmer 70.

BROOKS, ALFRED W., (Kattelville,)
(Brooks & Palmer,) lot 3, G. D. B. P.,
farmer 62.

Brooks, Franklin, (Castle Creek,) lot 77,
G. D. B. P., school teacher, carpenter
and farmer 23.

Brooks, Geo. M., (West Chenango,) lot 36,
G. D. B. P., constable and farmer 6%.

Brooks, Norman H., (Glen Castle,) lot 36,
G. D. B. P., farmer 50.

BROOKS & PALMER, (Kattelville.) (Al
fred W. Brooks and Lockwood E. Pal

mer,) general agents Nixon's Double

Shovel Plow.

Brooks, Samuel D., (Castle Creek,) lot 75,
G. D. B. P., farmer 70.

Brown, Chas. (Chenango Bridge,) lot 10, S.
D. B. P. farmer 40.

BROWN, JAMES, (Chenango Forks,)
drover and farmer.

Bullock, Joseph, (Kattelville,) lot 40, S.D.
B. P., farmer 15.

BULLOCK, MARTIN H., M. D., (Kattel

ville,) physician and surgeon.

Burr, Almond, (Castle Creek,) iot85, G. D.

B. P., farmer 34.

Burroughs, Jacob, (Castle Creek,) carpen

ter and farmer 2.

Byers, RobertW., (Binghamton,) lot 165, S.

D. B. P., farmer 136.

Callan, Patrick, (Binghamton,) lot 107, S.

D. B. P., farmer 100.

Carroll John, (Kattelville,) lot 38, S. D. B.

P., farmer 51.

Cary, Walter, (Glen Castle,) lot 64, S. D. B.

P., supervisor and farmer 96.

CLARK BROS., (Kattelville,) (Corydon,

Sydney L., Philo A., Oscar E. and Ira

0.,) lot 5, S. D. B. P., farmer 152.

CLARK, CORYDON, (Kattelville,). (Clark

Bros.)
CLARK, IRA O., (Kattelville,) (Clark

Bros.)
CLARK, OSCAR E., (Kattelville,) (Clark

Bros.)
CLARK, PHILO A., (Kattelville,) (Clark

Bros.)
CLARK, SYDNEYL., (Kattelville,) (Clark

Bros.)
Cloyes, Orren M., (Glen Castle.) lot 96, S.

D. B. P., saw and grist mills.

COLE, JESSE, (Kattelville,) lot 72, S. D.

B. P., farmer 120.

COLE, JOHN, (Chenango Forks,) batcher.

Cole, Samuel C, (Chenango Forks,) lot 122,
G. D. B. P., farmer 75.

Collins, Adelbert, (Binghamton,) lot 128, S.

D. B. P., (with Chas.,) farmer.
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Collins, Chas., (Binghamton,) lot 128, S. D.
B. P.. breeder of Hambletonian stock

and farmer 95.

Congdon, Nathaniel, (Castle Creek,) re

tired farmer.

Conklin, Azariah, (Chenango Forks,) lot
119, G. D. B. P., farmer 62.

Cook, Daniel, (Castle Creek,) (J. D. Cook
&Bros.)

Cook, John D., (Castle Creek,) (J. D. Cook
SBros.)

Cook, J. D. & Bros., (Castle Creek,) (John

D., Titus D. and Daniel,) lot 87, G. D.
B. P., farmerl85.

Cook, Titus D., (Castle Creek,) (J. D. Cook
& Bros.)

Cooley, Daniel O., (Binghamton,) lot 21, S.
D. B. P., lumberman and farmer 100.

Cooley, Wm., (Binghamton,) lot 20, S. D.
,B. P., lumberman and farmer 278.

Cowan, Thos. L., (Chenango Bridge,) lot 7,
S. D. B. P.. farmer 50.

Cunningham. John, (Castle Creek,) lot 44,
G. D. B. P., fruit grower and farmer 19.

DAYTON, MARCUS M., (Castle Creek,)
prop, stage route between Castle Creek

and Binghamton, constable, town col

lector and farmer 12.

Dewey, Wallace P., (Castle Creek,) lot 118,
G. D. B. P., farmer 57.

DeWitt, Henry, (Chenango Bridge,) lot 13,
S. D. B. P., farmer 50.

DeWitt, Noah S. Rev. (Castle Creek,) pas
tor M. E. Church.

Dimmick, Smith S., (Chenango Bridge,)
lot 16. S. D. B. P., farmer 1.

Dorman, Jerome, (Glen Castle,) lot 95, S.
D.B. P., butcher.

Dutcher, Aaron, (ChenangoBridge,) lot 16,
S. D. B. P., farmer leases of Mrs. Par

sons, 60.

Eaton, Samuel B.. (Castle Creek,) lot 115,
G. D. B. P., farmer 2.

Ellison, DeWitt, Chenango Forks, (with

Wm.,) lotll9, G. D. B. P., farmer.
Ellison. Wm. (Chenango Forks,) lot 119, G.

D. B. P., farmer 127.

EMENS, ISAAC, (Castle Creek,) breeder of
fine dairy stock, dairy and farmer 227.

English Geo., (Chenango Forks,) black

smith.

EVERETT, GEO. A., (Glen Castle,) lot

96, S. D. B. P., postmaster, butcher and
farmer 2,J.

Everett, Henry C, (Castle Creek,) black

smith.

EVERETT. NEWTON F., (Chenango

Bridge,) lot 12, S. D. B. P., town asses
sor and farmer 125.

Fitzgerald, Richard, (Kattelville,) lot 3, G.
D. B. P., farmer 35.

French, Carson, (Glen Castle,) lot 124, S.
D. B. P., (with Ebenezer 3.) farmer.

French, Ebenezer S., (Glen Castle,) lot 124,
S. D. B. P., farmer 165.

French, Franklin, (Glen Castle,) lot 103, S.
D. B. P., farmer 51.

French, Ira, (Castle Creek,) lot 44, G. D. B.

P., farmer 110.

Frier, Phoebe A. Mrs., (Chenango Bridge,)
lot 73, S. D. B. P., farmer 130.

Frier, Washington, (Chenango Bridge,) lot

66, S. D. B. P., farmer 106.

Gates, Adin V., (Glen Castle,) lot 94, S. D.
B. P., farmer leases of W. & B. Nim

mons, 106.

GAYLORD, JAMES, (Castle Creek,) lot

84, G. D. B. P., farmer 148.

Gibson. MontilloH., (Glen Castle,) lot 77,
S. D. B. P., farmer 92.

Gilmore, John I,., (Kattelville,) lot 70, S.
D. B. P., farmer 2.

GOODSPEED, OLIVER M., (Castle

Creek,) carriage maker, carpenter and

joiner.

GOODSPEED, PHILARMAN, (Castle

Creek,) lot 117, G. D. B. P., farmer 100.
GOTHIC HOUSE, (Chenango Forks,) Nor

man 8. Kinyon, prop.
Gray, Eli, (Chenango Forks,) lot 80, G. D.

B. P., farmer leases of Geo. Port.
Gray, Richard C, (Castle Creek,) lot 124,

G. D. B. P., farmer 20.
Greengard, Isaac, (Kattelville,) grocer.
Haight, Lewis, (Glen Castle,) lot 37, G. D.

B.P., farmer 91.
Hall, A. Martin, (West Chenango,) lot 35,

G. D. B. P., postmaster and farmer 62.

Hall, Henry, (Chenango Bridge,) lot 98, 8.
D. B. P., (with James,) farmer 93.

Hall, James, (Chenango Bridge,) lot 98, S.
D. B. P., farmer 93.

HALL, SETH S., (West Chenango,) lot 86,
G. D. B. P., carpenter and joiner, and
farmer leases ofA. Palmer, 125.

Hand, Newton B., (West Chenango,) lot 75,
G. D.B. P., farmer 60.

Handy, Asher, (Kattelville,) (with Joseph,)
farmer.

Handy, Joseph, (Kattelville,) lot 70, S. D.
B. P., farmer 81.

Harper, Phena Mrs., (Chenango Bridge,)
lot 16, S. D. B. P., farmer 44.

Harris, Lyman, (Binghamton,) lot 24, S. D.
B. P., farmer 19.

Harvey, Newman, (Chenango Bridge,)
lot"

35, S. D. B. P., farmer 106.
Hasbrouck, Deyo, (Binghamton,) lot 23, S.

D. B. P., farmer 2.
Hatch, Sylvanus, (Kattelville,) lot 99, S. D.

B. P., farmer 72.
Hauver, Jeremiah, (Binghamton.) lot 24,

S. D.B. P., farmer 13.

HAWKES, DEXTER, (Glen Castle,) lot 93,
S.D.B. P. .

Hawks, Elihu S., (Castle Creek,) lot 84, G.
D. B. P., farmer 200.

Heath, Chas. A., (Kattelville,) lot 1, G. D.
B. P/, (with Edward.) farmer 80.

Heath, Edward, (Kattelville,) lotl,G. D.
B. P., farmer 80.

Heath, Frederick M., (Kattelville,) lot 40,
G. D. B. P., farmer 1#.

Heller, Calvin B., (Castle Creek,) lot 45, G.
D. B. P., town assessor and farmer 195.

Hinman, Chas., (ChenangoBridge,) lot 19,
S. D. B. P., farmer 409.

Hodges, Joseph, (Chenango Bridge,) lot

14, S. D. B. P., farmer 113.
Holt, David, (Kattelville,) lot 66, S. D. B.

P., farmer 8.
Howard, Isaac, (Glen Castle,) lot 5, G. D.

B. P., farmer 150.
Ingraham, Austin S., (Chenango Forks,)

lot 82, G. D. B. P., farmer leases of
Mrs. Robert Collins, 155.
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Jewell, Chas. H. Rev. (Chenango Bridge,)
postmaster.

Jewell, Walter, (Chenango Bridge,) lot 16,
S. D. B. P., overseer of the poor and

farmer 105. ;

Johnson, Chas. H., (Binghamton,) lot 23, 8.
D. B. P., (with Orville D.,) farmer.

Johnson, Ezra, (Glen Castle,) lot 95, S. D.
B. P., farmer 40.

Johnson, Geo., (Binghamton,) lot 26, S. D.
B. P., farmer 240.

Johnson, Hermon, (Binghamton,) lot 26, S.
D. B. P., (with Geo.,) farmer.

Johnson Joseph, (West Chenango,) lot 36,
G. D. B. P., saw mill and farmer 68.

Johnson, Joseph P., (Chenango Forks,)
grocer.

Johnson, Leonard, (Glen Castle,) (Belcher

& Johnson,) lot 5, G. D. B. P., farmer
228.

Johubon, Orville D., (Binghamton,) lot 23,
8. D.B. P., farmer 96.

Johnson, Samuel, (Glen Castle,) lot 5, G.

D. B. P., thrashing machine and farmer
50.

Johnson, Wm. B.. (Binghamton,) lot 23, S.

D. B. P., (with Orville D.,) mechanic

and farmer.

JUDD & ALLEN, (Caatle Creek,) (Samuel

E. Judd and Lewis Allen,) props, steam
saw mill and dealers in all kinds of

lumber.

JUDD, SAMUEL E., (Castle Creek,) (Judd
& Allen.)

JUDD, SAMUEL,H.. (Castle Creek,)
lot 43, S. D. B. P., (with Sylvanus,) far
mer.

JUDD, SYLVANUS, (Castle Creek,)
lot 43, 8. D. B. P., salesman of live

stock in New York City, real estate
broker and farmer 250.

KATTELL, ALONZO E., (Kattelville,) lot

1, G. D. B. P., post master and farmer

215.

KEELER, DAVID T., (Chenango Bridge,)
(Sprague & Keeler.)

Keeler, Herod M., (Chenango Bridge,) lot

9, S. D. B. P., farmer 50.

Keeler, Revilo, (Chenango Bridge,) 'lot 13,
S. D. B. P., farmer 215.

KEELER, SAMUEL M., (Chenango

Bridge,) dealer in general merchandise.
King, Geo. R., (Chenango Forks,) (H. King

&, Son.)
King, Hiram, (Chenango Forks,) (H. King

& Son,) justice of the peace.

King, H. & Son, (ChenangoForks,) (Hiram
and Geo. R.,) general merchants and

dealers in hides, skins &c.

KINYON, NORMAN 8., (Chenango

Forks,) prop. Gothic House.

Knapp, John S., (Castle Creek,) lot 4, G. D.
B. P., farmer 150.

Kolb, John G., (Binghamton,) lot 6, G. D.
B. P., farmer 50.

Lake, Joseph, (Kattelville,) lot 40. S. D. B.

P., farmer leases ofMilton Holt, 35.

Leamans, Oliver W., (Castle Creek,) stone

mason.

Lee, Alonzo S.. (Glen Castle,) lot 77, S. D.

B. P.. carpenter and farmer 40.

Lee, Daniel D., (Glen Castle,) lot 95, 8. D.

B. P., farmer 115.

Lee, Samuel, (Chenango Forks,) lot 120, G.
D. B. P., farmer 96.

Lee, Stephen B., (Kattelville,) lot 68, S. D.
B. P., farmer 55.

Lee, Wm. A., (Kattelville,) lot 68, S. D. B.
P.. carpenter and farmer 3.

LEWIS, JABEZ J., (Castle Creek,)
(Williamson & Lewis.)

Lewis, Joshua, (Kattelville,) lot 39, S. D.
B. P., carpenter and farmer 9^.

LEWIS, JULIUS C, (Kattelville,) lot 39,
S. D.B. P., farmer 12.

LEWIS, POLLY MRS., (Kattelville,) tai
loress.

Lewis, Rachel, (Chenango Bridge,) farmer,
in Union, 50.

Lilly, Jonathan, (Binghamton,) lot 43, G. D.
B. P., inventor of well curb and wagon
jack, saw mill and farmer 34.

Lilly, Orsamus, (Castle Creek,) lot 37, Q.
D. B. P., farmer 100.

Loomis, Chester, (Port Crane,) lot 9, S. D.
B. P., market gardener and farmer 53.

Lown, A. Jackson, (Glen Castle,) lot 95, S.
D. B. P., carpenter, wagon maker and

farmer.

Lum, Samuel, (Castle Creek,) farmer 39.
Malkin, John, (Chenango Bridge,) lot 16,

S. D. B. P., farmer 5#.
Martin, Judson, (Kattelville,) lot 39, G. D.

B. P., farmer 156.

Marvin, Wm., (West Chenango,) lot 6, G.
D. B. P., blacksmith and farmer 50.

May, James, (Castle Creek,) lot 44, G. D.
B. P., shoemaker and farmer 9.

McNary, Chas., (Castle Creek,) lot 116, G.
D. B. P., farmer 70.

Megher, John, (Kattelville,) lot 43, G. D. B.
p farmGr 73

Miller! Wallace A., (Kattelville,) lot 1, G.
D. B. P., farmer 128.

Mills, Horace R., (Castle Creek,) lot 117, G.
D.B. P., (with Sylvester W.,) butcher
and farmer.

Mills, Rufus A., (Castle Creek,) lot 117, G.
D.B. P., farmer 18.

Mills, Sylvester W., (Castle Creek,) lot 117,
G. D. B. P., butcher and farmer 98.

Mix, Bradley, (Chenango Forks,) lot 122,
G. D. B. P., farmer 75.

Mix, Courtland, (Chenango Forks,) shoe
maker.

Mix, Eli, (Chenango Forks,) lot 122, G. D.
B. P., farmer 100.

Monroe, Richard, (Glen Castle,) lot 96, S.

D. B. P., blacksmith and farmer 100.

Moran, Michael, (Kattelville,) lot 68, S. D.
B. P., farmer 4.

Munsell, John, (Chenango Bridge,) lot 16,
8. D. B. P., farmer 50.

Munsell, John Jr., (Castle Creek,) alio.

physician and surgeon.

Myres, Rhoda Mrs., (Glen Castle.) (with

Mrs. Mary E. Wooster,) lot 43, S. D. B.

P., tailoress and farmer 8.

Newman, Elias, (Kattelville,) lot 39, 8. D.

B. P., farmer 50.

Newman, Geo. W., (Kattelville,) (G. H. &

G. W. Newman.)

Newman, G. H. & G. W., (Kattelville,)

(GibertH. and Geo. W.,) lot 41, S. D.

B. P., farmer 106.

Newman, Gilbert H., (Kattelville,) (<?. H.

cfe G. IF. Newman.)
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Nimmons, Burwell, (Binghamton,) lot 22,
S. D. B. P., farmer 50.

Nimmons, Burwell Jr., (Binghamton,) lot
22, S. D. B. P., market gardener and
farmer 75.

Nimmons, John, (Glen Castle,) lot 103, S.
D. B. P., farmer 2.

NIMMONS, WM. R., (Binghamton,) lot 25,
8. D. B. P., farmer 91.

NIMMONSBURG HOTEL, (Binghamton,)
James Rockenstyre, prop.

Norton, Dallas, (Kattelville,) lot 1, G. D. B.
P., farmer 13.

Norton, John, (Kattelville,) assistant post
master and notary public.

Norton, Sylvester, (Kattelville,) lot 1, S.
D. B. P., farmer 15.

Nowlan, John G., (Kattelville,) lot 3, S. D.
B. P., farmer leases of Luther Crocker,
82.

Oakley, Tobias G., (Glen Castle,) lot 75, S.
D. B. P., farmer 35.

Ockerman, Lawrence, (ChenaDgo Forks,)
lot 120, G. D. B. P., farmer 130.

Page, Emery J., (Chenango Forks.) lot 3,
G. D. B. P., farmer leases ofMrs. Hatch,
75.

Page. John, (Glen Castle,) lot 43, S. D. B.
P.. farmer 52.

Palmer, Andrew, (Castle Creek,) lot 85, G.
D. B. P.. farmer 260.

Palmer, Ashbell, (Kattelville,) lot 41, G. D.
B. P., farmer 44.

Palmer, Caleb M., (Kattelville,) lot 3, G. D.
B. P., (with Lockwood E.,) farmer 226.

Palmer, Henry, (Chenango Bridge,) lot 16,
S. D. B. P., farmer 90.

Palmer, Horatio N., (Kattelville,) lot 1, G.
D. B. P., farmer 2.

Palmer, Ira, (Kattelville,) lot 41, G. D. B.

P., (with Ashbell.) farmer 41.

Palmer. Isaac S., (Kattelville,) lot 3, G. D.
B. P.. (with Lockwood E.,) farmer 226.

PALMER, LOCKWOOD E., (Kattelville,)
(Brooks & Palmer,) lot 3, G. D. B. P.,
'farmer 226.

Palmer, Philip H., (Kattelville,) lot 1, G. D.
B. P.. farmer 3.

Palmer. Reuben, (Kattelville,) lot 69, S. D.
B. P., farmer 50.

Palmer, Reuben 2d, (Castle Creek,) lot 43,
G. D. B. P., farmer 34.

Palmer, Sherwood, (Kattelville,) lot 69, S.
D. B. ., (with Reuben,) farmer 50.

Palmer, Warren D., (Castle Creek,) lot 35,
G. D. B. P., (withAndrew.) farmer.

Palmer. Westall W., (Kattelville,) lot 1, G.
D. B. P., farmer 50.

Palmer, Zina, (Kattelville,) lot 70, S. D. B.

P., farmer 37.

Parker, Geo. W., (Chenango Bridge,) lot
16, S. D. B. P., section foreman B. & B.

R. R., and farmer 3.

Parker, HialW., (Chenango Bridge,) lot 16,
S. 1). B. P., justice of the peace, coal

dealer and shoemaker.

Parker, Richard H., (Castle Creek,) lot 43,
G. D. B. P., farmer 74.

Phelps, Apollos N., (Castle Creek,) lot 84,
G. D. B. P., farmer 183.

Pierce, Geo. F., (Castle Creek,) lot 117, G.
D. B. P.. farmer 1.

PORT, JESSE, (Chenango Forks,) lot 79,
G. D. B. P., farmer 213.

Port, John, (Kattelville,) lot 39, G. D. B. P.,
farmer 190.

Prentice, Jonas, (Chenango Bridge,) lot 16,
S. D. B. P., stock broker and farmer
170.

Prentice, Wm., (Kattelville,) lot 67, S. D.
B. P., farmer 120.

Quinn, Wm., (Binghamton,) lot 120, S. D.
B. P., farmer 150.

Redfleld, Joseph E., (Binghamton,) lot 163,
S. D. B. P., farmer 50.

Reid, Elwyn S., (Kattelville,) lot 101, S. D.
B. P., carpenter and farmer 3.

?RILEY, JOHN, (Castle Creek,) general
merchant.

Ritenburg, John, (Kattelville,) lot 37, S. D.
B. P., farmer leases of Marvin Freer,
40.

Roach, Patrick, (Binghamton,) lot 79, S. D.
B. P., farmer 95.

Robinson, Aaron H., (Binghamton,) lot

129, 8. D. B. P., hop grower and farmer
175.

Robinson, Nathaniel, (Kattelville,) lot 37,
S. D. B. P., blacksmith and farmer 65.

ROCKENSTYRE, JAMES, (Binghamton,)
prop. Nimmonsburg Hotel and farmor
6.

Ross, Geo. M., (Castle Creek,) lot 44, G. D.
B. P., farmer 98.

Ross, Wm., (Castle Creek,) lot 78, G. D. B.
P., farmer 116.

Rummer, Bennett, (Kattelville,) lot 1, S.
D. B. P., farmer 75.

Rummer, Daniel, (Kattelville,) lot 1, S. D.
B. P., (with Bennett,) farmer 75.

Sanford, Geo. L., (Castle Creek,) lot 86, G.
D. B. P., farmer.

Satchwell, Truman, (Castle Creek,) lot 83,
G. D. B. P., fish dealer and farmer 85.

Schermerhorn, Abram P., (Castle Creek,)
lot 118. G. D. B. P., farmer leases of
Anson Dewey, 110.

SCOFIELD, J. L., (Chenango Bridge,) lot
102, S. D. B. P., prop, cider mill, to
bacco grower and farmer 60.

Seeber, James D,. (Chenango Forks,) cab
inet maker and undertaker.

Siver, Henry, (Gleb Castle,) lot 64, S. D. B.
P., carpenter and farmer 20.

Siver, James H., (Glen Castle,) lot 104. S.
D. B. P., farmer leases of W. Cary, 52.

Slattery, Wm., (Castle Creek,; shoemaker.

SMETHURST, JOSEPH. (Chenango
Bridge,) lot 15, S. D. B. P., farmer 50.

Smith, James, (Kattelville,) lot 2, G. D. B.
P., farmer 14.

Smith, John, (Binghamton,) lot 24, S. D. B.
P., farmer 47.

Smith, Patrick, (Kattelville,) (with Wm..)
lot 65. S. D.B. P., farmer 130.

Smith, Robert, (Binghamton,) lot 163, S. D
B. P.. farmer 150.

Smith, Thos., (Kattelville,) lot 65, S. D. B.
P., farmer 50.

Smith, Wm., (Kattelville,) (with Patrick,)
lot 65, S. D. B. P., farmer 130.

Spencer, Chas. Z., (Castle Creek,) lot 78.
G. D. B. P., farmer 113.

Spencer, Philander B., (Castle Creek,) lot
116, G. D. B. P., farmer 200.
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SPRAGUE, ALBERT J., (Chenango

Bridge,) (Sprague & Keeler,) manuf.

and dealer in lumber and lath, flour,
meal and feed, and farmer 100.

Sprague, Barney, (Chenango Bridge,) lot

15, 8. D. B. P., farmer 120.
SPRAGUE & KEELER, (Chenango

Bridge,) (Albert J. Sprague and David

T. lleeler,) props. Sprague's Mills.

SPRAGUE'S MILLS, (Chenango Bridge,)
Sprague & Keeler. props.

St. John, Moses, (Castle Creek,) lot 46, G.

D. B. P., farmer 90.

St. John, Sylvester, (Castle Creek,) lot 46,
G. D. B. P., farmer 76.

Stone, Aaron, (Chenango Bridge,) lot 102,
S. D. B. P., termer 58.

Strickland. B.T.. (Chenango Forks,) ticket

agent S. & B. R. R. and D. L. & W.

R. R.

Strickland, Jonathan, (Chenango Forks,)
(,/. Strickland & Son.)

Strickland, J. & Son, (Chenango Forks,)
(Jonathan and Simon T.,) commission

merchants, dealers in butter, cheese &c.

Strickland, Simon T., (Chenango Forks,)
(./. Strickland & Son,) billiard and eat

ing saloon, and farmer 126.

Strickland, S. T. Mrs., (Chenango Forks,)
(with Miss J. Terwilliger,) millinery.

Swimmer, Frank, (Castle Creek,) lot 115,
G. D.B. P., farmer 70.

Taber, David B., (West Chanango,) (with

James C.,) lot 46, G. D. B. P., farmer
186.

Taber, James C. (West Chenango,) lot 46,
G. D. B. P., farmer 186.

Taber, John C, (West Chenango,) lot 46,
G. D. B. P., (with James C.,) farmer.

Taft, Amos F., (Kattelville,) lot 37, 8. D.

B. P., farmer 40.

TERRY, BRADFORD W., (Port Crane,)
lot 10, S. D. B. P., (with Lewis C.)

TERRY, LEWIS C, (Port Crane,) lot 10,
S. D B. P., general agent Reynolds

Patent Churn Lid Screen, for State of

Pennsylvania and all of New York

except 13 north eastern counties, and

farmer 40.

Terwilliger, Jasper, (Chenango Fork,) lot

12? G.D. B. P., farmer 89.

Terwilliger. J. Miss, (Chenango Forks,)
(with Mrs. 3. T. Strickland.) millinery.

Terwilliger, Peter D;, (Kattelville,) lot 101,
S. D. B. P.. farmer 60.

Terwilliger. Silas B., (Castle Creek,) lot 118,
G. D. B. P., farmer 75.

Terwilliger. Thos. II. , (Kattelville,) lot 36,

S. D.B. P., farmer 56.

THOMAS, GEO. H., (Chenango Bridge,)
lot 16, 8. D. B. P., commissioner of

highways and farmer 24.

Thomas, Wm.,W., (Chenango Bridge,) lot
125, 8. D. B. P., farmer 146.

Tompkins, Chas. A., (Castle Creek,) lot 75,
S. D. B. P., town clerk, agent for agri
cultural implements and farmer 98.

Trafford, Chas., (Castle Creek,) justice of
the peace and cooper.

Treadwell, Horace, (Glen Castle,) lot 36,
G. D. B. P., justice of the peace and

farmer 100.

VanKEUREN, JONATHAN C, (Kattel

ville,) lot 101, S. D. B. P., carpenter
and joiner, and farmer 26.

West, Geo. N., (Glen Castle,) lot 45, G. D.
B. P., (with Hiram,) farmer 33.

Westfall, Harvey, (Castle Creek,) lot 38, G.
D. B. P., farmer 84.

Whitney, Oliver C, (Kattelville,) lot 69, 8.
D.B. P., farmer 48.

Wilcox, Amos, (Glen Castle,) lot 4, G. D.
B. P., farmer 59.

Wilcox, John B., (Kattelville,) lot 2, S. D.
B. P., farmer leases of Mrs. Frazer, 84.

Wilcox, Martin L., (Chenango Forks,) lot

42, G. D. B. P., farmer leases 75.

WILLIAMSON, CHAS., (Castle

Creek,) ( Williamson & Lewis.)

WILLIAMSON & LEWIS, (Castle
Creek,) (Chas. Williamson and Jabez J.

Lewis,) carriage makers and general

blacksmiths.

Wilson, James, (Binghamton,) lot 147, S.
D. B. P., farmer 75.

Wilson, Thos., (Binghamton,) lot 106, S.

D. B. P., farmer 85.

Winfield, John, (Binghamton,) lot 60, S. D.
B. P., farmer 50.

Witherwax, Adam, (Binghamton,) lot 6, G.
D. B. P., farmer 140.

Wood, Chas. A., (Castle Creek,) lot 115, G.
D. B. P., dealer in lumber, bark and

wood, and farmer 50.

Wooster, Mary E. Mrs., (Glen Castle,)
(with Mrs. Rhoda Myres.) lot 43, S. D.
B. P., tailoress and farmers.

Wright, Morton C, (Chenango Bridge,)
station agent, telegraph operator and

assistant postmaster.

Writenburg, Alvah, (Kattelville,) lot 1, G.
D. B. P., butcher and farmer 10.

Young, Hugh, (Castle Creek,) lot 124, G.

D. B. P., farmer 115.

Young, John W., (Castle Creek,)lot 43, G.
D. B. P., farmer 68.
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JOHN RILEY,
DEALER IN

Dry Goods, Groceries, Boots, Shoes,
Flour, Feed, Pork, Fish, &c,

Castle Creek^ TS, Y.

CITY COFFIN WA RE R O M S .

e.
.a_yers,

F. ndertaker
Ware Rooms,

86 Washington Street,

Binghamton, TS. Y.
Ready-Made Coffins and Caskets, of all

kinds, with Burial Robes and Shrouds,
always on hand or furnished to order.

Residence OVer the Store.

MISS MARY A. LAWTON,
FASHIONABLE

BKES5 MAKER AND TAILORESS,
35 HAWLEY STREET,

BING-HAMTON, N. Y.

DR. C. A. PERKINS,

TIST.
67 Court Street,

BINGHAMTON, , N. Y.

Nitrous Oxide Gas adminis

tered at all hours for the painless extraction of 2eeth.
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COLESVILLE.
'*'

(Post Office Addresses in Parentheses.)

Abbreviations.H. P., Harper's Patent; S. P., Smith's Patent; Ham. P., Ham-

mon's Patent ; W. P.,
Watts'

Patent ; D., District.

Apley,

ABBOTT, HENRY M., (Center Village,)
farmer 200.

Ackert, Stephen, (West Colesville,) lot 51,
W. P., farmer 68.

Adams, Josiah, (Doraville,) cooper and far
mer 18.

ADKINS, POMEROY H., (Harpersville,)
lot 80, S. P., farmer 70.

Allen, Goodlo H., (Center Village,) farmer
1%.

Allen, John B., (Harpersville,) lot 16, Ham.

P., farmer 95.

Andrews, Sarah Mrs., (Center Village,) lot

10, farmer 51.

, Henry, (Harpersville,) lot 18, Ham.

.,
farmer 40.

APPLEY, JAMES, (Ouaquaga,) (Butler &

Appley.)
Archer, John, (Vallonia Springs,) farmer 6.

ARMLIN, GEORGE, (Osborne Hollow,) lot

5, W. P., farmer 50.

Arnts, Daniel, (Ouaquaga,) lot 16, H. P.,
farmer 168.

Attridge, Mary A. Mrs., (West Colesville,)
lot 33, Ham. P., farmer 12%.

AUSTIN, ASA, (Center Village,) engineer

in tannery.

AUSTIN, IRA E., (Center Village ) fore

man in tannery of Edward P. Northrup.

Austin, LydiaMiss, (Center Village,) far

mer 1%.

Austin, Reuben, (North Colesville,) lot 87,
S. P., farmer 200.

AVERELL, ADAM G., (Vallonia Springs,)
farmer 41.

Baker, Calvin, (Colesville,) lot 36, Ham. P.,
farmer 75.

Baker, Charles N., (West Colesville,) lot

54, W. P., farmer 80.

Baker, Christopher, (West Colesville,) lot

34, Ham. P., farmer 140.

BAKER, EGBERT A., (Belden,) lot 96, S.

P., farmer 100.

BAKER, JEROME, (Osborne Hollow,) lot

21, W. P., blacksmith, carriage maker

and farmer 1.

Baker, Smith, (Center Village,) lot 40, far
mer 140.

BAKER, WALTER G., (Center Village,)

butcher, dealer in patent rights, far

mer 75 and, in Sanford, 60.

Ball, Adam, (West Colesville,) lot42,W. P.,
farmer 111.

N

Bancroft, Geo. W., (Harpersville,) farmer 1.

Barnes, George B., (Harpersville,) lot 6, H.

P., farmer 116.

BARNES, GERMAN B., (Harpersville,)
carpenter and joiner.

BARNES HOTEL, (Harpersville,) Wm.

Hare, prop.

Barnes, Judson H., (Harpersville,) lot 15,
Ham. P., farmer 175.

Barnum, Enoch, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 15,
W. P., farmer 260.

Barnum, Samuel, (West Colesville,) lot 43,
W. P., carpenter.

Bates, Henry M., (Harpersville,) lot 93, S.

P., farmer 115.

BATES, MARTIN, (Center Village,) mill
wright.

BATY, ALONZO B., (Harpersville,)
manuf. of bedsteads and furniture

dealer.

BAXTER, MOSES, (New Ohio,) lot 92, S.

P., carpenter and joiner, and farmer 2.

Beale, Joshua R., (Belden,) lot 90, S. P.,
farmer 100.

BEARDSLEY, EPHRAIM G., (Harpers

ville,) lot 99, farmer 150.

Beardsley, Harvey P., (New Ohio,) lot 86,
alio, physician, grocer, postmaster and

farmer 15.

Becker, Abraham, (Center Village,) lot 17,
H. P., farmer 118%.

Becker, Hiram, (West Colesville,) lot 34,
W. P., farmer 53.

Bedient, Edgar L., (Harpersville,) hard

ware, stoves and tinware.

Bedurfey, Attheus, (New Ohio,) lot 97, S.

P., farmer 50.

BEHRENDT, JOHN, (Center Village,) lot

19, H. P., farmer 42.

Beman, Aaron G., (New Ohio,) lot 86, S.

P., farmer 160.

Beman, Ackley, (New Ohio,) lot 86, S. P.,
farmer 108.

BEMAN, REUBEN G., (New Ohio,) lot 86,
8. P., house painter and farmer 1.

Benn, Aaron, (Ouaquaga,) lot 16, H. P.,
farmer 3.

Bennet, John, (Nineveh,)
farmer 3.

Bennett, John D., (Harpersville,) lot 2, H.

P., farmer 321.

Bennett, Joseph, (Harpersville,) lot 84, S.

P., farmer 138.
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Berray, Addis E., (Osborne Hollow,) lot 6,
W. P., farmer 130.

Beuman, Henry, (Center Village,) lot 19, H.
P., farmer 110.

BEVIERS. WILLIAM, (CenterVillage,) lot
22, H. P., farmer 50.

Birch, Suel W., (Vallonia Springs,) farmer
50.

Birdsell, George W. Mrs., (Nineveh,) mil
liner.

BISHOP, ESTHER S. Mrs., (Ouaquaga,)
lot 63, Ham. P., farmer 82.

Bishop, John P., (Harpersville,) carriage
maker and Slacksmith, prop, of public
hall and farmer 2.

Blachley, Charles, (West Colesville,) lot 36,
W. P., carriage maker and farmer 53.

BLACHLEY, WILLIAM H., (West Coles

ville,) carriage maker.

Blake, Andrew P., (Harpersville,) (with

Benj. B.,) lot 93, S. P., farmer 138.

Blake, Benjamin B.. (Harpersville,) (with
Andrew P.,) lot 93. S. P., farmer 138.

BLAKESLEE, EDWARD C, (Center Vil

lage,) lot 18, H. P.. farmer 102%.

BLANCHARD, JAMES C, (Belden,) lot

94; farmer 56.
BLANCHARD JOHN, (Harpersville,) lot

94, S. P., farmer 24.

BLULER, RODOLPH, (Ouaquaga,) lot 39,
Ham. P., farmer 50.

BOOTH, EBENEZER H., (West Coles

ville,) blacksmith.

Booth, John W., (West Colesville,) alio.

physician.

Boyes, Edwin R., (Belden,) lot 90, 8. P.,
blacksmith and farmer 4.

Branard, Joel G., (New Ohio,) lot 86, 8. P.,
farmer 75

Brant, Prank F., (Nineveh,) farmer 10.
Bristol, James E., (Harpersville,) druggist.
BRIZZEE. WILLIAM, (Center Village,)

farmer 97. ,

BROWN, BERNARD H., (Osborne Hol

low,) engineer.

Brown, David C, (Center Village,) harness

BROWN,

'

JEFFERSON R., (Nineveh,)
boot and shoe shop.

BROWN, JESSE. (Harpersville,) general

merchant and dealer in ready-made

clothing.

Brown, Mary A. Mrs., (Harpersville,) far-

mere.

Brown, Samuel C, (Harpersville,) black
smith and farmer 49.

Brownson, Porter H., (Ouaquaga,) lot 45,
Ham. P., farmer 68.

Bump, Ezra, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 100, 8.

P.; farmer 77.

Bump, Jedadiah, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 20,
W. P., farmer 100.

Bunker, James, (Doraville,) lot 23, H. P.,
farmer 5.

BURROWS, JOHN H., (Harpersville,) lot

6, H. P ., farmer leases of Judson T.

Blakeslee, Binghamton, 210.

Bush. Henry P., (Nineveh,) farmer 150.

BUSH, RILEY, (Nineveh,) farmer 10#.

BUTLER, ANDREW, (Ouaquaga,) (Butler

& Appley,) farmer 1.

BUTLER & APPLEY. (Ouaquaga,) (An

drew Butler and James Appley,) eclec
tic physicians.

Butler, Stephen W.. (Ouaquaga,) lot 56,
Ham. P., farmer 30.

Button, Lamer E., (Osborne Hollow,) lot 5,
W. P., farmer 205.

Cane, James, (New Ohio,) lot 92, S. P.,
farmer 70.

Caniff, Benjamin, (Binghamton,) lot 50,
W. P.. farmer 63.

CANNIFF, JOHN E., (West Colesville,)
lot 53, W. P., farmer 43.

CARL ISAAC. (Center Village,) lot 20, n.
P., farmer 56.

Carniegie, Norris, (North Colesville,) lot

82, S. P., farmer 11.

Carpenter, William A., (Harpersville,) lot

14, Ham. P., farmer 150.

Carrol, Harrison H., (West ColesvilU,)
post master.

Carrol, Mathew, (West Colesville,) lot 43,
W. P., farmers.

Cary, Harriet Mrs., (New Ohio,) lot 81, S.
P., farmer 69.

CASE, GAYLORD, (New Ohio,) lot 92, S.
P., farmer 46.

CASE, JOHN, (New Ohio,) laborer.

CASS, EDWIN H., (Osborne Hollow,) (Cass
& Sornborger

.)

CASS & SORNBORGER, (Osborne Hol

low.) (Edwin H. Cass and Edward 31.

Sornborger,) steam sawmill.

Casson, Myron H., (New Ohio,) lot 92, S.
P.. farmer 42.

CASTLE, MARY L. Mrs., (CenterVillage,)
lot 19, H. P., farmer 27.

CHADDEN, GARRET T., (CenterVillage,)
deputy sheriff and farmer 1.

Chafee, Franklin D., (Harpersville,) lot 11,
H. P., farmer 56.

Chafee, James A., (Harpersville,) lot 11, H.
P., farmer 64.

Chase, William W., (West Colesville,) lot
36, W. P., saw mill and farmer 5.

Chattuck, Homer, (Colesville,) lot 35, Ham.
P farmer S2

Christian, Eli, (Colesville,) lot 37, Ham. P.,
farmer leases 87.

Churchill, Stoddard S., (Osborne Hollow,)
lot 14, W. P., farmer 140.

Cole, Henry, (Center Village,) farmer 38.
Cole, James H., (Colesville,) lot 28, Ham.

P., farmer 160.

Collar, Isaac, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 97, 8.
P., farmer 80.

COLLAR, LEVI B., (Center Village,) boot
and shoe maker.

COLLER, DANIEL B., (Osborne Hollow,)
lot 100, S. P., farmer 34.

Coller, Dorcas Mrs., (Osborne Hollow.) lot
100,8. P., farmer 46.

COMSTOCK, JAMES R., (Center Village,)
farmer 100.

COOK, NATHANIEL, (Harpersville,) lot
80, S. P., farmer 150.

Cook William T., (CenterVillage,) miller
for Lewis Northrup.

Coombs, George A., (Center Village,) lot
11, H. P., farmer 65.

Cox. John E., (West Colesville,) lot 42, W.

P., farmer 74.
Crary, Nathan, (Doraville,) lot 18, H. P.,

farmer 100.

Craver, Alexander, (West Colesville,) lot

34, W. P., farmer 54.

Carrington & Porter,
Dealers In first-class Cook and

Parlor Stoves, Tinware, Sec.
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Craver, Isaac, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 21, W.

P., general merchant, postmaster and

farmer 135.

Craver, Marshall, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 19,
W. P., farmer 100.

Cresson, Rufus, (Ouaquaga,) lot 48, Ham.

P., farmer 40.

CROFFUT, FRANKLIN R., (Harpers

ville,) lot 5, Ham. P., farmer 166,
CROFFUT, JOEL B., (Colesville,) lot 29,

Ham. P., farmer 80.

Crofut, Egbert J., (West Colesville,) lot 45,
W. P., carpenter and farmer 53.

Crofut, William, (Harpersville,) lot 13,
Ham. P., farmer 72.

CROSBY, MARVIN J., (Center Village,)
leather finisher and farmer 7.

Crosett, Eric, (Harpersville ) stone mason.

Curriu, James, (Center Village,) farmer 1.

DANN, SAMANTHA Mrs., (Belden,) lot

96, S. P., farmer 100.

DARLING, CHARLES E., (West Coles

ville,) laborer.

Darling, George, (West Colesville,) lot 53,
W. P., farmer 65.

Dashaw, Jphn, (West Colesville,) lot 33,W.

P., farmer 50.

Davenport, John, (Doraville,) lot 28, H. P.,
farmer 200.

Davis, Asher M., (Center Village,) farmer 8.

Davis, Frederick, (Harpersville,) cattle

broker.

Davis, Lewis H., (New Ohio,) blacksmith.

Davis, Oliver, (Vallonia Springs,) farmer

59.

Davison, James, (West Colesville,) lot 40,
W. P., farmer 106.

Dean. Jonathan, (West Colesville,) lot 35,
W. P., farmer 125.

Debbie, Alonzo, (Harpersville,) lot 17, Ham.

P., farmer 152.

Demeree, James W., (Doraville,) lot 20,
farmer 102 aud, in Sanford, 50.

Dewilleger, Henry N., (Vallonia Springs,)
farmer %%.

DIBBLE, A. 8., (Center Village,) lot 13,
eclectic physician, saw mill and farmer

8.

DICKINSON, ALONZO, (Nineveh,) cooper.

DIMORIER, GEORGE O.,(CenterVillage,)
sawyer and farmer 45.

Dolloway, Edward Rev, (Harpersville,) pas
tor of Episcopal Church.

Doolittle, Alanson, (CenterVillage,) lot 17,
H. P., fanner 54.

DOOLITTLE, BURTON, (Ouaquaga,) lot

48, Ham. P., farmer 150.

DOOLITTLE, CHARLES B.. (Doraville,)
lot 18, postmaster and farmer 95.

Doolittle, Edgar, (Ouaquaga,) lot 40, Ham.

P., farmer 80.

Doolittle, Egbert, (Doraville,) lot 18, farmer

57.

Doolittle, Frank, (West Colesville,) (with

Marcus.) lot 45. Ham. P., farmer 78.

DOOLITTLE. FRANKLIN, (Ouaquaga,)
lot 21, H. P., farmer 112.

Doolittle, Garret, (Ouaquaga,) lot 56, Ham.

P., farmer 115.

Doolittle, German, (Doraville,) lot 24, far

mer 110.

Doolittle, Marcus, (West Colesville,) (with

Frank,) lot 45, Ham. P., farmer 78.

DOOLITTLE, NELSON E (Ouaquaga,)
lot 63, Ham. P., farmer 56.

Doolittle, Terris H., (Ouaquaga,) lot 54,
Ham. P., farmer 140.

Doolittle, Warren, (Ouaquaga,) lot 54,
Ham. P., farmer 80 and, in Windsor, 23.

Dort, David, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 24, W.

P., farmer 109.

Doud, Leander H., (West Colesville,) lot
53, W. P., farmer 96.

'

J

Draper, Edward A., (Harpersville,) lot 79,
8. P., farmer 72.

DYE & HIGLEY, (OsborneHollow,) (John
P. Dye and Henry Higley,) saw mill.

DYE, JOHN P., (Osborne Hollow,) (Dye &
Higley,) lot 8, W. P., farmer 254.

Dykeman, George, (CenterVillage.) cooper.

Dykeman, Peter, (Doraville,) lot 20, farmer
50.

DYKMAN, NANCY L. Mrs., (Center

Village,) farmer 51.

Eaton, Clark, (West Colesville,) lot 41,W.

P., farmer 135.

Eaton, Llewellyn, (Harpersville,) homeo.

physician.

Edgerton, Franklin, (Nineveh,) postmaster,
general merchant, druggist and farmer

2.

Edmonds, Charles, (Harpersville,) lot 81,
farmer leases of Mrs. H. J. Lull, 80.

EDSON, AVERY, (WestColesville,) lot 51,
W.P., farmer 60.

EDSON, HIRAM E., (West Colesville,) lot

43, W. P., farmer 53.

Edson, John J., (Harpersville,) lot 93, S.

P., farmer 75.

EDSON, LEROY, (West Colesville,) lot 43,
W. P., farmer 106.

Edwards, Luther, estate of, (West Coles

ville,) lot 52, W. P., 106 acres.

Edwards, Wm., (West Colesville,) lot 51,
W.P., farmer 3.

ELDORADO HOUSE, (Harpersville,)
Simon J. Groat, prop.

Eldred, Alexander, (Harpersville,) lot 11, H.

P., farmer 2.

Eldred, John B., (Center Village,) farmer

102.

Eldred,Mervin P., (New Ohio,) lot 81, S.

P., farmer 80.

Ellis, Elias, (West Colesville,) lot 40, W.

P., farmer 34.

Estes, Shervin F., (Center Village,) farmer

55.

Fairchild, Benajah, (Ouaquaga,) general

merchant.

Fairchild, Frederick, (North Colesville,)
cooper.

FARRINGTON, EUGENE, (Osborne

Hollow,) blacksmith and carriage

maker.

Farrington, Luke, (Osborne Hollow,) lot

12, W. P., farmer 131.

FELLOWS, EDWARD R., (Harpersville,)

lot93, S. P., farmer 130.

FERGU80N, ALONZO, (Doraville,) lot 15,
H. P., farmer 142.

FERRIS, DARIUS, (OsborneHollow,) lot

15, W. P., farmer 142.

Finch, John M., (Belden,) (with Bennett

Hart,) lot 89, farmer 72.

Finn, Martin, (New Ohio,) lot 96, farmer

) leases ofMrs. A. Kedder, 50.

A
lso Agents for HERRING'S SAFES, BINGHAMTON, N. Y. See

advertisement on Map.



216 BROOME AND TIOGA COUNTY BUSINESS DIRECTORY.

HOBBS BROS.,

Nineveh,
3?roome County, N. T.

MANUFACTURERS OF

Fine Carriages,
AND DEALERS IN

Carriage Goods.

GEO. W. HOBBS. C. H. HOBBS.

CHARLES KILMER,
DEALER IN

AND MANUFACTURER OF

Tin, Sheet Iron and Copper Ware.

Peddlers supplied at the lowest rates. All Peddlers ware made by me bears my trade

mark, and is warranted as represented.

Crosby Slock, - 89 Mawley Street,

Binghamton, IV. Y.

DON'T ARREST HIM !

LET HIM GO TO

Gc. Gr. I^KTIJBIB'eS,

13 Lewis Street,
BINGHAMTON, IV.Y.

And get a Pair

They almost give themf
away there ! 1

Made to order from the best quality of Stock and by
experienced workmen.

Repairing Neatly and Promptly Done.
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Flagg, John A., (Center Village,) wool

carder and farmer 1.

Flansburgh, John W., (Center Village,) lot

12, H. P., farmer 104#.

FLINT, MICAH C, (West Colesville,)
peddler.

Forsyth, James, (Belden,) lot 96, 8. P., far
mer 76.

FOSTER, ASA, (Belden,) (xvithMartin,)
lot 91, farmer 65.

FOSTER, MARTIN, (Belden,) (with Asa,)
lot 91, farmer 65.

Francis, Robert, (Ouaquaga,) lot 63, Ham.

P., farmer 107.

FRASIER, JAMES B., (Harpersville,) cab
inet maker, undertaker and prop, of

saw mill.

Freeland, Orin M., (Harpersville,) lot 18,
Ham. P., farmer 100.

Freeman, George, (Ouaquaga,) lot 63, Ham.

P., farmer 45.

FULLER, JAMES, (Center Village,) saw
mill and farmer 184.

Ganow, Isaac, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 18, W.

P., farmer 185.

Ganow, Isaac J., (Osborne Hollow,) (with
John W.,) lot 13, farmer 106.

Ganow, John W., (Osborne Hollow,) (with
Isaac J.,) lot 13, farmer 106.

Ganow, Margaret Mrs., (Osborne Hollow,)
lot 13, W. P., farmer 98.

Gardner, Jonathan, (Osborne Hollow,)
(with Orlando,) lot 25, W. P., farmer
120.

Gardner, Orlando, (Osborne Hollow,) (with

Jonathan,) lot 25, W. P., farmer 120.

Gillett, Joel, (Vallonia Springs,) farmer 60.

Givings, Frances Mrs., (Harpersville,) lot

11, H. P. farmer 1.
Godfrey. Daniel, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 21,

W. P., farmer 47^.

Goodsell, David B., (Belden,) lot 96, 8. P.,
farmer 24.

GOODSELL, EUGENE A., (Belden,) la

borer.

GOSS, CHARLES P., (West Colesville,)
boot and shoe maker.

Green,William H.,(Ouaquaga,) lot 54, Ham.

P., farmer 150.

GROAT, SIMON J., (Harpersville,) prop.

of Eldorado House and farmer 22.

Guernsey, David B., (Ouaquaga,) postmas

ter and grocer.

Guy, Ezekiel, (Harpersville,) alio, physi

cian and farmer 80.

Guy, Hammon, (Harpersville,) lot 20, Ham.

P., farmer 127.

Guy, Timothy, (Nineveh,) alio, physician.

Haight, John, (Center Village,) farmer 112.

HAKES, CARLES A., (Harpersville,) car

riage maker.

Hakes, George W. (Harpersville,) black

smith and farmer 4.

HALLOCK, GEORGE A., (Doraville,) lot

4, farmer 68 and, in Windsor, 53.

Hammond, Timothy D. Rey., (Center Vil

lage,) lot 19, H. P., pastor Baptist

Church and farmer 50.

Harding, Isaac S., (West Colesville,) lot

43, W. P., farmer 110.

Hare, Charles, (Harpersville,) farmer 1.

HARE, CHARLES W., (Harpersville,)

(Thompson & Hare.)

HARE, WILLIAM, (Harpersville,) prop, of
Barnes Hotel and farmer 1.

Harrington, Chancey W., (New Ohio,) lot
81. S. P., farmer 80.

Harper, Roswell, (Harpersville,) lot 16, H.
P., farmer 50.

Harper, Simeon, (Doraville,) lot 24, H. P.,
farmer 50.

HARPER, WILLIAM W., (Doraville,) lot

24, sawmill and farmer 100.

HARPUR, EDWARD, (Harpersville,) land
surveyor, general agent for mowing
machines and farmer 90.

HARPUR, ROBERT, (Harpersville,) farmer
250.

HARPUR, ROBERT G., (Harpersville,)
farmer 52.

Hart, Bennett, (Belden,) (with John M.

Finch,) lot 89, farmer 72.

HASKELL, BENJAMIN F., (Port Crane,)
lot 4, W. P., farmer leases 45.

Hastings, Peter, (Harpersville,) lot 18, Ham.

P., farmer 110.

Hathaway, Geo. E. Rev., (Harpersville,)
pastor ofM. E. Church.

Havens, Bradford H., (North Colesville,)
lot 81, S. P., farmer 40.

HAVENS, FREDERICK L., (Harpers

ville,) (with Orville <?.,) lot 84, S. P.,
farmer 112>.

HAVENS, ORVILLE G., (Harpersville,)
dealer in musical instruments and

(with Frederick L.,) lot 84, S. P., far
mer 112#.

Hayes, John H., (North Colesville,) black
smith.

Haynes, Archelaus, (New Ohio,) lot 91, 8.

P., farmer 165.

Heath, Asa, (Ouaquaga,) lot 54, Ham. P.,

shingle, planing and lath mills, turning
lathe and farmer 2.

Heath, Stephen W., (West Colesville,) lot

44, W. P.
,
farmer 106.

HENDRICKSON, EDWIN E., (Doraville,)
farmer leases of Simon, 37.

Hendrickson, Isaac, (North Colesville,)
cooper.

HENDRICKSON, LEVI, (Doraville,) lot

20, H. P., farmer 27#.

HENDRICKSON, MARCUS, (Doraville,)
blacksmith.

Hendrickson, 8. Mrs., estate of, (Dora

ville.) lot 19, H. P., 26 acres.

Hess, Albert, (Center Village,) lot 17, H.

P., farmer leases 105.

HICKCOX, GEORGE, (Harpersville,) lot

93, S. P., farmer 32.

Hickox, Louisa Mrs., (Harpersville,) lot

93, 8. P., farmer 60.

Hicks, Enos, (West Colesville,) lot 35, W.

P., farmer 76.

HICKS, RALZEY, (Osborne Hollow,) lot

100, 8. P., farmer 15.

HIGLEY, HENRY, (Osborne Hollow,)

(Dye & Higley,) lot 8,W. P., farmer 150.

Hill, Benjamin, (Belden,) lot 90, S. P., far

mer 80.

Hill, Franklin, (Belden,) lot 90, 8. P., saw

mill and farmer 25.

Hilton, Willis B., (Osborne Hollow,) lot 23,

W. P., farmer 53.

Hinkley, Eliza L. Mrs., (Osborne Hollow,)
lot 12, W. P., farmer 95.
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HITCHCOCK, EUGENE, (West Coles

ville.) lot 43, W. P., farmer 10#.
*HOBBS BROS., (Nineveh,) manufs. of

fine carriages and dealers in carriage

goods.

Hobos, Joseph W., (Nineveh,) notary
public.

Holcom, Imri, (New Ohio,) lot 87, S. P.,
farmer 120.

Holcomb, Alvin, (Belden,) lot 95, 8. P.,

Holcomb, David, (Belden.) lot 95, 8. P.,
(with Milo,) farmer 200.

Holcomb, Edwin S., (New Ohio,) lot 86, 8.
P., farmer 153.

Holcomb, George A., (New Ohio,) lot 92,
farmer 75.

Holcomb, Harriet Mrs., (New Ohio,) lot 97,
S. P., farmer 25.

Holcomb, Homer, (New Ohio,) lot 87, hotel
keeper and farmer 120.

Holcomb, Milo, (Belden,) lot 95, S. P.,
(withDavid,) farmer 200.

Holcomb. Orswin, (New Ohio,) lot 92, far
mer 26.

Holcomb, Rollin M., (Osborne Hollow,)
lot 21, W. P., farmer 150.

Homaston, Lewis, (Harpersville,) carpen

ter.

Hoskins, Daniel S., (Harpersville,) lot 24,
Ham. P., farmer 06.

Houghtaling, John, (New Ohio,) lot 96, 8.

P., farmer 40.

HUBBARD, DAVID, (Doraville,) lot 18,
farmer 24.

HUBBARD, ERASTUS, (Colesville,) lot

35, Ham. P., farmer leases 341.

HUMASTON, RUSSELL, (Belden,) lot 96,
S. P., farmer 106.

HUMASTON, WILLIAM 8., (Center Vil
lage,) (H. Martin & Co.)

Humiston, Charles, (Harpersville,) lot 84,
8. P., farmer 73.

HUMISTON, SIDNEY G., (Osborne Hol

low,) lot 14, W. P.. farmer 200.

Humphrey, Nelson C, (Center Village,)
carriage maker, blacksmith, carding
machine and planing mill.

Hungerford, Elisha G., (Binghamton,) lot
50, W. P., farmer 50.

HUNT, HENRY, (New Ohio,) lot 91, 8. P.,
farmer 87.

Huntley, Lewis, (Harpersville,) lot 85, S.

P., farmer 99.
Hurd, Griffin S., (Belden,) lot 90, 8. P., far

mer 100.

Hurd, Johnson, (Harpersville,) lot 84, 8.

P., farmer 106.

Hurd, Stephen, (Belden,) lot 89, 8. P., far
mer 13.

Hurlbert, George, (CenterVillage,) farmer
leases of John Hurlbert, 225.

Hurlburt, Edmund A., (Harpersville,) lot
88. S. P., farmer 100.

HURLBURT, ISAAC A., (Harpersville,)
lot 84, S. P., farmer 167.

Hurlburt, Isaac A., (Belden,) lot 84, farmer
leases of Malcomb D. Hurlburt, 250.

Hurlburt, Maria Mrs., (Harpersville,) lot

98, S. P., farmer 227.

HURLBURT, URI, (Harpersville,) lot 11,
Ham. P., farmer 138.

Hurlburt, William, (Harpersville,) Jot 11,
H. P., farmer 100.

HUSTON, ROBERT, (Center Village,) far

mer 44.

JENKINS, ALBERT, (Harpersville,) lot 31,
Ham. P., cooper and farmer 80.

Jenkins, Thomas, (OsborneHollow,) 1< t23,
W. P., farmer 136.

Jewel, James E., (Colesville,) lot 45, Ham.

P., post master and farmer 10.

Johnson, Henry, (Afton, Chenango Co.,)
lives in town of Afton, farmer 103.

JOHNSON, IRA W., (Center Village,) far
mer leases 47.

Johnson, Isaac S., (Doraville,) lot 19, H. P.,
farmer 75.

Johnson, MarthaMrs., (Doraville,) lot 20,
H. P., farmer 36.

Johnson, Thomas, (Center Village,) farmer
31.

Jones, George W., (Harpersville,) mason.

JONES, JOHN, (Harpersville,) railroad

laborer.

Jones, John K., (Harpersville,) lot 6, H. P.,
farmer leases of Judson T. Blakeslee,
Binghamton, 180.

Joslin, Thomas, (New Ohio,) lot 81, S. P.,
farmer 152.

Judd, Ama A. Mrs., (Harpersville,) lot 11,
HP., farmer 59.

Judd, John, (Doraville,) lot 19, H. P., far
mer 35.

Judd. Peter, (Doraville,) lot 19, H. P., far
mer 25.

Kasson, Elisha, (New Ohio,) lot 82, farmer
50.

Kasson. Theodore C, (New Ohio,) lot 82,
farmer 170.

Keech, George A., (West Colesville,) lot 33,
Ham. P., farmer 45.

Keech, Henry D., (West Colesville,) lot 50,
W. P., farmer 41 and, inWindsor, 15.

KEECH, WILLIAM. (Colesville,) lot 45,
Ham. P., boot and shoemaker, farmer

205 and, in Windsor, 25.

KEECH, WILLIAM W., (West Colesville,)
lot 45, W. P., farmer 72.

Keenan
, Patrick, (Osborne Hollow, ) lot 100,

S. P., farmer 174.

Kelley, Nelson E., (Harpersville,) lot 98, 8.
P., farmer 135.

KETCHAM, JAMES, (Belden,) lot 96, far
mer leases 53.

KETCHUM, ELIZA ANN MRS., (Oua

quaga.) lot 54, Ham. P., farmer 50.

KETCHUM, JOSEPH F., (Ouaquaga,) lot
38, Ham. P., farmer 52.

Kipp, Aaron V., (West Colesville,) lot 33,
W. P., farmer 54.

Kipp, Alfred, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 33, W.

P., farmer 44.
Knowlton, Miles, (Ouaquaga,) lot 62, Ham.

P., farmer 50.

Knox, Caleb, (Center Village,) lot 18, H.
P., farmer 107.

Knox, E. Stratton, (Ouaquaga,) lot 16, H.

P., farmer 44.
Lackey, George F., (Center Village,) lot 17,

H. P., carpenter and farmer 5.
LANDON, AMBROSE, (Harpersville,)

laborer.

Landon, Fennetta Mrs., (Harpersville,) lot
20, Ham. P.. farmer 86.

Lason, James W., (West Colesville,) lot 45,
Ham. P., farmer 185.

Carrington & Porter,
Dealers In first-class Cook and

PftHor Stoves. 1 1nware. *e.
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LAUGHLIN, WILLIAM L., (WestColes

ville,) lot 51, W. P., farmer 186.

Lawton, Erwin, (Nineveh,) harness maker.

LECOUVER, WILLIAM H., (Center Vil

lage,) rents gristmill ofBarnes & Stow.

LEE, EDWARD, (Osborne Hollow,) la

borer.

Lee, John H., (Vallonia Springs,) farmer 7.

Livingston, Isaac R., (Osborne Hollow,)
lot 9, W. P., farmer 100.

Look, Henry, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 9,W.

P., farmer 64.
*

Loope, Altana Mrs., (Harpersville,) lot 11,
H. P., farmer 1.

LORD, ALFRED A., (Harpersville,) boot

and shoe maker.

Lovejoy, Henry F., (Nineveh,) farmer 87.

Lovejoy, Miles, (Harpersville,) lot 93, S. P.,
saw mill and farmer leases of Henry
Pratt, 30.

Lovejoy, Reuben, (Nineveh,) farmer 53.

Lynk, Charles O., (Harpersville,) tele

graph operator. ,

LYON, ABIJAH, (Harpersville,) lot 80, S.

P., farmer 107.

Lyon, George C, (Center Village,) farmer
leases 270.

MAIN, GEORGE, (Nineveh,) carriage

maker.

Manville, Henry, (Belden,) lot 90, S. P.,
saw mill and farmer 100.

Manville, Isaac, (Center Village,) farmer 6.

Manville, Levi, (Harpersville,) lot 3, Ham.

P., saw and planing mills, and farmer

204.

Marble, Mary J. Mrs., (Osborne Hollow,)
lot 21, W. P., farmer 2%.

MARSH, FRANCIS J., (Belden,) lot 89, 8.

P., farmer 50.
Marsh, Osias M., (Harpersville,) lot 12,

Ham. P., farmer 80.

MARSHALL, JAMES M., (CenterVillage,)
carpenter.

MARTIN, HARRY, (CenterVillage,) (H
Martin &, Co.)

MARTIN, H. & CO., (Center Village,)

(Harry Martin and William S. Humas-

lon,) general merchants.

Martin, Lucius E (Harpersville,) lot 12,
Ham. P., farmer 264.

Martin, Warren E., (Harpersville,) farmer
3.

Mason, Alonzo F., (Nineveh,) farmer 106.

Mason, Charles A., (Center Village,) far
mer leases of George Collington. 200.

MASON CHARLES H., (Center Village,)
(with Sarah A.,) farmer 126.

MASON, SARAH A., (Center Village,)
(with C/tarles H.,) farmer 126.

May, William S., (Harpersville,) lot 6,
Ham. P., farmer 90.

McCall, Thomas D., (Nineveh,) prop, of

Nineveh House and farmer \%..

McCuller, James M., (North Colesville.)
house painter.

McCullor, Charles L., (New Ohio,) lot 86,
S. P., farmer 225.

McCumber, Ezra, (West Colesville,) lot 54,
W. P., farmer 12.

Mcintosh, Robert, (Center Village,) far

mer 56.

Merreli, Ransom P., (Belden,) lot 89, S. P.,
farmer 105.

Merrill, Sbubel, (Nineveh,) farmer 95.

Merrills, Horace, (Harpersville,) lot 11, H.
P., farmer 240.

Merrit, Hannah Mrs., (Vallonia Springs,)
farmer 1.

Merritt, Sarah Mrs., heirs of, (Center Vil
lage,) lot 13, farmers 47.

MERWIN, MATSON S., (Harpersville,)
blacksmith and farmer \}.

Miller, Christopher S., (New Ohio,) lot 86,
S. P., farmer 30.

Miller, Harvey, (New Ohio,) lot 86, S. P.,
mason and farmer 1.

MILLER, JACOB, (New Ohio,) lot 91,
S. P., carpenter and joiner, and farmer
45.

Miller, William A., (Harpersville,) lot 23,
Ham. P., farmer 97.

MONROE, GEORGE W., (New Ohio,) ex
press agent and telegraph operator.

MONROE, SAMUEL B., (New Ohio,) lot

92, ticket agent and farmer %%.

MONROE, SAMUEL E., (Harpersville,)
ticket, freight and express agent, and
farmer 20.

Montgomery, Eugene E., (Harpersville,)
lot 85, farmer 48.

Montgomery, Isabell Mrs., (Harpersville,)
milliner.

Montgomery, Medad, (Ouaquaga,) lot 21,
EL P., farmer leases of George M. Doo

little, 143.

Moon, John, (Nineveh,) farmer \)4-

Moore, George T., (Ouaquaga,) lot 46, Ham.

P., farmer 63.

MOOT, JOHN I., (NewOhio,) lot 96, S. P.,
farmer 68.

Moot, John M., (New Ohio,) lot 96, S. P.,
farmer 50.

Moot, Nicholas, (New Ohio,) lot 97, S. P.,
farmer 70.

Moot, Thomas,(Ouaquaga,) lot 54, Ham. P.,
farmer 51.

MORRISON, PETER D., (Center Village,)
lot 18, H. P., farmer 87>^.

MORSE, JEROME J., (Harpersville,) pat

ent right dealer and farmer 31^.

Mott, Warren H., (Ouaquaga,) lot 63, Ham.

P., farmer 35.

Mudge, William L., (Harpersville,) general

insurance agent and farmer 154.

Mull,Abram, (Harpersville,) lot l,Ham. P.,
farmer 80 and (with Sayer Utter,) 120.

Mumford, Orville, (Belden,) lot 95, S. P.,
farmer 160.

Munger, John, (Harpersville,) lot 81, 8. P.,
farmer 65.

MYRICK, HORACE E., (Ouaquaga,) lot 56,
Ham. P., farmer 52.

Nash, William O., (Harpersville,) lot 84,
S. P., farmer 139^.

Neal, William, (Center Village,) farmer 22.

Newell, William, (Harpersville,) lot 24,
Ham. P., farmer 130.

Nineveh House, (Nineveh,) Thomas D.

McCall, prop.

Niven, Daniel, (Nineveh,) general mer

chant.

Noble, Elbon, (Colesville,) lot 30, Ham.

P., farmer 140.

NOBLE, RODERICK J., (West Colesville,)

lot 51, W. P., farmer 50.

NORTHRUP, EDWARD P., (Center Vil

lage,) tannery and farmer 232.

, Northrup, Edwin, (Harpersville,)
farmer 70.

lso Agents for HERRING'S SAFES, BINGHAMTON, N. Y.

advertisement on Man.

See
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Northrup, Lewis, (Center Village,) grist,
saw and lath mills, and farmer 5.

Northrup, Lewis and Edward P., (Center

Village,) farmers 159 and, in Sanford,
317.

Oakley, Isaiah, (West Colesville,) lot 54,
W. P., farmer 50.

O'Brien, Patrick, (Harpersville,) lot 79, S.
P., farmer 75.

ODELL, ENOS H., (Osborne Hollow,) lot
21, W. P., hotel keeper, grocer and

farmer 50.

Olendorf, Henry A., (Harpersville,) general
merchant.

Olmstead, Madison N., (Doraville,) lot 23,
farmer 90.

Osborn, Orris, (Binghamton,) lot 40, W.

P., farmer 75.
Osgood, William, (Center Village,) lot 12,

H. P., farmer 60.
Ostrom, Elijah, (West Colesville,) lot 54,

W. P., farmer 60.
Packard, Larkin D., (Harpersville,) lot 81,

S. P., farmer 40.
Paddleford, Hanford, (North Colesville,)

( Watrous &Paddleford.)
Paddleford, Newel S., (North Colesville,)

lot 82, postmaster and farmer 23.
Pangmon, Daniel, (Center Village,) farmer

Parker, Lydia D. Miss, (Nineveh,) dress
maker.

PARSONS, CHARLES E., (Center Vil

lage,) farmer 1)4.

Parsons, Edward, (Belden,) lot 94, farmer
xjx.

Parsons, Edwin, (West Colesville,) lot 51,
W. P., farmer leases ofWilliamBurton,
Binghamton, 60.

Parsons, Harvey W., (Center Village,) lot
7, farmer 37&.

Parsons, Sylvester, (Center Village,) far
mer 132.

Parsons, Sylvester, (Harpersville,) (Par
sons &, Welton.)

Parsons & Welton, (Harpersville,) (Sylves
ter Parsons aud BrundageH. Welton,)
insurance agents.

PEARSALL, DARIUS W., (Harpersville,)
postmaster, dealer in groceries, boots
and shoes.

Peckham, Joseph, (Center Village,) lot 12,
H. P., farmer 115.

Penny, John, (Doraville,) lot 13, H. P.,
cooper.

Philips, Wilber F., (Harpersville,) lot 14,
Ham. P., farmer 100.

Phillips, John W., (Colesville,) lot 35, Ham.
P., farmer 14>.

Pierce, Curtis, (Doraville,) lot 23, farmer
46.

Pierce, Henry, (West Colesville,) lot 29,
Ham. P., cooper.

PIERCE, ROBERT E., (Doraville,) farmer.
PIKE, GORDON H., (Harpersville,) lot

80, S. P., farmer 26.
Pike, William C, (Harpersville,) lot 79,

farmer leases 50.

Pine, George W., (Ouaquaga,) lot 46, Ham.

P., farmer 63.

PINE, PETER, (Ouaquaga,) lot 63, Ham.

P., blacksmith and farmer 63.

Poole, Samuel J., (Center Village,) farmer
112.

PORTER, MARVIN B., (Center Village,)
laborer.

Porter, Sibel Mrs.. (Center Village,) lot 11,
H. P., farmer 45.

Pratt, EleanorMrs., (North Colesville,) lot

82, farmer 3.

PRATT, GEORGE H., (Harpersville,) lot

1, farmer 60.

Pratt, Hannah Mrs., (Harpersville,) lot 93,
"fftniTif1!* 29

Pratt, Levi, (Belden,) lot 89, S. P., fanner
28.

Pratt, Samuel, (Harpersville,) lot 94, 8. P.,
farmer 75.

PRENTICE, JAMES, (West Colesville,)
lot 34, W. P., farmer 1063$.

Puffer. Smith C, (Harpersville,) black

smith.

Pulver, Nelson, (New Ohio,) lot 92, S. P.,
farmer 83%.

Putman, David, (Doraville,) farmer 27.
Quin, Thomas, (Port Crane,) lot 3, W. P.,

farmer 100.

Randal, Norman S., (Binghamton,) lot 50,
W. P., farmer 80.

Randall, Augustus B., (North Colesville,)
shoemaker.

Randall, James, (West Colesville,) lot 54,
W. P., farmer 137.

Rector, William H., (CenterVillage,) far
mer 50.

Reynolds, Augustus, (Osborne Hollow,) lot
25, W. P., farmer 110.

Reynolds, Austin, (Osborne Hollow,) lot
24, W. P., farmer 104.

REYNOLDS, CORNELIUS, (OsborneHol
low,) lot 32, W. P., ticket, freight and
express agent, and farmer 106.

Reynolds, Ira, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 26,
W. P., farmer 126.

Richards, Charles M., (Harpersville,) (C.

M. & G. Richards.)
Richards, C. M. & G., (Harpersville,)

(Charles M. and George,) furnace and
machine shop, and farmers 14.

Richards, George, (Harpersville,) (CM. &
G. Richards.)

Riley, Robert, (New Ohio,) lot 92, 8. P.,
general merchant, farmer land, in Che
nango, 130.

ROACH, JEREMIAH Jr., (West Coles

ville,) lot 36, W. P., farmer 48.

Robinson, David, (Center Village,) farmer
66.

Robinson, George, (Vallonia Springs,)
blacksmith and farmer 85.

Robinson, Lewis, (Belden,) lot 95, S. P.,
farmer 100.

Ross, Andrew, (West Colesville,) lot 51,
W. P., farmer 43.

Rounk, George, (Port Crane,) lot 3, W.

P., farmer 150.

Rowe, Deloss, (Vallonia Springs,) farmer
100.

ROWE, SEYMOUR, (Center Village,) far
mer 33.

Ruggles, Alva, (West Colesville,) lot 33,
Ham. P., farmer 30.

Russell, Eunice A. Mrs., (Osborne Hol

low,) lot 21, W. P., farmer 53%.

Russell, Ira, (West Colesville,) lot 43, W.

P., farmer 45.

Russell, John, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 21,
W. P., farmer 2%.
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Sabin, Isaac E.. (Vallonia Springs,) farmer
leases of William C. Poyer, Bingham
ton, 200.

Bandell, James, (Harpersville,) lot 89, S.
P., farmer 40.

Sanders, Shepard L., (Vallonia Springs,)
farmer 33.

SANDS, ANDREW J., (Vallonia Springs,)
prop. Vallonia Springs House, physi
cian, postmaster and farmer 24.

Sawtelle, William H. Rev., (Nineveh,)
pastor of Presbyterian Church.

Schouten, William 2d, (Harpersville,) lot

94, S. P., farmer 50.
Schnghten, William, (Harpersville,) lot 88,

S. P., farmer 86.

Scudder, Aaron, (West Colesville,) lot 33,
Ham. P., cooper and farmer 20.

Scudder, Corbin A., (Osborne Hollow,) lot
17, Ham. P., farmer 95.

Searles, Emily M.Mrs., (CenterVillage,)
lot 10, farmer 75.

Searles, Harry G., (Afton, Chenango Co.,)
farmer 100.

Seward, Chloe Mrs., (Vallonia Springs,)
farmer 96.

Seward, Daniel S., (Center Village,) black
smith, farmer 80 and, in Sanford, 40.

Seward, Henry D., (Doraville,) lot 24, H.
P., farmer 61.

Seward, Levi, (Vallonia Springs,) farmer
250.

Shay, William, (Belden,) lot 99, S. P., far
mer 90.

Shepard, Charles D. Rev., (Harpersville,)
pastor ofM. E. Church.

Shores, Alanson F., (North Colesville,)
cooper.

?

SKINNER, CARLTON J., (Center Vil

lage,) farm laborer.
Skinner, Stanley J., (Center Village,) far

mer 160.

SMITH, CARLOW K., (Doraville,) farmer
250.

Smith, Emily Mrs., (Nineveh,) lot 13, far
mer 100.

Smith, Harvey, (Nineveh,) farmer 125.
SMITH, HIRAM, (West Colesville,) lot 41,

W. P., farmer 84.
Smith, Howard Z., (Doraville,) farmer.
Smith, Martha Mrs., (Doraville,) lot 23,

farmer 34%.

Smith, Nathan, (Center Village,) farmer 9.
SMITH, NATHANIEL, (Nineveh,) car

riage ironer, blacksmith and farmer 3.

Smith, Robert W., (Doraville,) lot 18, H.
P., farmer 87.

Snitchler, William, (Doraville,) lot 24, far
mer leases 61.

Snyder, Solomon, (Belden,) lot 99, S. P.,
farmer 1.

SORNBORGER, EDWARD M (Osborne

Hollow,) (Cass & Sornborger,) farmer
130.

SONBORGER, SIDNEY, (Harpersville,)
farmer 63.

Soule, Charles, (Ouaquaga,) rents grist

mill of Peter.

SPENCER, AMBROSE, (Afton, Chenango
Co.,) farmer 80.

Spencer, Benjamin F., (New Ohio,) lot 86,
farmer 100.

Spencer, Hiram E., (Center Village,) black
smith.

Spencer Nelson H., (New Ohio,) lot 91, S.
P., farmer 110.

SPRINGSTEEN, GEORGE R.,(Doraville,)
lot 8, H. P., farmer 118 and, in Wind
sor, 110.

SQUIRE, DANIELW., (Ouaquaga,) lot 22,
H. P farmer inWindsor, 100 and leas
es of Mrs. 8. E. Whitney, Binghamton,
550.

STAATS, ROENA Mrs., (Harpersville,)
farmer 1.

Stephens, David L., (Harpersville,) lot 89,
S. P., farmer 180.

Stephens, Marcus, (Ouaquaga,) lot 58, Ham.
P., farmer 83.

Stephens, Peter, estate of, (Harpersville,)
lot 83,8. P., 135 acres.

Stephens, Willard, (Ouaquaga,) carpenter.
Stephens, Wm., (Ouaquaga,) carpenter.
STEVENS, CHARLES P?, (Harpersville,)

carpenter and joiner.

STEVENS, REUBEN Rev., (Ouaquaga.)
lot 62, Ham. P., pastor M. E. Church
and farmer 53.

Stilson, Avery, (Center Village,) lot 20, H.
P., farmer 32%.

Stow, Levi, (Ouaquaga,) lot 21, H. P., Tar
mer 23 and, inWindsor, 25.

Stow, Robert, (Harpersville,) druggist and
grocer.

Stringham, Charles H., (Doraville,) (with
John W.,) lot 23, H. P., farmer 240.

STRINGHAM, JAMES W., (Doraville,) lot
23. H. P., farmer 131.

Stringham, John W., (Doraville,) (with
Chas. H.,) lot 23, H. P., farmer 240.

STRINGHAM, WALTER, (Ouaquaga,) lot
16, H. P., farmer 70.

Swagart, Richard C. (Ouaquaga,) lot 64,
Ham. P., farmer 30.

Taggart, Calvin R., (Center Village,) lot 10,
farmer 70.

Teller, Jacob, (Center Village,) lot 17, H.
P., farmer 40.

Terry, John O. Jr., (Vallonia Springs,) far
mer 58.

Thompson, Curtis, estate of, (Harpersville,)
lot 88, S. P., 73 acres.

THOMPSON & HARE, (Harpersville,)
(John G. Thompson and Charles W.

Hare,) harness makers.
Thompson, John, (Belden,) lot 94, S. P.,

farmer 70.

THOMPSON, JOHN G., (Harpersville,)
(Thompson & Hare.)

Thompson, Sylvester, (Harpersville,) lot

94, 8. P., farmer 46.
Thorn, James W., (Center Village,) lot 20,

H. P., farmer 97>tf.
Throop, Benjamin, (Center Village,) far

mer 71.

THROOP, BENJAMIN F., (Center Vil

lage,) laborer.

THROOP, JOSEPH D., (Doraville,) lot 18,
H. P., farmer 47.

Throop, Josiah, (Center Village,) farmer

254.

Thurber, Ansel M., (West Colesville,) lot

42, Ham. P., saw mill and farmer 95.

THURBER, EGBERT A., (West Coles

ville,) lot 36vW. P., farmer 50.

Thurber, Jeremiah, (Binghamton,) lot 50,
W. P., farmer 63.
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TICE & WEEKS, (Center Village,) (Wil

liam Tice and Solomon Weeks,) general

TICE. WILLIAM, (Center Village,) (Tice
& Weeks.) postmaster.

Tompkins, George M., (Doraville,) jeweler
and grocer.

Topping, John, (Harpersville,) merchant
tailor.

Truesdale, Elisha, (Harpersville,) lot 15,
Ham. P., farmer 100.

TRUESDELL, HARVEY, (Harpersville,)
lot 93, S. P., brick maker and farmer SO.

TRUESDELL, JOHN, (Harpersville,) lot
80, S. P., saw mill and farmer 130.

Truesdell, Robert, (Belden,) lot 99, S. P.,
farmer 60.

TRUESDELL, WILLARD B., (Harpers-

ville,> lot 80, S. P., farmer 78.
TUBBS, ANNAMrs., (widow,) (Nineveh,)

resident.

Turner, James J., (Harpersville,) lot 16, H.
P., farmer 10.

Tylor, Joseph, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 15,
W. P., farmer 24.

TYRRELL, BARTHOLOMEW, (Harpers

ville,) lot 93, S. P., farmer 97%.
TYRRELL, HIRAM E., (Harpersville,)

general coal agent and farmer 13.

Tyrrell, Leroy A., (Harpersville,) lot 20,
Ham. P., farmer 90.

TYRRELL, LEWIS H., (Ouaquaga,) lot
21, E. P., farmer 140.

Tyrrell, Milton, (West Colesville,) lot 33,
Ham. P., farmer 69.

Underwood, Isaac E., (Harpersville,) lot 16,
H. P., farmer 50.

Utter, Henry, (Harpersville,) lot 39, Ham.
P., farmer 80.

UTTER, SAMUEL, (Harpersville,) lot 11,
Ham. P., farmer 125.

Utter, Sayer, (Harpersville,) lotl, Ham. P.,
(with Abram Mull,) farmer 120.

Utter, Stephen, (Belden,) lot 99, 8. P., far
mer 126.

UTTER, STEPHEN D., (Harpersville,) lot

39, Ham. P., cooper and farmer 2.
Utter, William, (New Ohio,) lot 91, S. P.,

grocer, farmer 48 and, in Sanford. 106.

VALLONIA SPRINGS HOUSE, (Vallonia

Springs,) Andrew J. Sands, prop.
Vancott, John, (Harpersville,) lot 88, S. P.,

farmer 75.

Vanderburgh, Clarence F., (CenterVillage,)
farmer 113.

Vaness, John W., (Center Village,) D. 10,
ffl.riD6r 1.68.868 102

VANNESS, RANSLER, (Belden,) lot 94, S.
P., farmer 110.

VANZILE, GEORGE A., (Osborne Hol

low,) lot 21, W. P., steam sawmill, lath,
feed and corn mills, and farmer 3.

Viney, John, (Harpersville,) manuf. of

cigars.

VOSBURY, HENRY O., (Doraville,) car

penter andjoiner, and farmer 1%.

VOSBURY, LUCY M. Mrs., (Doraville,)
lot 23, H. P., farmer 90.

Wakeman, John S., (Harpersville,) lot 93,
S. P., farmer 44.

WALDORF, NICHOLAS, (New Ohio,) lot

91, S. P., farmer 53.

WALLACE, NATHANIEL 8., (Belden,) lot

89, grocer, post master and farmer 1.

Wallace, Reuben, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 32,
W. P., farmer 25.

Walling, A. Judson, (New Ohio,) lot 91, S.

P., farmer 100.

Waltrues, Selden, (Ouaquaga,) carriage

Warner. John, (North Colesville,) lot 83, 8.

P., farmer 188 and, in Fenton, 166.

Warner, Noel, (Osborne Hollow,) lot 4, W.

P., farmer 60.

Wasson, Stephen, (Center Village,) farmer
132.

Waterman, Lyman, (Belden,) lot 2, Ham. P.,
farmer 75.

Watrous, Dewitt, (North Colesville.) lot

82, S. P., farmer 156.
Watrous, Eli E., (Ouaquaga,) blacksmith.

Watrous, Hubert, (North Colesville,) ( Wat

rous & Paddleford.)
Watrous, John W., (North Colesville,) lot

82, grocer, farmer 450 and, in Fenton,
310.

Watrous, Lyman, (North Colesville,) lot 82,
farmer 40.

Watrous & Paddleford, (North Colesville.)
(Hubert Watrous and Hanford Paddle

ford,) saw mill.
'

WATROUS, WILLIAM, (Ouaquaga,) lot
16, H. P., cooper and farmer 50.

Watrouse, Nelson, (North Colesville,) lot

83, S. P., farmer 180.

WAY, LORENZO E., (Harpersville,) lot
83, S. P., farmer 125.

Wayman, Ambrose, (Osborne Hollow,) lot
5, W. P., farmer 25.

Webster, Alva, (New Ohio,) lot 86, S. P.,
farmer 50.

Webster, Henry J.,
(Belden,)'

lot 89, S. P.,
carpenter and farmer 11.

Wedg, Amos, (Colesville,) lot 35, Ham. P.,
farmer 214.

Wedg, Joseph, (Colesville,) lot 27, Ham.
P., farmer 82^.

Wedge, Alanson, (Vallonia Springs,) far
mer 64.

WEDGE, EDGAR P., (Harpersville,) lot
88, S. P., farmer 136.

Weed, Orin, (Osborne Hollow,) grocer.
Weeks, Lucius G., (Harpersville,) carpen

ter and farmer 2.

WEEKS, SOLOMON, (Center Village,)
(Tice & Weeks,) farmer 1%.

Welton, Brundage H., (Harpersville,)
(Parsons & Welton.)

Welton, Emeline E. Miss, (Doraville,) lot
1, H. P., farmer 1J^.

Welton, George W., (Ouaquaga,) lot 16, H.
P., cooper and farmer 5.

Welton, Joel S., (Harpersville,) lot 16, H.
P., mason and farmer 25.

Welton, SusanMrs., (CenterVillage,) far
mer 53.

-

Wenn, Almond, (West Colesville,) lot 33,
W. P., farmer 50.

WEST, PHILO, (Harpersville,) lot 31,Ham.
P., farmer 80.

West, Phcebe Mrs., (West Colesville,) lot
43, W. P., farmer leases of George

Wilcox, Binghamton, 50.
Whitaker, Clark, estate of, (Belden,) lot

89, S. P., 86 acres.

Whitaker, John, (Belden,) lot 86, S. P.,
farmer 43.


